If you have issues viewing or accessing this file contact us at NCJRS.gov.



108790

Is Crime Predictable?

: 👅

16

1

ा ।

A Test of Methodology for Forecasting Criminal Offenses

July 1987

by Carolyn Rebecca Block, Senior Research Analyst Sheryl L. Knight, Research Analyst Statistical Analysis Center

Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

William Gould, Chairman J. David Coldren, Executive Director Uncertainty is much more comfortable when one is certain of it.

-

Ä.

-- Gerry Homan Senior Policy and Planning Analyst Correctional Service of Canada

Acknowledgments

The Predictability of Crime Project involved the participation of a number of people at the Authority over several years. Roy Jung, an intern in the Statistical Analysis Center (SAC), organized the data and carried out the initial analysis and tentative model identification for each time series. Kenneth Grant, a SAC analyst, was responsible for the analysis that is summarized in Appendix 2. The final report benefits from the com/nents and suggestions of many Authority staff members, especially Christine A. Devitt and Louise S. Miller. The report was edited by Margaret J. Poethig.

Χ.,

4

Table of Contents

제품 물건 물건 물건 물건 물건을 하는 것 같아요. 이 물건을 가지 않는 것이 많이 많이 있는 것이 없다.	
Figures	ix
Tables	xi
Executive Summary Is Crime Predictable? An Application: The Chicago Intervention Analysis .	 1 1 5
Introduction Predictive Accuracy, by Crime Type and Jurisdiction Methodological Goals of the Predictability Project Times Series Data Quality Assessment Predictive Modeling Methods Resources Necessary for Prediction Time Series Intervention Analysis	9 9 10 11 11 12 12
Project Design and Methods Sample Analysis Method for Each Series Time Series Pattern Description Description of Seasonality Model Identification Analysis of Predictive Accuracy 1984 Predictions Method of Measuring Predictive Accuracy Method of Choosing the Best ARIMA Model An Overview of ARIMA Criteria for ARIMA Model Identification Chicago Intervention Analysis Method	15 15 18 18 19 20 21 21 22 23 23 24
Patterns of Change Over Time Time Series Pattern Description. Descriptive Seasonal Analysis Index Robbery Index Aggravated Assault Index Burglary Index Larceny/Theft Summary Discussion	35 36 37
Is Crime Predictable?	39 39 53 63 78

Predictability by Jurisdiction.	89
Arlington Heights	89
Aurora	
Cicero Decatur Des Plaines.	90
Decatur.	92
Des Plaines.	
Elgin	93
Evanston	94
Joliet	
Peoria	
Quincy	
Rock Island	
Rockford	
Skokie	
Springfield	
Summary: Predictability by Jurisdiction	
Summary and Discussion.	
Methodological Goals	
Predictive Accuracy,	
Chicago Intervention Analysis	
Statistical Evidence of Intervention.	
Predictive Accuracy	
Evidence of a Change in the Model.	
Serendipitous Intervention Findings versus a Time Ser	
Index Robbery	
Index Firearm Robbery	
Index Knife Robbery.	
Index Robbery with Another Weapon	
Index Strongarm Robbery	
Index Aggravated Assault	
Index Firearm Assault	
Index Knife Assault	
Index Assault with Another Weapon	
Index Assault with the Body as a Weapon	
Summary and Discussion.	
Index Robbery	
Index Aggravated Assault	
Methods of Times Series Intervention Analysis	
Estimated Actual Change in Robbery and Assault	
Appendices	
Appendix 1: Technical Methods	
Appendix 2: Comparison of ARIMA Programs	
Appendix 3: Best ARIMA Models by Jurisdiction	
Appendix 3: Best ARIMA Models by Jurisdiction Appendix 4: Imputation of Data in the Uniform Crime F	Reports
Appendix 4: Imputation of Data in the Uniform Crime F	Reports 159
Appendix 3: Best ARIMA Models by Jurisdiction Appendix 4: Imputation of Data in the Uniform Crime F Bibliography	Reports 159

Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

Page vili

Figures

Figure 1.	Predictions for Arlington Heights Index Larceny/Theft, 1978-1984	. 3
Figure 2.	Predictions for Elgin Index Burglary, 1978-1984	. 3
Figure 3.	Predictions for Evanston Index Aggravated Assault, 1978-1984	. 4
Figure 4.	Predictions for Peoria Index Robbery, 1978-1984	. 4
Figure 5.	Predictions for Chicago Index Firearm Robbery, 1980-1983.	. 7
Figure 6.	Predictions for Chicago Index Knife Robbery, 1980-1983	
Figure 7.	Patterns of Change Over Time in Rock Island Index Burglary, 1972-1983.	
Figure 8.	Patterns of Change Over Time in Chicago Index Firearm Robbery, 1974-1983.	
Figure 9.	Patterns of Change Over Time in Cicero Index Burglary, 1972-1983	
Figure 10.	Patterns of Change Over Time in Elgin Index Robbery, 1972-1983	
Figure 11.	Patterns of Change Over Time In Cicero Index Larceny/Theft, 1972-1983	
Figure 12.	Patterns of Change Over Time in Evanston Index Burglary, 1972-1983	
Figure 13.	Patterns of Change Over Time in Decatur Index Robbery, 1972-1983	
Figure 14.	Patterns of Change Over Time in Rock Island Index Robbery, 1972-1983	
Figure 15.	Patterns of Change Over Time in Peoria Index Robbery, 1972-1983	
Figure 16.	Patterns of Change Over Time in Illinois (non-Chicago) Index Firearm Robbery,	
	1975-1983.	. 46
Figure 17.	Patterns of Change Over Time in Joliet Index Robbery, 1972-1983	
Figure 18.	Patterns of Change Over Time in Illinois (non-Chicago) Index Aggravated	,
rigaro ro.	Assault with Hands, Feet, etc., 1974-1983	. 57
Figure 19.	Patterns of Change Over Time in Cicero Index Aggravated Assault, 1972-1983.	
Figure 20.	Patterns of Change Over Time in Aurora Index Burglary, 1972-1983	
Figure 21.	Patterns of Change Over Time in Elgin Index Burglary, 1972-1983	
Figure 22.		
-	Patterns of Change Over Time in Joliet Index Burglary, 1972–1983	
Figure 23.	Patterns of Change Over Time In Quincy Index Burglary, 1972-1983	
Figure 24a		. 70
Figure 24b	Patterns of Change Over Time in Rockford Index Burglary, 1972-1983	30
	(Seasonally Adjusted)	. 70
Figure 25.	Patterns of Change Over Time in Skokie Index Burglary, 1972-1983	
Figure 26.	Patterns of Change Over Time in Aurora Index Larceny/Theft, 1972-1983.	
Figure 27.	Patterns of Change Over Time in Des Plaines Index Larceny/Theft, 1972-1983 .	
Figure 28.	Patterns of Change Over Time in Elgin Index Larceny/Theft, 1972-1983	
Figure 29.	Patterns of Change Over Time in Rockford Index Larceny/Theft, 1972-1983	. 82
Figure 30.	Patterns of Change Over Time In Arlington Heights Index Larceny/Theft,	
	1972-1983	
Figure 31.	Patterns of Change Over Time In Cicero Index Robbery, 1972-1983	. 91
Figure 32.	Patterns of Change Over Time in Decatur Index Aggravated Assault,	
	1972-1983	. 95
Figure 33.	Patterns of Change Over Time in Joliet Index Aggravated Assault,	
	1972-1983	. 95
Figure 34.	Patterns of Change Over Time in Joliet Index Larceny/Theft, 1972-1983	. 96
Figure 35.	Patterns of Change Over Time in Peoria Index Larceny/Theft, 1972-1983	. 96
Figure 36.	Patterns of Change Over Time in Peoria Index Burglary, 1972-1983	. 98
Figure 37.	Patterns of Change Over Time in Peoria Index Aggravated Assault,	
	1972-1983	. 98
Figure 38.	Patterns of Change Over Time in Rock Island Index Aggravated Assault,	1. 1910 - 1913
	1972-1983	. 100

		이 같은 것 같은	
Figure	39.	Patterns of Change Over Time in Rock Island Index Larceny/Theft,	
Cimuna	10		100
Figure		Patterns of Change Over Time in Springfield Index Robbery, 1972-1983	103
Figure		Patterns of Change Over Time in Springfield Index Burglary, 1972-1983	103
Figure	42a.	Patterns of Change Over Time in Springfield Index Larceny/Theft,	
		1972-1983	104
Figure	425.	Patterns of Change Over Time In Springfield Index Larceny/Theft, 1972-1983	
ale de la		(Seasonally Adjusted)	104
Figure		Patterns of Change Over Time in Chicago Index Knife Robbery, 1974-1983	121
Figure	44.	Patterns of Change Over Time in Illinois (non-Chicago) Index	
		Knife Robbery, 1975-1983	121
Figure	45.	Patterns of Change Over Time in Chicago Index Other-Weapon Robbery,	
		1974–1983	123
Figure	46.	Patterns of Change Over Time in Illinois (non-Chicago) Index Other-Weapon	
		Robbery, 1975-1983	123
Figure	47.	Patterns of Change Over Time in Chicago Index Strongarm Robbery,	
		1974-1983	125
Figure	48.	Patterns of Change Over Time in Illinois (non-Chicago) Index Strongarm	
		Robbery, 1975-1983	125
Figure	49.	Patterns of Change Over Time in Chicago Index Aggravated Assault with	2
		a Firearm, 1974-1983	128
Figure	50.	Patterns of Change Over Time in Illinois (non-Chicago) Index Aggravated	
. .		Assault with a Firearm, 1974-1983	128
Figure	51a.	Patterns of Change Over Time in Chicago Index Aggravated Assault with	
			130
Figure	51b	Patterns of Change Over Time in Chicago Index Aggravated Assault with	
1.34	÷ 12.		130
Figure	52	Patterns of Change Over Time in Illinois (non-Chicago) Index Aggravated	
i igui c	V.L.	Assault with a Knife, 1974–1983	132
Figure	60	Patterns of Change Over Time in Chicago Index Aggravated Assault with	102
rigure	00.	Another Weapon, 1974–1983	132
El any se a	5 A		152
Figure	34.	Patterns of Change Over Time in Illinois (non-Chicago) Index Aggravated	105
		Assault with Another Weapon, 1974-1983.	135
Figure	55.	Patterns of Change Over Time in Chicago Index Aggravated Assault with Hands,	105
		Feet, etc., 1974-1983	135

-

T

Tables

Table A.	Population Characteristics of Jurisdictions in the Sample, 198	0			• •		• •		•			16
Table B.	Index Crime Characteristics of Jurisdictions in the Sample	: ••••		•			• •			: • •	•	17
Table C.	Index Robbery Seasonality Analysis: 1972-1983	•		•	· ·	•		•	• :	• •	•	33
Table D.	Index Aggravated Assault Seasonality Analysis: 1972-1983.		÷ +		•		• •		•			34
Table E.	Index Burglary Seasonality Analysis: 1972-1983		• . •			· .	•••	. • .				35
Table F.	Index Larceny/Theft Seasonality Analysis: 1972-1983			•		•.			•			36
Table G.	Percent Error of Predictions: Robbery	• -		· • •	•		•	•				42
Table H.	Index Robbery ARIMA Models: 1972-1983	•	•••	• • • •		. •	•	•			•	50
Table I.	Percent Error of Predictions: Aggravated Assault	•	• •	•	• •	٠		÷			•.	55
Table J.	Index Aggravated Assault ARIMA Models: 1972-1983	•	• •			• .	•••		•		•,	60
Table K.	Percent Error of Predictions: Burglary	• .	• •	• : •	•	•	•	•	•		•	65
Table L.	Index Burglary ARIMA Models: 1972-1983	•			• •	•		•	•	• •	•	72
Table M.	Percent Error of Predictions: Larceny/Theft			•		•		•	•			79
Table N.	Index Larceny/Theft ARIMA Models: 1972-1983		, · .	•		• .				 	•	84
Table O.	Chicago Intervention Analysis: Index Robbery, By Weapon	•		• •		•		•	•	• • •		119
Table P.	Chicago Intervention Analysis: Index Aggravated Assault, By 1	We	ap	on.	•••	•						127

Executive Summary

Although law enforcement jurisdictions have numerous functions, one of the most important is to respond to crimes that become known to them through citizen reports or through their own investigation. Because these "offenses known to the police" constitute a demand for law enforcement resources, it would be useful to predict the degree of this demand in the future. There have been studies that attempted to model and predict the number of criminal offenses in the nation or by region, but when the Predictability of Crime Project began there was no systematic analysis of the degree to which crime is predictable for specific crime types and specific jurisdictions, nor an analysis of the best methods to use to predict crime. The Predictability Project was designed to address these questions.

The Predictability Project was composed of two parts. In the first part, the question "Is crime predictable?" for individual jurisdictions and for four types of crime was explored. In the second part of the study, the results of the first part were used to analyze the effect of a 1983 change in the administration of recordkeeping in Chicago on the number of officially recorded robberies and aggravated assaults.

Is Crime Predictable?

The primary purpose of the first part of the study was to discover whether it is possible to predict, one month ahead or one year ahead, the number of Index robberies, aggravated as-saults, burglaries, or larceny/thefts known to the police in specific law enforcement jurisdic-tions in Illinois. Since the same statistical methods that generate accurate forecasts for other kinds of data may not generate as accurate predictions for crime data, a second purpose was to determine whether or not a standard method of forecasting (called ARIMA) could be successfully applied to local-level criminal justice data.

To test the effectiveness of ARIMA projection methods with crime data, the project analyzed the statistical adequacy of the models and the degree to which each model accurately predicted the number of crimes in each jurisdiction. This was done over a three-year period, from 1981 through 1983. ARIMA was used to model the pattern of monthly index robberies, aggravated assaults, burglaries, and larceny/thefts known to the police in each of 14 selected illinois jurisdictions. With these models, the project predicted the number of crimes known to the police in each month of 1982 and 1983,¹ and compared these predictions with the crime figures reported by the jurisdictions during those months. This way, the degree of accuracy of the predictions from jurisdiction to jurisdiction and crime type to crime type could be analyzed.

Thus, the first part of the project was designed to answer two questions, the substantive guestion, "Is crime predictable?" and the methodological question, "What is the best method to use to predict crimes known to the police? In addition, three goals of the project were:

1) to determine if the quality of available data is sufficient to conduct monthly time series analysis for the selected jurisdictions and crimes,

¹In cases where a serendipitous intervention, an unpredicted sharp change in the level of crime, was suspected, predictions were calculated for 1981, and sometimes for 1980 as well.

Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

Page 1

- 2) to determine whether the types of statistical models commonly used for other kinds of data can be used for crime data, and
- to evaluate the resources required for accurate predictions of local-level offenses and to weigh the costs against the benefits of such predictions to local law enforcement agencies.

The most important results of this part of the Predictability Project were the following:

- Using a standard time series analysis methodology, it was possible to predict the number of criminal offenses in some jurisdictions, and for some crime types. However, crime was much more predictable in certain jurisdictions than in others, regardless of the type of crime.
- The analysis required for accurate predictions is difficult and time-consuming. The identification of a statistical model that will generate accurate predictions for a particular set of data is neither an automatic nor a particularly objective process, but requires an expert who has had extensive experience in model identification.
- Serendipitous interventions, or unexpected sharp increases or decreases in the level of crime, occurred repeatedly. In a few jurisdictions, such an intervention occurred for every type of crime analyzed; in burglary, the majority of jurisdictions had a serendipitous intervention. The presence of serendipitous interventions challenges the assumption that officially recorded crime patterns can be analyzed over time within a jurisdiction. Analysis should not assume that an increase or decrease in offenses known to the police always reflect a change in the actual number of crimes.

- The analysis indicated that the degree of predictability may be related to the quality of data collection and recordkeeping. In certain jurisdictions, predictive accuracy was usually good for every type of crime, while in other jurisdictions, predictive accuracy was usually poor for every type of crime. Moreover, some jurisdictions experienced a sudden improvement in predictive accuracy that coincided with a serendipitous intervention.
- Index larceny/theft was, by far, the most predictable type of crime examined. The number of offenses was predicted within 10 percent for at least one year in 11 cities, and in four cities both 1982 and 1983 were predicted within 10 percent. For example, the model for Arlington Heights larceny/theft (see Figure 1) predicted 1982 within 1 percent and 1983 within 3 percent, using the intervention prediction method.²
- Of the 14 cities in which Index burglary was analyzed, only three models generated successful predictions, two jurisdictions could not be successfully modeled at all, and in the remaining nine the analysis discovered a serendipitous intervention. In Eigin (see Figure 2), predictions for index burglary were relatively accurate for both the total year (within 1 percent) and the average month (within 15 percent) in 1982, but the 1983 prediction was 10 percent too high, using the intervention prediction method.

²Two prediction methods were used in this study: the year-ahead method and the intervention method. The purpose of each of these methods is described in this report.



Actual Versus Predicted Monthly Totals

Figure 1. Predictions for Arlington Heights Index Larceny/Theft, 1978-1984

6.1

Honths, January 1978 through December 1984 Source: Illinois Criminal Austice Information Authority Version of I-UCR Data ŝ





Source: Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority Version of I-UCA Data

Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

32

and a second state of the second second



Ľ,

Figure 3. Predictions for Evanston Index Aggravated Assault, 1978-1984

ĥ

Source: Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority Version of I-UCA Data





- The predictive accuracy for Index aggravated assault ranged from very accurate to completely unpredictable, depending on the jurisdiction. In Evanston (see Figure 3), the predictions for 1982 and 1983 were within 2 percent (intervention method). The average monthly predictions were 27 percent and 21 percent inaccurate.
- Overall, predictability for Index robbery was more successful in jurisdictions with more robberies per month. However, jurisdictions with fewer than 30 but more than 10 robberies per month could often meet the total year predictability criterion, if not the criterion for the average month.³ Peoria (see Figure 4), for example, had more robbery offenses per month than any other jurisdiction, and it was the only jurisdiction in which both the monthly and yearly accuracy criteria were met for two years for index robbery. Robbery offenses in Peoria dropped in 1983, relative to previous years. 1982 was predicted within 1 percent and 1981 within 10 percent. Because the 1983 prediction was 56 percent too high, and the prediction for the average 1983 month was 69 percent wrong, we suspected a serendipitous intervention had occurred in Peoria in 1983.
- In all 14 jurisdictions, there was some consistency from jurisdiction to jurisdiction in the best-fitting type of ARIMA model for a certain type of crime. This information may make model identification in the future somewhat easier than it was in this project.
- Similarly, the seasonal patterns identified by the project showed some consistency. For example, in Index robbery, the degree of seasonality seemed to be related to the number of offenses in the average month. Index larceny/theft was strongly seasonal in every jurisdiction analyzed.

An Application: The Chicago Intervention Analysis

The primary purpose of the second part of the Predictability Project, the Chicago Intervention Analysis, was to demonstrate the utility of the prediction methods that had been explored in the first part of the project. One of the most important practical applications of time series analysis is to determine whether or not a change occurred in a time series. For example, a police department might want to know if a burglary prevention program had any effect on the number of burglaries. An intervention analysis of the number of burglaries known to the police before and after the program began might give some indication of its success. The Chicago Intervention Analysis was conducted for Chicago Index robbery and aggravated assault, by weapon type.

In addition to demonstrating time series methods with the Chicago Intervention Analysis, we attempted to answer two practical questions:

 Did the change in data collection and recording practices in Chicago in 1983 affect the number of crimes officially recorded, or were the changes in the number of crimes due to actual increases in crimes known to the police? and

³The criteria used to determine predictive accuracy in this project were accuracy within 30 percent for the average month predictions, and accuracy within 20 percent for the total year predictions (year -ahead method). If an ARIMA model did not meet these criteria for at least two years, it was rejected and the analysis continued to test other alternative ARIMA models. In some cases, however, no model could meet these generous criteria. For details, see "Project Design and Methods."

2) How much of the increase in the number of each type of recorded crime was due to recordkeeping, and how much to actual changes in crime occurrences?

.

The most important results of this part of the Predictability Project were the following:

- The amount of increase in Index robbery, due to the changes in data recording, depended on the seriousness of the offense. The number of firearm robberies did not change at all, the number of knife robberies increased about 10 percent, the number of other-weapon robberies increased about 20 percent, and the number of strongarm robberies increased about 40 percent.
- Since firearm robbery is a serious crime, it always had been accurately and completely recorded, even before the administrative changes in recording practices. As can be seen in Figure 5, the number of Chicago firearm robberies did not change in 1983. The predictive accuracy of firearm robbery in Chicago in 1983 was better than the accuracy in 1981 or 1982. Also, the predictive accuracy in Chicago in 1983 was better than the accuracy in to-tal Illinois (non-Chicago) in 1983.⁴ Thus, the reform in Chicago data recording practices had no effect on the number of firearm robbery offenses in official records.
- There were indications that the level of Chicago knife robbery offenses changed in 1983 (see Figure 6). The prediction for every month from May through December 1983 was too low, by an average of 26 percent. In contrast, there was no change in the number of knife robberies in total Illinois (non-Chicago) in 1983. Therefore, the number of officially recorded index knife robbery offenses in 1983 in Chicago was apparently affected by the change in recording practices.
- The number of Index aggravated assaults in Chicago generally increased more, due to the change in recording practices, than the number of Index robberies. Firearm assaults increased about 20 percent, knife assaults increased about 40 percent, and other-weapon assaults increased about 30 percent.
- There is some indication that the number of Index assaults with the body as a weapon (for example, a karate attack) was underrecorded both before and after the change in recording practices.
- There was a serendipitous intervention--a precipitous decline--in the number of knife assaults and other-weapon assaults in Chicago that occurred early in 1981, and this unusually low level continued through most of 1982.
- The time series experiment design of the Chicago Intervention Analysis produced estimates of the amount of 1982-1983 change in officially recorded Chicago robbery and aggravated assault that was due to the changes in crime recording practices. From this, we can estimate the amount of change, for each type of crime, that was due to an actual change in crime, as reflected in crimes known to the police. The analysis estimated that, while some types of crime (firearm robbery, knife robbery, and other-weapon assault) did increase, some (other-weapon robbery and body-as-weapon assault) stayed the same, and others (strongarm robbery, firearm assault, and knife assault) actually declined.

⁴The aggregate total of offenses in Illinois, excluding Chicago, was used as a control group for the analysis of change in the level of offenses in Chicago.



Figure 5. Predictions for Chicago Index Firearm Robbery, 1980-1983

1

Months 1/1980-12/1983 (Index Robbery includes Attempts.) Source: ICJIA version of Illinois Dept. of State Police UCR Data





Months 1/1960-12/1983 (Index Robbery includes Attempts.) Source: ICJIA version of Illinois Dept. of State Police UCA Date

• The FBI, which also estimated the amount of change in actual offenses from 1982 to 1983, concluded that total Index robbery offenses decreased about 8 percent, and total Index aggravated assault offenses declined by about 2 percent. Thus, the more painstaking and detailed methods of the Chicago Intervention Analysis produce very different conclusions from the imputation methods of the FBI.

• The detailed Chicago Intervention Analysis concluded that, overall, the actual number of Index robberies known to the police in Chicago did not change from 1982 to 1983, and that firearm and knife robbery increased at least 8 percent, other-weapon robbery did not change, and strongarm robbery declined about 7 percent. For Index aggravated assault, the analysis concluded that the actual number, overall, decreased slightly, just as the FBI estimate concluded. However, firearm assault and knife assault declined about 12 percent, other-weapon assault increased at least 18 percent, and body-as-weapon assault probably did not change.

Introduction

The intelligent allocation of resources in the administration of justice depends upon the ability of criminal justice officials to anticipate, with some degree of accuracy, the demand for those resources. Although law enforcement jurisdictions (police departments and sheriffs' offices) have numerous functions, one of the most important is to respond to crimes that become known to them through citizen reports or through their own investigation. These "offenses known to the police" thus constitute a demand for law enforcement resources, and it would be useful to predict the degree of this demand in the future.

The primary purpose of the Predictability of Crime Project was, therefore, to discover whether it is possible to predict, one month ahead or one year ahead, the number of Index robberies, aggravated assaults, burglaries, or larceny/thefts known to the police in specific Illinois law enforcement jurisdictions.⁵ Since the same statistical methods that generate accurate forecasts for other kinds of data may not be as successful for crime data, the second purpose of the project was to determine whether or not a standard method of forecasting called ARIMA could be successfully applied to local-level criminal justice data.⁶

Predictive Accuracy, by Crime Type and Jurisdiction

The Predictability Project was designed to model and forecast criminal offenses in specific Illinois jurisdictions, because most law enforcement decisions are made at the final level. This design had two advantages: 1) local predictions could provide useful information for local decisions, and 2) local predictions would allow the analysis to take into account jurisdictional differences in crime patterns or crime recording practices. Such jurisdictional differences are likely, because reported offenses not only vary with the nature of criminal activity, but also vary with the way in which crime is recorded (M^CCleary, *et al.*, 1982). However, it is only recently that sufficient data have existed to permit the statistical forecasting of offenses. Only since 1972 has jurisdiction-level time series data on offenses known to the police been available in Illinois.⁷ With these data, it is now possible to determine whether or not the number of offenses follow some predictable pattern over time, or whether they occur randomly.

The degree to which crime is predictable may vary not only by jurisdiction but also by crime. For example, the best model to describe and predict the number of robbery offenses may not be the same as the best model for assault offenses. Both may differ from the best model for burglary offenses. If robbery and assault follow different patterns over time, a model of the two kinds of offenses added together, as in total Index violent crime, is likely to produce misleading results or incorrect forecasts. Because it may be misleading to attempt to model

⁵The Crime Index is a group of eight serious crimes that together give some indication of the level of criminal

activity in a jurisdiction. The FBI created the Crime Index in the 1930s. The bureau selected the crimes (murder, rape, robbery, aggravated assault, burglary, theft, motor vehicle theft, and arson) to be included in the Index on the basis of their seriousness, frequency of occurrence, consistency of definition across jurisdictions, pervasiveness in all geographical parts of the country, and likelihood of being reported to the police. See Miller and Block (1985).

⁷The number of offenses known to the police equals the total number of reported offenses minus those that were unfounded or referred to another jurisdiction.

⁶For a definition of ARIMA, see "Predictive Modeling Methods," page 11.

total index crime or even total violent or total property index crime, the Predictability Project was designed to model and forecast individual index crimes--robbery, aggravated assault, burglary and larceny/theft.⁸ Thus, the results of the study are not only specific to jurisdictions, but are also specific to types of crime .

8

Models of individual crimes are not only more accurate than models of total aggregate crime categories, but they are also more useful to law enforcement managers. For example, the best managerial response to an increase in larceny is not necessarily the same as the best response to an increase in robbery.

In addition, models of offenses known to the police could be useful to prosecutorial, court, or correctional managers and administrators. The progression of criminal justice through arrest, court case filing, conviction, and prison commitment begins with the offense. Thus, the law enforcement statistic—offenses known to the police— could be considered to be the starting point from which all other criminal justice system statistics flow. As a result, the successful prediction of offense data could be useful for law enforcement resource management decisions and could also serve as input for models to project court caseload or prison population.

In summary, the Predictability Project was designed to answer the question, "Is crime predictable?" for each of four types of crime and for individual Illinois jurisdictions. The project modeled the pattern of monthly crimes known to the police in each selected jurisdiction for the period 1972–1981, using a standard forecasting technique called ARIMA. With these models, the project then predicted the number of crimes known to the police in each month of 1982 and 1983, adjusted the prediction models when necessary, and then predicted the number of crimes in each month of 1984. Finally, the project compared the degree of accuracy of these predictions from jurisdiction to jurisdiction and crime type to crime type.

Methodological Goals of the Predictability Project

The Predicability Project attempted to answer not only the substantive question, "Is crime predictable?" but also the methodological question, "What is the best ARIMA model to use to predict crimes known to the police?" Specifically, the project had the following four methodological goals:

- 1) to determine if the quality of available data is sufficient to conduct monthly time series analysis for the selected jurisdictions and crimes,
- 2) to determine whether the types of statistical models commonly used for other kinds of data will successfully model crime data,
- 3) to evaluate the resources required for accurate predictions of local-level offenses and to weigh the costs against the benefits of such predictions to local law enforcement agencies, and
- 4) to demonstrate the usefulness of these prediction methods in a practical situation, an analysis of the effect of a 1983 change in recordkeeping practices in Chicago.

⁸Note that each of these Index crimes includes attempts. See Miller and Block (1985). For a discussion of the choice of these particular Index crimes for analysis, see "Sample," page 15.

Time Series Data Quality Assessment

While the latter three of the methodological goals listed above address the applicability of various statistical methods for conducting time series analysis with crime data, the first methodological goal addresses the availability of data that are appropriate for these statistical methods to be used.

In the initial stages of the Predictability Project, it became clear that an unexpected methodological goal would be accomplished--the determination of the quality and availability of Illinois offense data at the jurisdictional and crime-specific level for conducting time series analysis. Even though relatively long monthly time series, beginning in 1972 in most cases, were available on the books for almost every index crime and jurisdiction, when the actual monthly series were first examined for this project, a surprisingly high proportion contained at least one missing or obviously erroneous monthly offense total. This situation had not been noticed earlier, because previous analysis had used aggregate groups of months, jurisdictions, and crime types. It is difficult to detect errors in aggregate data (Coldren, 1980).

In addition, by comparing the degree of predictability in one data set against another, the Predictability Project examined the extent to which aspects of the data other than completeness or accuracy might affect time series analysis. Three aspects were particularly important: the length of the series, the average number of offenses per month, and whether or not the series contained extreme values or a large discontinuous increase or decrease.

Predictive Modeling Methods

The self-projecting approach to time series forecasting is based on an examination of the historical behavior of the phenomenon to be predicted—in this case selected types of index of-fenses known to the police each month in selected jurisdictions. It is called self-projecting be-cause it derives projections solely on the basis of past crime trends, without including other types of data. The self-projecting method used in this study was ARIMA. ARIMA stands for AutoRegressive, Integrated, Moving Average. The ARIMA method will not be explained in detail here, because previous reports from the Statistical Analysis Center of the Illinois Criminal Jus-tice Information Authority (see Block, 1984b) and other references (e.g., Hoff, 1983) offer simple but adequate explanations. However, the section "Method of Choosing the Best ARIMA Model" (page 22) and Appendix 1 do provide a quick overview of ARIMA concepts and the statistical tests used in the Predictability Project.

An ARIMA model describes change over time in a variable by describing the relationship between each occurrence and the occurrence one, two, or more time periods previously. The particular type of ARIMA model makes an assumption about these relationships from one time period to the next. To choose the appropriate ARIMA model type, it is necessary to diagnose the relationships from month to month in the time series.

ARIMA was developed for use with economic data. Whether or not it works with crime data is a relatively unexplored question. Therefore, the project was designed to examine the particular categories of ARIMA model that work best with crime data. There are many possible types of ARIMA model. The wrong choice of ARIMA model type for a series of data will probably generate inaccurate forecasts. Moreover, previous Authority analysis suggests that types of ARIMA model that commonly fit economic data do not necessarily fit crime data. For example, the X-11/ARIMA computer package (see Appendix 1) attempts to fit three standard types of ARIMA model--types that fit a high percentage of economic series. Out of nearly 100 crime series for which the X-11/ARIMA program has been used at the Authority, these standard ARIMA types succeeded in fitting only one or two series. Thus, the methodological goal of the Predictability Project was twofold:

- 1) to determine whether any type of ARIMA model would successfully fit crime series, and
- 2) to determine whether *certain* types of model would tend to fit certain kinds of crime, or crime in certain jurisdictions.

.

Resources Necessary for Prediction

Two universal concerns of any governmental agency, including law enforcement agencies, are the degree to which timely answers are important and the degree to which resources to obtain these answers are limited. While it may be useful for a law enforcement agency to be able to predict offenses known to the police if the predictions are available in a few days and with a small expenditure of resources, it may not be useful if the answer is not timely and the cost is great.

In the Predictability Project, therefore, we attempted to determine the degree of difficulty in producing accurate (or the best possible) predictions of four crime types in 14 Illinois jurisdictions. The question was this: In order to produce accurate predictions, is it necessary for an expert in time series analysis to spend days in the effort, or can accurate predictions of offenses be calculated by knowledgeable crime analysts in a relatively short time?

A second concern was to try to quantify the expert skills and experience necessary to produce accurate predictions of crime data. As part of this effort, we attempted to discover whether or not certain types of model were so common with particular types of crime that an analyst might try these model types as a standard shortcut to the involved process of model identification. In addition, because prediction is an art, not a science, a record of the necessary steps and decisions required to identify a well-fitting and accurate model was kept and included in this report. By identifying these steps, we hoped to make crime prediction less of an art and more of a science, less subjective and more objective, and less the moview of the statistical expert and more accessible to those who are expert in local-level conditions.

Time Series Intervention Analysis

In practical situations, one of the most important applications of time series analysis is to determine whether or not a change occurred in the series. For example, a police department might want to know if a burglary prevention program had any effect on the number of burglaries. Such an analysis is called an *intervention analysis* of the number of burglaries known to the police before and after the program, or intervention, began, and is intended to give some indication of the program's success. Another intervention analysis might be designed to determine the extent to which a change in early release policy made a difference in the prison population. Any new law, change in policy or practice, or new crime prevention program might constitute an intervention.

Although the results of time series intervention analyses have obvious practical uses, such studies must be carefully conducted. The effect of an intervention can take many forms (M^CCleary and Hay, 1980). A change may occur gradually or suddenly after the intervention. In fact, it can even occur before the intervention, in anticipation of a law, for example. These and other problems make the design of a good time series intervention analysis difficult. One solution to this problem is the time series experiment (Campbell and Stanley, 1966). The Predictability Project included such a formally designed time series experiment of an intervention of data collection and the maintenance of criminal offense data. Following investigation by a local

television station, which accused the Chicago Police Department of "killing crime" by failing to make an official record of some crimes reported to the department, and following an internal audit supervised by the FBI (Chicago Police Department, 1983), the Chicago Police Department instituted mechanisms to improve the accuracy and completeness of crime recording.

The purpose of these administrative mechanisms was to ensure that those crimes that previously had been underrecorded would now be recorded completely and accurately. After the department began to react to the investigation and audit early in 1983, the total number of officially recorded offenses did, in fact, increase. However, this increase may not have been due to the change in administrative practices, but due instead (or in addition) to a real increase in crime. In the first place, it cannot be assumed that an across-the-board increase occurred in the recording of every type of crime. The greatest increase probably occurred in those kinds of crime that had previously been underrecorded the most. Also, the publicity surrounding the investigation may have changed the tendency of victims to report particular kinds of crime to the police. Thus, how can it be determined whether actual Chicago crime occurrences in-creased, decreased, or stayed at the same level before and after the investigation and audit?

Intervention analysis for a particular crime type permits analysts to estimate the number of offenses that would have been recorded in 1983 if the previous recording practices had been in effect. If the numbers actually recorded in 1983 were higher (or lower) than this estimated range, or if the form of the ARIMA model changed in 1983, we would suspect that the new administrative mechanisms accounted for the change. On the other hand, if the number of crimes actually recorded in 1983 was within the estimated range and if the ARIMA model for previous years still appeared to fit 1983, we would suspect that the new mechanisms did not affect the recording of that type of crime. We hypothesized, for example, that no change would occur in those types of crime, in particular serious offenses such as firearm robbery, that had not been undercounted prior to the 1983 changes.⁹ (For the detailed design of the time series experiment, see "Chicago Intervention Analysis Methods," page 24.)

In summary, the final methodological goal of the Predictability Project was to conduct a field test of descriptive time series intervention analysis methods. The prediction methods that had been systematically tested in the first part of the project were used in a formally designed time series experiment—the Chicago Intervention Analysis—in order to answer a practical question about a change in the recording practices of Chicago crime data.

⁹This hypothesis is based on the findings of Block and Block (1980, 1984), which show that more serious victimizations, specifically robbery with a firearm, are more likely to be reported to the police by the victim and, when reported, are more likely to become official statistics.

Project Design and Methods

Sample

The jurisdictions and crimes selected for this study were not chosen randomly. The Predictability Project was designed to see how well a method of analysis (ARIMA modeling) worked in a variety of situations involving different jurisdictions and different crimes. The purpose of the Predictability Project was make accurate predictions for as many types of jurisdictions and crimes as possible, not to generalize findings to a universe of all jurisdictions and all crime types.

The four crimes used in this study--Index robbery, aggravated assault, burglary, and larceny/theft--were chosen because data collection for Index crimes may be more uniform across jurisdictions than for non-Index crimes (FBI, 1983:1). Two other Index crimes, murder and forcible rape, were not analyzed, because too few of these crimes occur in most jurisdic-tions to permit time series analysis (fewer than five per month). Index arson was not analyzed, because statewide data are available only since 1983. Index motor vehicle theft was not analyzed due to time constraints in the project.

The goal of the Predictability Project was to analyze crime patterns in as many Illinois jurisdictions outside of Chicago as possible, within the limits of our time and resources. The sample included 15 Illinois jurisdictions other than Chicago (see Table A). Seven of the jurisdictions in the sample are in the Chicago metropolitan area, and the others are scattered throughout the state. Berwyn was later eliminated because of data quality problems.¹⁰ Quincy was included in the analysis because the Authority had done a previous study of crime prediction with Quincy data; thus the Predictability Project was a basis for comparison with past analyses (Cooprider, 1984). Although Chicago was not part of the main study, Chicago aggravated assault and robbery, as well as total Illinois (non-Chicago) aggravated assault and robbery, were analyzed in the Chicago Intervention Analysis.

In each jurisdiction except Chicago, all four index crimes were analyzed if enough crimes occurred monthly to permit ARIMA analysis. The criterion for "enough crimes" was a mean of five occurrences per month over the entire 1972–1983 time period (see Table B). All of the jurisdictions had enough larceny/thefts and burglaries to permit analysis. However, four jurisdictions did not have enough robberies and three did not have enough aggravated assaults.¹¹

As might be expected in a group of jurisdictions that vary in population, the crime rate per 100,000 population and the number of crimes in a typical month also vary widely (see Table B). The highest crime rates and crime numbers generally occur in the most populous jurisdictions, but this is not always true. As Miller, Block, and Dykstra (1982) pointed out in their analysis of

¹⁰Data for June 1979 are missing, and figures for September, October, and November 1978 are extremely high (twice as high as any other month in the 1972-1983 time period).

¹¹Des Plaines and Skokie had an average of more than five aggravated assaults per month over the entire

¹⁹⁷²⁻¹⁹⁸³ period, but had five or fewer per month, on the average in recent years. Therefore, they were not analyzed.

Table A. Population Characteristics of Jurisdictions in the Sample, 1980

JurisdictionPopulationCountyCentral CityQuincy42,554AdamsNot in an SMSABerwyn ^c 46,849CookChicagoRock Island47,036Rock IslandDavenport, IowaDes Plaines53,568CookChicagoSkokie60,278CookChicagoCicero61,232CookChicagoElgin63,798KaneChicagoArlington Heights66,116CookChicagoJoliet77,956WillChicagoAurora81,293KaneChicagoDecatur94,081MaconDecaturSpringfield99,637SangamonSpringfieldPeoria124,160PeoriaPeoriaRockford139,712WinnebagoRockford		1980 ^a		SMSAb
Berwyn ^c 46,849CookChicagoRock Island47,036Rock IslandDavenport, IowaDes Plaines53,568CookChicagoSkokie60,278CookChicagoCicero61,232CookChicagoElgin63,798KaneChicagoArlington Heights66,116CookChicagoEvanston73,706CookChicagoJoliet77,956WillChicagoAurora81,293KaneChicagoDecatur94,081MaconDecaturSpringfield99,637SangamonSpringfieldPeoria124,160PeoriaPeoriaRockford139,712WinnebagoRockford	Jurisdiction	Population	County	
Rock Island47,036Rock IslandDavenport, IowaDes Plaines53,568CookChicagoSkokie60,278CookChicagoCicero61,232CookChicagoElgin63,798KaneChicagoArlington Heights66,116CookChicagoEvanston73,706CookChicagoJoliet77,956WillChicagoAurora81,293KaneChicagoDecatur94,081MaconDecaturSpringfield99,637SangamonSpringfieldPeoria124,160PeoriaPeoriaRockford139,712WinnebagoRockford	Quincy	42,554	Adams	Not in an SMSA
Des Plaines53,568CookChicagoSkokie60,278CookChicagoCicero61,232CookChicagoElgin63,798KaneChicagoArlington Heights66,116CookChicagoEvanston73,706CookChicagoJoliet77,956WillChicagoAurora81,293KaneChicagoDecatur94,081MaconDecaturSpringfield99,637SangamonSpringfieldPeoria124,160PeoriaPeoriaRockford139,712WinnebagoRockford	Berwyn ^c	46,849	Cook	Chicago
Des Plaines53,568CookChicagoSkokie60,278CookChicagoCicero61,232CookChicagoElgin63,798KaneChicagoArlington Heights66,116CookChicagoEvanston73,706CookChicagoJoliet77,956WillChicagoAurora81,293KaneChicagoDecatur94,081MaconDecaturSpringfield99,637SangamonSpringfieldPeoria124,160PeoriaPeoriaRockford139,712WinnebagoRockford	Rock Island	47,036	Rock Island	Davenport, Iowa
Cicero61,232CookChicagoElgin63,798KaneChicagoArlington Heights66,116CookChicagoEvanston73,706CookChicagoJoliet77,956WillChicagoAurora81,293KaneChicagoDecatur94,081MaconDecaturSpringfield99,637SangamonSpringfieldPeoria124,160PeoriaPeoriaRockford139,712WinnebagoRockford	Des Plaines	53,568	Cook	이 승규는 것 같아요. 이 승규는 것은 것 같아요. 그 가지 않는 것 같아요. 이 것 같아요. 이 것 같아요.
Cicero61,232CookChicagoElgin63,798KaneChicagoArlington Heights66,116CookChicagoEvanston73,706CookChicagoJoliet77,956WillChicagoAurora81,293KaneChicagoDecatur94,081MaconDecaturSpringfield99,637SangamonSpringfieldPeoria124,160PeoriaPeoriaRockford139,712WinnebagoRockford	Skokie	60,278	Cook	Chicago
Elgin63,798KaneChicagoArlington Heights66,116CookChicagoEvanston73,706CookChicagoJoliet77,956WillChicagoAurora81,293KaneChicagoDecatur94,081MaconDecaturSpringfield99,637SangamonSpringfieldPeoria124,160PeoriaPeoriaRockford139,712WinnebagoRockford	Cicero	61,232	Cook	Chicago
Evanston73,706CookChicagoJoliet77,956WillChicagoAurora81,293KaneChicagoDecatur94,081MaconDecaturSpringfield99,637SangamonSpringfieldPeoria124,160PeoriaPeoriaRockford139,712WinnebagoRockford	Elgin	63,798	Kane	
Evanston73,706CookChicagoJoliet77,956WillChicagoAurora81,293KaneChicagoDecatur94,081MaconDecaturSpringfield99,637SangamonSpringfieldPeoria124,160PeoriaPeoriaRockford139,712WinnebagoRockford	Arlington Heights	66,116	Cook	Chicago
Aurora81,293KaneChicagoDecatur94,081MaconDecaturSpringfield99,637SangamonSpringfieldPeoria124,160PeoriaPeoriaRockford139,712WinnebagoRockford	Evanston	73,706	Cook	
Decatur94,081MaconDecaturSpringfield99,637SangamonSpringfieldPeoria124,160PeoriaPeoriaRockford139,712WinnebagoRockford	Joliet	77,956	Wi11	Chicago
Springfield99,637SangamonSpringfieldPeoria124,160PeoriaPeoriaRockford139,712WinnebagoRockford	Aurora	81,293	Kane	
Peoria124,160PeoriaPeoriaRockford139,712WinnebagoRockford	Decatur	94,081	Macon	Decatur
Peoria124,160PeoriaPeoriaRockford139,712WinnebagoRockford	Springfield	99,637	Sangamon	Springfield
	Peoria	124,160	Peoria	
Chicago 3.005.072 Cook Chicago	Rockford	139,712	Winnebago	Rockford
	Chicago	3,005,072	Cook	Chicago

^aSource: General Population Characteristics -- Illinois: 1980 Census of Population, Part 15, Table 14 (August 1982). Bureau of the Census.

^b"The general concept of a 'Standard Metropolitan Statistical Area' (SMSA) is one of a large population nucleus, together with adjacent communities which have a high degree of economic and social integration with that nucleus." **General Population** Characteristics --IIIinois: 1980 Census of Population, Appendix A (August 1982). Bureau of the Census.

^CBerwyn was not analyzed due to data quality problems. For each index crime, the figures for September, October, and November 1978 are extremely high, and the June 1979 figure is zero. Because the original police data files are no longer available, the problem could not be resolved.

Illinois county data, crime rates are not necessarily higher for larger jurisdictions or lower for smaller jurisdictions. They are low in some jurisdictions (Arlington Heights) and high elsewhere (Rock Island, Cicero robbery) compared to other jurisdictions of similar population.¹²

It would be a mistake to conclude that differences in crime rates from jurisdiction to jurisdiction reflect only differences in the actual incidence of these crimes (see Miller and Block, 1985; Block and Block, 1984). Official rates of crimes known to the police reflect not only the occurrence of crime, but also the decisions made by both citizens and the police that affect whether an incident is defined as a crime and also whether a crime ever becomes an official statistic. Therefore, we would expect differences from jurisdiction to jurisdiction, even if the actual likelihood of crime occurrence were the same. On the other hand, if data recording in each jurisdiction did not change over time, then differences over time would be attributed to real differences in crime occurrence within that jurisdiction.

¹²Note that the jurisdictions in Table B are arranged in order of population size.

However, administrative practices regarding the collection and maintenance of crime data were known to have changed in Chicago. This is the subject of the Chicago Intervention Analysis part of the Predictability Study. In addition, the analysis of other jurisdictions frequently discovered sharp changes in the number of offenses, which this report calls serendipitous interventions. These changes may have been due to administrative changes in crime recording. Thus, the Predictability Project tests the assumption that crime patterns can be analyzed over time in a jurisdiction because recording practices seldom change within one jurisdiction over time.

			_					
	Rol	bbery		avated ault	Burg	lary	Larcen	//Theft
Jurisdiction								
in order of	1980	∦ per	1980	# per	1980	₩ per	1980	# per
Population	Rate	Month	Rate	Month	<u>Rate</u>	Month	Rate	Month
Quincy	42	3∗	202	6	1,643	51	4,096	134
Berwyn	83	ь	45	b	1,244	b	1,528	b
Rock Island	330	12	527	15	2,979	99	5,341	185
Des Plaines	78	3*	119	7**	1,092	46	2,978	126
Skokie	63	3*	154	6**	1,279	55	2,963	161
Cicero	286	12	263	11	1,594	60	2,059	88
Elgin	160	7 . *	252	12	2,389	97	3,874	183
Arlington Heights	27]*	74	4*	982	54	2,367	150
Evanston	260	16	308	16	2,614	118	4,814	291
Joliet	394	22	670	46	2,666	145	5,157	292
Aurora	214	15	419	23	1,837	114	4,417	267
Decatur	168	10	231	17	1,780	109	4,686	310
Springfield	343	23	513	30	3,169	218	5,112	371
Peoria	284	30	812	89	2,785	253	5,509	506
Rockford	352	28	522	42	2,997	265	4,845	502
Chicago ^c	541	1,536	340	896	1,141	3,092	3,423	8,178

Table B. Index Crime Characteristics of Jurisdictions in the Sample^a

^aIndex offenses known to the police in 1980 per 100,000 population in 1980 (see Table A). Source: *Crime in Illinois* (1980). Springfield, Illinois: Illinois Department of Law Enforcement. Mean number per month, 1972 through 1983.

^bNot calculated because of data quality problems (see Table A).

^CFor robbery and aggravated assault, mean number per month, 1974 through 1983. The mean number for each weapon type was firearm robbery (613), knife robbery (151), other-weapon robbery (184), strongarm robbery (588), firearm assault (248), knife assault (341), other-weapon assault (242), body-as-weapon assault (65). For burglary and larceny/theft, mean number per month, 1981 through 1983.

*Not analyzed because mean number of crimes per month was less than five.

**Des Plaines and Skokie had an average of more than five aggravated assaults over the entire time period 1972-1983, but an average of five or less per month in recent years. Therefore, they were not analyzed.

Analysis Method for Each Series

The following is a concise description of the standard method followed for the analysis of each time series. For a more detailed technical discussion of each step in the analysis, see Appendix 1

Time Series Pattern Description

Because basic description is a necessary prelude to time series analysis, the first step in the Predictability Project was to describe the pattern of change over time in each series. This was done by searching for the best *time series pattern description*. A time series pattern description is a graph showing the original data with a superimposed *line segment fit* (see Figure 7).

Å

A line segment fit is a series of straight line segments connected to each other; it is calculated by spline regression (Block, 1983). The best line segment fit chosen for a time series could be one straight line, a two-segment line, a three-segment line (as in the Rock Island burglary example, Figure 7), or a four-or-more-segment line. A computer program calculates a package of line segment fit alternatives, and the user chooses a fit that is simple yet accurate.¹³ For more detail about time series pattern description, see Appendix 1, Grant (1985), and Block (1983).

For some series, pattern description analysis revealed possible data quality problems. These problems were resolved or corrected at this early stage of analysis.

Description of Seasonality

A complete description of patterns over time includes an answer to the question, "Is this series seasonal?" This question is not easily answered with a simple yes or no, but depends upon the working definition of seasonality.¹⁴ At this descriptive stage of analysis, Kallek's (1978:15) simple and straightforward definition of seasonality was used:

Seasonality refers to regular periodic fluctuations which recur every year with about the same timing and with the same intensity and which, most importantly, can be measured and removed from the time series under review.

To determine whether a series was seasonal according to this definition, the project used the diagnostic tests available in a standard seasonal adjustment computer package, the X-11 (see Appendix 1 and Block, 1984b). This analysis not only told us whether or not the series contained seasonal fluctuation by the above definition, but also provided, in cases in which the series was seasonal, estimates of the pattern of seasonal fluctuation--which months were high or low and the degree to which they were high or low.

¹³The criterion for accuracy in the spline regression (line segment fit) program that is used at the Authority, like the criterion generally used in regression, is a minimum sum of squared residuals. See Block (1983) for more detail. ¹⁴For a complete discussion of alternative conceptual and operational definitions of seasonality, see Block (1984b).



Figure 7. Patterns of Change Over Time in Rock Island Index Burglary, 1972-1983

- Months. January 1972 through December 1983 Source: Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority Version of I-UCR Data

Model Identification

An ARIMA model describes change over time in a variable by describing the — tionship between each occurrence and the occurrence one, two, or more time periods previously. This is known as a description of the *stochastic* relationships in a time series. Each type of ARIMA model makes a different assumption about the stochastic relationships from one time period to the next.

Identifying the most appropriate ARIMA model to calculate future predictions of crime involves several stages of analysis. First, a series of tests are used to diagnose the relationships from month to month in a time series. Given the results of this diagnosis, the stochastic patterns in the time series are further explored with the Durbin-ARIMA method of analysis. Next, a model that seems appropriate according to the diagnostic tests and the Durbin-ARIMA analysis is fit to the data, or estimated, using the Box and Jenkins method. If the model is not an adequate fit, the analyses are repeated. (See "Method of Choosing the Best ARIMA Model," page 22, and Appandix 1 for the specific tests used to diagnose the relationships from month to month in a time series.)

Durbin-ARIMA Analysis

Given an ARIMA model type, the mathematical calculation of the best fit is relatively straightforward (see Appendix 2). However, two or more ARIMA models that seem appropriate according to the initial diagnostic tests may produce entirely different projections (Pierce, 1980:130; Block, 1984b), and it is difficult to distinguish between the models. Therefore, in this analysis, we added a second diagnostic step: the Durbin-ARIMA analysis. As suggested by Roberts (1984), Durbin-ARIMA analysis is a method for exploring the stochastic patterns in a time series so that the most appropriate type of ARIMA model can be chosen.

Model Estimation: Box/Jenkins Fits

The most appropriate ARIMA model, given the model identification process and the Durbin-ARIMA analysis, was estimated using an iterative method developed by Box and Jenkins (1970). After the model is estimated, it is subjected to statistical tests of adequacy. The residuals of each model (the difference between the modeled estimates and the actual figures) are also subjected to statistical tests. (For details of these tests, see Appendix 1.) Those models that passed the statistical tests were used to calculate future predictions.

Analysis of Predictive Accuracy

Each model was developed with data through 1981, and was used to calculate predictions for each month of 1982. Actual 1982 figures were then compared to the predicted figures for each month, and two summary statistics were calculated—the percent error for the average month and the percent error for the year 1982 (the sum of all 1982 predictions compared to the total number actually occurring in 1982). If the model failed to predict within 30 percent for the average month or within 20 percent for the total year, the model was rejected and a search for a better one was conducted.

The 20 percent and 30 percent criteria were chosen as the maximum amount of error for which any definition of accuracy seems reasonable. The purpose was to eliminate those predictions that were the most inaccurate. Although predictive accuracy studies with economic data (for example, Dagum, 1979) usually use much stricter criteria for accuracy, previous Authority analyses indicate that accuracy with crime data may not be as great. In order to explore the variation of predictive accuracy from crime type to crime type and from jurisdiction to jurisdiction, a high maximum criterion for accuracy was chosen.

If the model predicted 1982 adequately, the model was then recalculated using data through 1982, and the months of 1983 were predicted. Again, these predictions were compared to the real figures, and the same criteria were used for accuracy--30 percent for the average month and 20 percent for the total year. If this prediction was not adequate, the search for a better model for the total series was conducted again, through 1983. Even though the model had been adequate for predicting 1982, the success of the model may have been a coincidence. In several cases, by reanalyzing the series at this point, not only was 1983 predicted more accurately with the revised model, but 1982 was also predicted more accurately. The reasons for this are twofold: 1) the identification of the best ARIMA model is not an entirely objective process (see Appendix 2); and 2) the series through 1982 was shorter than the series through 1983.

If the ARIMA model predicted 1982 successfully, but not 1983, the possibility that an intervention had occurred in 1983 was considered. In other words, there may have been some change in 1983, such as a crime prevention program, a sudden crime wave, or a change in recordkeeping, that resulted in a sharp increase or decrease in the number of offenses known to the police. Such an intervention is called a *serendipitous intervention*, because it was not hypothesized at the beginning of the Predictability Project, but was discovered in the process of analysis. The analysis of each serendipitous intervention situation was a unique problem, and each is discussed in detail in the results. In these situations, the criteria for identifying the best model were that the model must meet statistical and predictive accuracy standards in at least two years. If, for example, a serendipitous intervention apparently occurred in 1983, and the criteria were therefore not met for 1983, then criteria had to be met for 1981 and 1982. In a number of time series, 1980 and other years were also analyzed.

1984 Predictions

Finally, if the ARIMA model through 1981 successfully predicted 1982 and the model through 1982 successfully predicted 1983, the model was then calculated using all data through 1983. This model was again subjected to the tests of model adequacy (see Appendix 1). If the model was not adequate, the entire process started again. At this point, any changes that were made were slight. If the model through 1983 was accurate, however, it was used to predict each month of 1984.¹⁵ (At the completion of the analysis, actual 1984 data were not yet available to check the accuracy of 1984 predictions.)

13

Method of Measuring Predictive Accuracy

Two alternative methods were used to measure degree of predictive accuracy--the yearahead method and the *intervention* method. Both are equally sound, but they answer different questions about predictive accuracy. The year-ahead method, as its name implies, predicts each month one year ahead. For example, a model based on the time period 1972-1982 might be used to predict each month of 1983. The year-ahead method would be used in most ordinary prediction situations, because usually we are interested in predictions that are farther in the future than the next month. The intervention method predicts only one month ahead and therefore would not be used to answer the question, "Is crime predictable?" The intervention method is useful as a diagnostic tool in the analysis of prediction error. Therefore, in research such as this, in which we are looking for the causes of error in predictions, the intervention method and the year-ahead method both provide necessary, though different, information.

The year-ahead method assumes that the underlying month-to-month pattern of the series, the ARIMA model, does not change, and that the analyst does not know the actual number of offenses that occurred in any month of the year being predicted. For example, using actual monthly data through December, a model was identified and used to predict crimes that would occur each month for the next 12 months. Thus, a year-ahead prediction for January, based on a model estimated on data through the previous December, benefits from knowledge of the number of offenses that actually occurred in December. However, in calculating a prediction for February, the year-ahead method uses the estimated, not the actual, January observation. By the time the following December is predicted, information on actual offenses is 12 months old.¹⁶

The intervention method (Roberts, 1984) is the same as the year-ahead method in that the monthly data in the year being predicted are not used to estimate the ARIMA model. However, the two methods differ in that the intervention method prediction uses actual data, not estimated data. For example, each month of 1983 is predicted with a model (an ARIMA equation) that was estimated on the time period 1972-1982. The ARIMA equation stays the same for each prediction, but the observation used with the ARIMA equation to predict each month is the actual observation, not an estimate. In a prediction of October, the intervention method as-sumes that the number of actual offenses in each month through September is known. However, the ARIMA equation, describing the relationship between each month and the preceeding months, is the same for the October prediction as it was for the January prediction.

¹⁵These 1984 predictions are too voluminous to include here, but are available on request from the Authority.

¹⁶This example assumes, of course, that the model in question describes each observation as related to the preceeding observation --these models are called *first order* models. In other types of ARIMA model, called *second order* models, the information to predict January would be taken from November (two months ago). For details, see Appendix 1, and "Method of Choosing the Best ARIMA Model," page 22.

Thus, like the year-ahead method, the intervention method assumes that the ARIMA model does not change. But in contrast to the year-ahead method, the intervention method assumes that the analyst knows the actual number of offenses that occurred in the previous month.

With the year-ahead method, a large prediction error could have at least two causes. The ARIMA model (description of the relationship between each observation and the next) could have changed or the level of the series (the number of crimes in a typical month) could have changed. The best ARIMA model could change without an actual change in crime level. Conversely the relationships from month to month in 1983 could be the same as the pattern of relationships in previous years, but the numbers could be all higher or lower in 1983. If 1983 observations are much higher than all previous observations, for example, the level of the series has increased, and predictions based on a 1972–1982 model probably would be too low. The intervention method helps determine whether the prediction error found with the year-ahead method was due to a change in model, a change in the level of the series, or both.

יני י

The cause of a large prediction error with the intervention method is likely to be a change in ARIMA model, not a change in the level of the series. If the level of offenses increased in 1983 but the ARIMA model did not change, for example, the 1972–1982 model would be too low in predicting January 1983. However, the February intervention-method prediction would be estimated using actual January data (but the same 1972–1982 equation). Since the ARIMA model relates each month to the next month, the February prediction will be corrected for the actual level of January.¹⁷ Therefore, errors in prediction with the intervention method can be assumed to indicate a change in the model, not a change in the level.

Method of Choosing the Best ARIMA Model

The Predictability Study found the best possible ARIMA model for the following crime types and jurisdictions:¹⁸

- 1) each of four types of Index crime in 14 Illinois law enforcement jurisdictions,
- 2) each of four weapon types of Index robbery in Chicago and in total Illinois (non-Chicago), and
- 3) each of four weapon types of Index aggravated assault in Chicago and in total Illinois (non-Chicago).

To understand ARIMA models as they are discussed in this report, the following section provides a quick overview of ARIMA modeling and definitions of a few important terms. There are other sources available for a complete treatment of ARIMA models,¹⁹ and more detailed in-formation can also be found in Appendix 1.

 ¹⁷Again, this assumes a first order model, but the same logic could apply to a second order or 12th order model.
¹⁸For some types of crime in some jurisdictions, the identification of an ARIMA model was not possible because the number of offenses in a typical month was five or fewer (see Table B). For Index robbery, these jurisdictions were Arlington Heights, Des Plaines, Quincy, and Skokie. For Index aggravated assault, only Arlington Heights had fewer than five offenses per month over all years, but Des Plaines and Skokie had fewer than five offenses per month in the final years of the series.
¹⁹For an elementary review of the ARIMA method, see Hoff (1983) or Block (1984b).

An Overview of ARIMA

ARIMA models are classified as (p,d,q)(Sp,Sd,Sq), where each term specifies the number of serial (month-to-month) or seasonal (every 12 months) autoregressive orders, degrees of differencing, or moving average orders. Most models contain zero, one, or two orders of autoregression (p) and zero, one, or two orders of moving average (q), and may require zero, one, or two degrees of differencing (d). In addition, an ARIMA model may or may not be seasonal, requiring one or two orders of seasonal autoregression (Sp), one or two orders of seasonal moving average (Sq), or one or two degrees of seasonal differencing (Sd) in the model. Therefore, to understand what an ARIMA model means, it is necessary to understand the concepts of autoregressive processes, moving average processes, and differencing.

In an autoregressive (AR) process, the current observation is a function of a past observation. An AR(1) autoregressive process means that the current observation is affected by the previous observation. An AR(2) autoregressive process means that the current observation is affected by the second previous observation. A seasonal autoregressive process, AR(12), means that the current observation is affected by the observation one year ago.

In a *moving average* (MA) process, the current observation is a function of a past *error*, not of the total observation. An error is a statistical term for the part of an observation that is unpredictable and unmeasurable. An MA(1) moving average process means that the current observation is affected by the error of the previous observation. An MA(2) moving average process means that the current observation is affected by the error of the previous observation. An MA(2) moving average process means that the current observation is affected by the error of the second previous observation. A seasonal moving average process, MA(12), means that the current observation is affected by the error of the observation one year ago.

Before it is possible to identify an ARIMA model, it may be necessary to transform a time series by *differencing* (see Appendix 1 for detail). ARIMA models cannot be calculated unless there is no change over time in the level or the variance of the series. This condition is called *stationarity*. Most actual time series violate this condition. However, if they are transformed by differencing, the transformed data often can be modeled. In first differencing, each observation is subtracted from the neighboring observation. In 12th differencing, each observation is subtracted from the observation 12 months away.

Thus, the letters (p,d,q) and (Sp,Sd,Sq) summarize the autoregressive, differencing, and moving average components of an ARIMA model; p and Sp refer to serial and seasonal autoregressive processes, d and Sd refer to serial and seasonal degrees of differencing, and q and Sq refer to serial and seasonal moving average processes. For example, an ARIMA (2,1,0)(1,0,0) model contains AR(1), AR(2), and AR(12) processes, and required first (serial) differencing but not 12th (seasonal) differencing.

In effect, the terms (p,d,q)(Sp,Sd,Sq) describe the class of ARIMA model type. If two time series can be described by the same class of ARIMA model, they follow the same statistical patterns over time. They are similar in the relationship each observation in the series has to previous observations and later observations.

Criteria for ARIMA Model Identification

in the Predictability Project, the decision as to the best ARIMA model type was based on the following criteria:

1) Residuals of the model had to fluctuate randomly over time.

Residuals are the difference between the modeled figures and the actual figures. Thus, they are the month-to-month variation that the ARIMA model does not explain. See Appendix 1 for specific tests for random fluctuation.

-

2) The final model had to be simpler than alternative models (known as parsimony).

Of two ARIMA models, the model with any of the following characteristics was considered to be the simpler:

- a) the model was autoregressive or moving average, but not both, and
- b) the model contained fewer AR or MA terms (for example, an AR(1) model would be simpler than an AR(2) model).
- 3) The final model had to have better predictive accuracy for 1981, 1982, and 1983, yearahead method, than alternative models. For the Chicago Intervention Analysis, the model had to have better predictive accuracy for 1981 and 1982.

Note that each model chosen as best was a better predictor for that series than alternative models, but not necessarily an adequate predictor according to the 20 percent yearly and 30 percent monthly criteria.

In some cases that are discussed in detail below, a model would predict several years accurately, but not one year. For example, a model might predict 1980, 1981, and 1983 accurately, but not 1982. In such a situation, we considered the possibility that a serendipitous intervention had taken place in the given year. In other words, some unexpected event may have occurred (a change in crime prevention or enforcement or a change in recordkeeping) that caused a rapid increase or decrease in the number of offenses. The identification of the best ARIMA model (or models) was complex in such situations, and the analysis is discussed for each case as it arises. However, the general rule in identifying the best model in such a series was that the model should predict within the 20 percent yearly and 30 percent monthly criteria in at least two years.

Chicago Intervention Analysis Method

The purpose of the Chicago Intervention Analysis was to use the time series analysis methods of the first part of the Predictability Project to answer a practical question: What was the effect of the change in crime recording practices in Chicago in 1983 on the number of offenses known to the police? Two methods of analysis were used to answer this question, both of them essentially descriptive--time series pattern description (see page 18 and Appendix 1), and an analysis of predictive accuracy over several years, as measured by the year-ahead method and the intervention method.²⁰ These analysis methods were part of a research design called an interrupted time series quasi-experiment with a nonequivalent no-treatment control group (Cook and Campbell, 1979:214) that is intended to measure the effect of a change, or intervention. This was done for eight types of crime: Index robbery and Index aggravated assault, by four weapon types.

²⁰This project was limited to descriptive methods for analyzing an intervention because, at the time of the analysis, the exact specification of an ARIMA model to include the effect of an intervention (a transfer function) was very difficult to do with available Authority computer packages.

Because the reform in data collection and recording practices in Chicago in 1983 was intended to reduce the undercounting of crimes in official statistics, then it is reasonable to assume that the degree of change in the number of officially recorded crimes is related to the degree to which each crime had been previously undercounted. The degree of undercounting was hypothesized to be related to the seriousness of the crime. In order to control for the possible effect of crime seriousness on the likelihood that a crime would become officially recorded, each Index crime was divided into the smallest categories for which data are available in Chicago, that is, four weapon categories for each Index crime: firearm, knife, other weapon, and body-as-weapon (strongarm robbery and assault with hands, feet, etc.).

Thus, the Chicago intervention analysis used eight types of crime: firearm robbery, knife robbery, robbery with another weapon, strongarm robbery, firearm aggravated assault, knife aggravated assault, aggravated assault with another weapon, and aggravated assault with hands or feet as a weapon (for example, a karate attack). Note that these are index crimes. Therefore, each category of robbery includes attempted robbery, and each category of aggravated assault (threat), aggravated battery, and attempted mur-der.²¹

The first step of the analysis was to find the best ARIMA model for the period 1974-1982.²² To do this, the same analysis method was used for each series as in the first part of the Predictability Project. A model was identified for the period 1974-1980, and 1981 was predicted. If the 1981 prediction was accurate, the same type of ARIMA model was identified for the period 1974-1981, and 1982 was predicted. If the 1982 prediction was accurate, the same type of ARIMA model was identified for the period 1974-1983, and 1982 was predicted. If the 1982 prediction was accurate, the same type of ARIMA model was identified for the period 1974-1982, and 1983 was predicted.²³

The analysis then compared the predicted values to the actual values for 1983. All things being equal, if the change in Chicago's recordkeeping practices did not affect the number of crimes, then the 1983 prediction should be at least as accurate as the 1981 and 1982 predictions. Although it is never possible to be sure that all things are equal, the design of the Chicago Intervention Analysis used a control group to ensure that most things were equal. Specifically, to control for the possibility that some statewide change could have affected the number of offenses, the analysis used total Illinois (non-Chicago)²⁴ as a control group. If the change in the number of recorded offenses in Chicago was due to the change in the administration of recordkeeping that occurred at that time only in Chicago, then predictions for the total year and the average 1983 month in Chicago (year-ahead method) would be less accurate than predictions for 1983 for Illinois (non-Chicago) for the same crime. Thus, the Chicago in-tervention Analysis had the usual design of a time series experiment (Cook and Campbell, 1979).

²¹It is impossible to differentiate between completed and attempted Index robberies, or between the three types of Index aggravated assault (attempted murder, aggravated battery, and aggravated assault/threat) in Chicago during the time period of the study.

²²Weapon-specific robbery data are not available before 1974 in Chicago, or before 1975 in the rest of the state. Weapon-specific assault data are not available in Chicago or the rest of the state before 1974. In addition, for some types of robbery or assault, the analysis had to begin with 1975 or 1976, because pattern description analysis and model-building analysis showed that the initial year or two of the series was different from the later years.

²³In some cases, a serendipitous intervention was found in 1981. In these cases, a model for the period 1974-1979 was also identified. Each of these analyses is discussed in detail later in the paper.

²⁴Total Illinois (non-Chicago) refers to the aggregate total of all crimes known to the police in Illinois outside of Chicago.

Patterns of Change Over Time

Before any attempt to forecast the future, it is necessary to describe the past. Therefore, the analysis of each time series began with two descriptive analyses: time series pattern description and descriptive seasonal analysis. The line segment graph, or spline regression line, produced by time series pattern description describes the overall patterns in the past, answering the questions:

- Did the number of offenses generally increase, decrease, or stay at the same level over the time period?
- Did the number of offenses change direction, for example, from increasing to decreasing?
- If the number of offenses did change direction, roughly when did that happen?

A descriptive seasonal analysis answers the question:

 Did the number of offenses fluctuate with the seasons, and if so, what was the pattern of this fluctuation?

Time Series Pattern Description

Time series pattern description served three purposes—a check for data quality, an exploration of possible discontinuous breaks or extremes in the series, and an exploration of stationarity in the series.²⁵ Although space does not permit a discussion of every pattern description here, this section will review the more interesting findings.

The line segment fits of a number of crimes analyzed in the Predictability Project showed a discontinuity between the first two years and the rest of the series. For some crimes, the number of offenses in the first year or two was much higher, and for other crimes the number was much lower, than in succeeding years. This was the case, for example, in Chicago Index firearm robbery (see Figure 8) and in Cicero Index burglary (see Figure 9). In both cases, the initial pattern description indicated that the first year or two of the time series might not follow the same ARIMA pattern as the other years. It is common knowledge among time series analysts that a new time series may produce different information in the first year or two following initial data collection than after data collection procedures become more familiar. A possible reason for this is that data definitions may become clearer after they have been used in the field for a year or two. In Illinois, 1972 was the first year the Department of Law Enforcement (now the Department of State Police) collected statewide Uniform Crime Report data, and 1974 was the first year in which Index robbery and assault data were collected by weapon type.

²⁵Stationarity, a term used in ARIMA modeling, refers to the requirement of constant level and constant variance. For details, see Appendix 1.





 \tilde{C}^{\pm}

Figure 9. Patterns of Change Over Time in Cicero Index Burglary, 1972-1983





Exploratory time series pattern description also can help to identify apparent changes in data definition, either in a single month or between an earlier and a later time period. The existence of an outlier (an extremely high or low value) may be the first indication of a data definition problem that must be resolved before other analysis is possible. For example, in November 1977, the number of Index burglary offenses in Cicero (see Figure 9) dropped to zero-a situation highly unlikely considering previous monthly figures in Cicero. The pattern description of Cicero burglary also suggests a discontinuity (a sharp change) between the high number of offenses in 1978 and the relatively low number in 1979. Both the extremely low number of offenses in November 1977 and an apparent change or discontinuity in 1978-1979 are seen in every crime type analyzed in Cicero.

In Eigin Index robbery (see Figure 10), there were several extreme values in 1974.²⁶ This made it difficult to identify a good ARIMA model for the entire 1972–1983 period, but the period 1975–1983 was successfully modeled.

One of the decisions necessary for ARIMA modeling is whether the series is stationary (has a constant level and constant variance). If the series is not stationary, an ARIMA model is impossible to calculate unless the series is transformed in some way, such as first or 12th differencing (see Appendix 1). A graph helps to determine whether such a transformation is necessary. Figure 9 is an example of a series that is not stationary.

A graph with a superimposed line segment fit may also focus the analyst's eye on variations from the general fit, such as seasonal fluctuations or other cycles. It sometimes happens that a time series will fluctuate with the seasons during certain years, but not during other years. In the Cicero Index larceny/theft series for example (see Figure 11), a practiced eye might notice a cyclical pattern in 1978, 1979, and 1980 that is not apparent in earlier years. In fact, the ARIMA analysis for Cicero Index larceny/theft found two separate models, one for the period 1972–1977 and a second (with much more seasonality) for the period 1978–1983. Such cases of changing seasonality indicate that something basic about the time series, perhaps the way in which the data were collected, has changed.

As another example, a change in seasonal fluctuation in the time periods pre-ire and after 1979, which is suggested in the line segment fit of Evanston Index burglary (see Figure 12) and was also apparent in the descriptive seasonal analysis results, was the first indication that two different ARIMA models would be needed to describe the time series. Eventually, after considerable analysis, it was concluded that Evanston Index burglary followed one ARIMA pattern from 1972 to 1978 and another from 1979 to 1983 (see "Is Crime Predictable?-- Index Burglary," page 63).

²⁶The line segment fit for Elgin robbery (see Figure 10) is an exception to the general rule (see Appendix 1) that no line segment should be shorter than 12 months. The extreme values in 1974 created a discontinuity between 1974 and 1975, and the line segment fit in the graph was chosen so that this discontinuity would be described. The same thing happened in the line segment fit for Cicero burglary (see Figure 9).




T

Figure 11. Patterns of Change Over Time in Cicero Index Larceny/Theft, 1972-1983





Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

Page 30



Figure 12. Patterns of Change Over Time in Evanston Index Burglary, 1972-1983

Descriptive Seasonal Analysis

This section presents the results of descriptive seasonal analysis using the component method. In this method, the time series data are divided into three components--the trend/cycle, the seasonal, and the irregular (error). Various statistics based on these components give the user an idea of the proportion of variation over time in the series that is due to the seasonal component, relative to the other components. Specifically, the statistics presented in the tables of this section include the contributions of the seasonal component and the irregular component to the month-to-month variation in the data (given as percents of the total month-to-month variation), and the stable seasonality F value. For details about these statistics, see Appendix 1 and Block (1984b).

As an indicator of the presence of seasonal fluctuation (at the descriptive stage of analysis), the Predictability Project used the Plewes rule of thumb (see Appendix 1), which relates the F of stable seasonality and the percent contribution of the irregular component over a one-month span.²⁷ The F value is analogous to a measure of significance.

In addition, the Predictability Project used the percent contribution of the seasonal component, which is analogous to a measure of association. Even if the Plewes criteria indicated no stable seasonality, when the seasonal component contributed at least 40 percent of the variance from month to month, the likelihood of seasonal fluctuation had to be seriously considered.

²⁷For a more complete discussion, see Appendix 1, Block (1984b), and the studies listed in the latter's annotated bibliography.

The following summarizes the descriptive seasonal analysis results. Two criteria were used: the Plewes rule of thumb and the percent contribution of the seasonal component. Each descriptive seasonal analysis was conducted twice, once under the additive assumption of independent components, and once under the multiplicative assumption of dependent components (see Appendix 1).²⁸

A final, but important, piece of information in the descriptive seasonal analysis results in tables C through F is that those analyses with a significant F of moving seasonality are starred. When a significant F of moving seasonality occurs, the results of the seasonal analysis are not trustworthy, and should be ignored. If the analysis under either the additive or multiplicative assumption, but not both, has a significant F of moving seasonality, use the results of the other analysis.

Index Robbery

None of the 10 Illinois (non-Chicago) jurisdictions for which index robbery could be analyzed (see Table C) had significant seasonal fluctuation according to the Plewes criteria.²⁹ in only one jurisdiction was the contribution of the seasonal component over 40 percent; in Elgin (multiplicative assumption) it was 47 percent. However, the F value for Elgin robbery was relatively low. In contrast, firearm robbery and strongarm robbery in total Illinois (non-Chicago) showed a high seasonal contribution and a relatively high F value. However, Index robbery with a knife or another weapon showed no evidence of seasonal fluctuation, either in total Illinois (non-Chicago).

Thus, robbery was not seasonal in any individual jurisdiction, according to the descriptive seasonal analysis. However, two types of robbery--firearm robbery and strongarm robbery--showed signs of seasonal fluctuation in Illinois (non-Chicago).

1

Index Aggravated Assault

None of the 12 Illinois (non-Chicago) jurisdictions for which index aggravated assault could be analyzed (see Table D) contained a significant amount of seasonality according to the Plewes criteria, although Decatur, Peoria, and Springfield had seasonal contributions of at least 40 percent.³⁰ In the Decatur additive adjustment, the seasonal contribution was 40 percent, in the Peoria multiplicative adjustment, it was 44 percent, and in the Springfield multiplicative adjustment, it was 40 percent. In addition, the stable seasonality F values for these three jurisdictions were relatively high for aggravated assault, ranging from 8.3 in Decatur to 14.5 in Peoria.³¹ This suggests that these aggravated assault series may contain some seasonal fluctuation.

³⁰The significant moving seasonality F values for Cicero and Springfield, and non-Chicago firearm, knife, and other-weapon Index aggravated assault, additive adjustment, indicate that the additive results are not trustworthy and that, therefore, the multiplicative results should be used. Elgin had significant moving seasonality F values under both the additive and the multiplicative assumption. This suggests a problem with the data (see "Is Crime Predictable?--Index Aggravated Assault," page 53).

³¹Decatur had an F of 7.3 under the multiplicative assumption, but because the F was higher under the additive assumption, we assumed that the additive assumption was correct. Thus the best F for Decatur is 8.3.

²⁸Under the additive assumption, the three components are assumed to be independent; under the multiplicative assumption, they are assumed to be dependent (see Block, 1984b).

²⁹The significant moving seasonality F for Rockford Index robbery and Chicago firearm robbery, additive adjustment, indicates that the results of the multiplicative adjustment (which does not have a significant moving seasonality F) should be used.

In contrast, the aggregate total of all Illinois (non-Chicago) Index aggravated assault showed a high seasonal contribution for every weapon type--from 41 percent for assault with a knife (additive adjustment), to 60 percent for other-weapon assault (additive adjustment). In fact, the total Illinois (non-Chicago) other weapon series comes close to meeting the Plewes criteria. In Chicago, the seasonal contributions are not as high, but again, the contribution for other-weapon assault is highest--52 percent in the multiplicative adjustment.

Table C. Index Robbery Seasonality Analysis: 1972-1983

	Addit	lve Assum	nption		Multipli	cative A	ssumption
Jurisdiction	Stable <u>F value</u>		ibution Irreg.		Stable <u>F value</u>		ibution Irreg.
Arlington Heights ^a					Z	ero Obse	ervations
Aurora	2.6	21%	75%		2.9	23%	75%
Cicero	1.4	20	80		2	ero Obse	ervations
Decatur	2.8	20	80		2.5	8	92
Des Plaines ^a					2	ero Obse	ervations
Elgin	2.9	40	59		3.1	47	53
Evanston	2.0	26	73		1.6	22	77
Joliet	1.5	19	81		1.2	12	88
Peoria	6.8	29	68		6.3	24	74
Quincya				ц. ¹	2	ero Obse	rvations
Rockford	7.5*	28×	72ª		6.8	27	73
Rock Island	2.1	21	79		1.9	21	79
Skokie ^a		•			Z	ero Obse	ervations
Springfield	б.б	32	66		7.1	32	67
Chicago**							
Firearm	9.5*	34*	64*		11.6	31	68
Knife	4.2	25	75		4.2	1.7	83
Other Weapon	5.0	21	79		5.1	15	85
Strongarm	б.0	21	79		6.0	19	81
Non-Chicago**							
Firearm	22.3	54	45		22.8	59	40
Knife	2.3	23	77		2.3	26	74
Other Weapon	2.9	18	81		3.0	17	83
Strongarm	15.6	40	59		17.1	42	58

^aNot analyzed because mean number of crimes per month was less than five (see Table B). ^{*}F value of moving seasonality greater than or equal to 2.41, indicating that this adjustment is not trustworthy. ^{**}Years 1975-1983 analyzed.

Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

Page 33

Table D. Index Aggravated Assault Seasonality Analysis: 1972-1983

Additive Assumption

Multiplicative Assumption

营业

Jurisdiction	Stable <u>F value</u>		ibution Irrea.	Stable <u>F value</u>		ibution Irreg.
Arlington Heights ^a				7	aro Obse	rvations
Aurora	3.6	31%	68%	4.0	32%	68%
Cicero	1.4*	18*	78*		and the second second	rvations
Decatur	8.3	40	58	7.3	32	68
Des Plaines ^a						rvations
Elgin	5.2*	28*	71*	4.9*	25*	75*
Evanston	5.7	21	79	6.8	30	70
Joliet	2.9	23	74	1.8	26	72
Peoria	14.1	41	58	14.5	44	55
Quincy	1.3	19	81			rvations
Rockford	6.0	21	78	5.7	16	83
Rock Island	4,4	25	75			rvations
	3.3	23	73	and the second	ero ubse 22	
Skokie		20 41=	57×	3.0		77
Springfield	10.2-	41-	5/*	10.9	40	58
Chicago**			80			
Firearm	17.9	40	59	14.7	38	62
Knife	11.9	32	67	11.2	29	71
Other Weapon	27.7	49	51	26.0	52	47
Hands, Feet, etc.	4.5	22	77	5.1	22	77
Non-Chicago**						
Firearm	20.0*	49*	49×	21.4	48	50
Knife	15.0*	41*	56×	17.5	42	56
Other Weapon	45.4*	б0*	39*	54.8	60	40
Hands, Feet, etc.	17.3	42	55	20.7	42	56
timitmal Lands Can.						

^aNot analyzed because mean number of crimes per month was less than five.

*F value of moving seasonality greater than or equal to 2.41, indicating that this adjustment is not trustworthy.

**Years 1974-1983 analyzed.

Index Burglary

.

None of the 14 index burglary series (see Table E) was significantly seasonal according to the Plewes criteria.³² The highest percent contribution of the seasonal component was in Rockford, with 46 or 47 percent. Since Rockford's stable seasonality F value was also high (21.6), Rockford burglary may fluctuate with the seasons. One other jurisdiction, Rock Island, had a high seasonal contribution (42 percent), but its stable seasonality F value was only 7.6. On the other hand, burglary in Peoria and Skokie had both relatively high seasonal contributions (38 and 34 percent, respectively) and relatively high F values (13.2 and 13.1, respectively), suggesting that some seasonal fluctuation was present.³³

Table E. Index Burglary Seasonality Analysis: 1972	12-1983
--	---------

	Addit	lve Assum	nption		Multipli	cative A	ssumption
Jurisdiction	Stable <u>F value</u>	% Contr Season	ibution Irrea.		Stable <u>F value</u>	% Contr Season	
Arlington Heights	8.8	28%	71%		8.5	24%	76%
Aurora	3.7*	23*	73*		4.0*	21*	76 *
Cicero	1.0	16	83		1.3	2	98
Decatur	3.4	22	77		3.0	21	77
Des Plaines	6.1	29	70		6.2	29	70
Elgin	2.6	30	67		3.0	30	66
Evanston	6.2*	32*	66*		5.7	27	69
Joliet	7.7	22	75	1	8.4	27	69
Peoria ·	13.2	-38	60		12.9	39	60
Quincy	2.5	24	72		2.3	24	72
Rockford	21.6	46	51		19.0	47	51
Rock Island	7.4*	33*	63*		7.6	42	55
Skokie	13.1	34	64		13.1	32	66
Springfield	1.5	20	80		1.2	19	77

*Moving seasonal F value greater than or equal to 2.41. This indicates that the results of this adjustment are not trustworthy and should be ignored.

³²The significant moving seasonality F values for Evanston and Rock Island Index burglary, additive adjustment, indicate that the additive results are not trustworthy and that the multiplicative results should be used. Aurora had significant moving seasonality F values under both the additive and the multiplicative assumption. This indicates a problem with the data. ³³Because the additive F value was higher (13.2), the additive assumption was used here for Peoria. With the additive assumption, the seasonal contribution is 38 percent.

Index Larceny/Theft

Index larceny/theft (see Table F) showed the most seasonal fluctuation of the four Index crimes analyzed in the descriptive seasonal analysis.³⁴ The only larceny/theft series that showed no sign of seasonal fluctuation was Cicero ³⁵ Although none of the 14 jurisdictions was significantly seasonal according to the Plewes criteria, nine had a seasonal contribution higher than 40 percent-Arlington Heights, Decatur, Des Plaines, Elgin, Evanston, Joliet, Peoria, Rockford, and Springfield.³⁶ The highest seasonal contribution was in Rockford, which had 67 percent. All of the larceny/theft series except Cicero had a stable F higher than 10.0, and eight of the 14 had values higher than 20.0.³⁷

				1			
	Addit	ive Assum	ption	Multipli	cative A	ssumptio	n
Jurisdiction	Stable <u>F value</u>	<u>% Contr</u> Season		 Stable <u>F value</u>		ibution Irreg.	
Arlington Heights	24.2	50%	50%	24.8	42%	57%	
Aurora	49.2*	60*	38*	42.7*	60×	38*	
Cicero	3.7	19	78	2.6	9	90	
Decatur	43.8	52	46	46.3	52	47	
Des Plaines	23.3	44	56	23.6	43	57	
Elgin	19.4	53	46	20.1	53	46	
Evanston	20.6	52	48	20.7	60	40	
Joliet	16.1	52	45	17.3	55	43	
Peoria	21.5	43	57	25.3	35	64	
Quincy	10.5	35	63	11.4	36	61	
Rockford	56.0	67	32	51.5	64	35	
Rock Island	- 11.1	27	71	11.7	34	64	
Skokie	14.9	37	62	14.1	35	65	
Springfield	34.2	50	46	29.2×	46*	50*	

Table F. Index Larceny/Theft Seasonality Analysis: 1972-1983

*Moving seasonal F value greater than or equal to 2.41. This indicates that the results of this adjustment are not trustworthy and should be ignored.

³⁴This is consistent with the findings of Block (1984a:25-28).

³⁵ARIMA analysis indicates that Cicero Index larceny/theft was not seasonal before 1978, but may have become seasonal in the later years (see Figure 11).

³⁶Aurora had significant F values for moving seasonality under both the additive and the multiplicative assumption. This indicates that the Aurora X-11 results cannot be trusted. Therefore, Aurora is not included in this list. Burglary in Aurora had the same problem; thus seasonal fluctuation of burglary and larceny/theft possibly changed over time in Aurora.

³⁷Because both of Aurora's adjustments had a significant F of moving seasonality, neither can be used here.

Summary

Not one of these offense series contains enough seasonal fluctuation so that it meets the Plewes criteria for seasonality. However, a number of them had high seasonal contributions and stable F values, so that the presence of some seasonal fluctuation was a reasonable conclusion. This was especially true for Index larceny/theft, in which nine of the 14 jurisdictions had some indication of seasonality.

There is considerable variation in seasonal fluctuation from jurisdiction to jurisdiction for the same type of crime. The F of stable seasonality for Index larceny/theft, for example, varies from 3.7 in Cicero to 56.0 in Rockford (see Table F). The other Index crimes also vary widely in their F values. The stable F value for Index robbery (see Table C) varies from 1.4 (Cicero) to 22.8 (Illinois non-Chicago firearm); for Index aggravated assault (see Table D), it varies from 1.3 (Quincy) to 54.8 (Illinois non-Chicago other weapon); for Index burglary (see Table E), it varies from 1.3 (Cicero) to 21.6 (Rockford). In general, crime in some jurisdictions tends to fluctuate with the seasons, regardless of the type of crime, while crime in other jurisdictions does not.

This variation among jurisdictions in the amount of seasonal fluctuation in officially recorded criminal offenses may be evidence of variation from jurisdiction to jurisdiction in crime measurement. Block (1984a) argues that crime does not necessarily *occur* in seasonal patterns, but becomes *officially known to the police* in seasonal patterns. In other words, victum reporting practices and police recording practices—in some jurisdictions but not all—have the unintended effect of being more inclusive in some months (usually the summer) than in others. Thus, seasonality of crime within a jurisdiction may have more to do with the police department's data administration practices than with actual crime patterns.

The descriptive seasonal analysis discussed in this section is based on a different definition of seasonality than the ARIMA modeling method. The Plewes criteria are relatively conservative; they look for strong, consistent seasonal fluctuations. ARIMA models may sometimes include very small seasonal relationships, if by including them, the predictive accuracy is improved. Thus, even though none of these crimes was seasonal according to descriptive seasonal analysis, it is possible that the best ARIMA model may contain a seasonal term.

Discussion

This descriptive analysis of patterns of change over time was the basis of the unexpected assessment of time series data quality, which became a methodological goal of the Predic-tability Project. The simple description of each time series uncovered that some could not be analyzed (for example, Berwyn) and others could be analyzed only by some correction of the data (see footnotes to tables H, J, L and N).

Another indicator of data quality is that so many of these offense series contain significant moving seasonality. In previous analysis of numerous crime data series (Block, 1984a), the Authority found that moving seasonality was very unusual, and that, if moving seasonality did occur, it almost never occurred under both the additive and the multiplicative assumption, as happened with Aurora index burglary and larceny/theft and Elgin index aggravated assault. Moving seasonality may indicate some discontinuity or sudden change in data definition that violates the basic assumptions of descriptive seasonal analysis, and also of ARIMA modeling.

In addition to the discovery of missing or obviously incorrect observations, the initial descriptive analysis also pointed out characteristics of each time series that would affect later

ARIMA modeling. Discontinuities in the data were found, such as an increase or decrease after 1973, or the obvious changes in Rock Island Index aggravated assault after 1981, Decatur Index burglary after 1981, Evanston Index burglary after 1978, Rock Island Index burglary after 1978, or Cicero index larceny/theft after 1977.

ġ.

Is Crime Predictable?

Predictability by Type of Crime

In this section, the question, "Is crime predictable?" is answered. For each index crime, we first discuss whether the crime was predictable by the yearly and the monthly criteria for ac-curacy in 1982 and 1983.³⁸ Second, we discuss the most common types of ARIMA model for each index crime.

These analyses were done for four index crimes and 14 jurisdictions, except in instances where there were too few offenses in the average month (five or fewer) for ARIMA analysis to be possible (see Table B). In addition, as part of the Chicago intervention Analysis, predictability analyses were done for four types of robbery and four types of aggravated assault in Chicago and in total Illinois (non-Chicago). The total Illinois (non-Chicago) results are presented here, but not the Chicago results because 1983 was not expected to be predictable in Chicago. Predictability of Chicago Index robbery and Index aggravated assault will be discussed in the section, "Chicago Intervention Analysis" (page 115).

Index Robbery

The list below summarizes the results of the analysis of predictability of Index robbery in each of the 10 jurisdictions that had enough offenses per month for analysis and of the four weapon types of Index robbery in total Illinois (non-Chicago).³⁹ The list below includes, for each Index robbery series, the best-fitting type of ARIMA model (p,d,q)(Sp,Sd,Sq).

Models Meeting Yearly but not Monthly Criteria

	(p,d,q) (Sp,Sd,Sq)
Aurora	(2,1,0)(1,0,0)
Cicero	(1,0,0)(0,0,0)
Elgin (1975-1983)	(1,0,0)(1,0,0)
Evanston	(0,1,1)(0,0,0)
Rockford	(2,0,0)(0,1,1)
Springfield	(1,0,0)(1,0,0)

³⁸Predictability for 1981 was also calculated. The results do not appear in the tables in this section, but are discussed in the narrative when applicable.

³⁹The Chicago findings are not included here, but are discussed later in this report.

Serendipitous Intervention

Decatur (1982)	(0,1,2)(0,0,0)
Joliet (1982 & 1983)	(0,0,2)(0,0,1)
Peoria (1983)	(1,0,0)(0,1,1)
Rock Island (1982)	(0,1,1)(0,0,0)

Results for Total Illinois (non-Chicago)

Successful Predictions

Knife	(2,1,0)(1,0,0)
Other Weapon	(1,0,0)(0,0,0)
Strongarm	(0,1,2)(0,1,1)

Serendipitous Intervention

Firearm (1983) $(0,1,1)(0,1,1)$	
	•
	1

The robbery series in this list are categorized according to their degree of predictability for the total year and the average month of 1982 and 1983 with the year-ahead method as given in Table G. The criteria for a successful predictive model is very generous --accuracy within 20 percent for the total year and 30 percent for the average month, for both years. In cases where serendipitous intervention was discovered in 1982 or 1983, ARIMA modeling and prediction was done for 1981.⁴⁰ For Joliet, ARIMA modeling and prediction were done for 1980 and 1981. If a model did not successfully predict at least two years, it would have been categorized as a poor predictive model here.

Predictability

None of the Index robbery local-level time series was predictable by both the yearly and monthly criteria in both 1982 and 1983. Robbery was predictable for the total years 1982 and 1983, though not on a monthly basis, in six of the 10 jurisdictions (Aurora, Cicero, Elgin, Evanston, Rockford, and Springfield). In contrast, all four weapon types of total Illinois (non-Chicago) Index robbery were highly predictable (see Table G).⁴¹

The ability to predict the year but not the months may be related to the number of observations in each month. In the six local-level index robbery time series in which both years were predictable but the average month was not, the number of index robberies known to the police per month (see Table B) ranges from seven in Elgin to 23 in Springfield. Such a low number of crimes means that a 30 percent error in any given month would be relatively likely. For example, Aurora averaged 15 index robberies per month, so that an error of five either way would exceed the 30 percent criterion. In comparison, all the total Illinois (non-Chicago) index robbery time series contained higher numbers in the average month, and it was possible to

Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

Page 40

 ⁴⁰Decatur met yearly but not monthly criteria in 1981 and 1983, but also had a possible intervention in 1982.
⁴¹Firearm robbery in Illinois (non-Chicago) was highly predictable in 1981 and 1982, although the drop in 1983 was not accurately predicted (see "Chicago Intervention Analysis," page 115).

predict the months more precisely.42

Support for the argument that predictive accuracy is related to the number of observations is found in a detailed look at the predictability of Index robbery in each jurisdiction in which the year was accurately predicted, but not the average month in the largest of these six jurisdictions--Springfield with 23 and Rockford with 28 Index robberies per month on the average (see Table B)-- the ARIMA model predicted the average month accurately in three of the four possible comparisons.⁴³ In both jurisdictions, the error of the 1982 prediction for the average month (year-ahead method) was only slightly over the criterion (31 percent in Rockford and 32 percent in Springfield). In contrast, Elgin, which averaged only seven Index robberies per month, did not reach the monthly predictability criterion in either year or by either method. Aurora, Cicero, and Evanston, with an intermediate number of Index robberies in the average month (15, 12, and 16, respectively), each met the monthly predictability criterion in two of the four possible comparisons. This may indicate that Index robbery is predictable both yearly and monthly in those jurisdictions where the number of occurrences in the average month exceeds 20 or 30, but predictable only yearly in those jurisdictions where the number per month is fewer.

Because the total of all Illinois (non-Chicago) robberies is much higher per month than any individual jurisdiction (see note 42), it might be expected that predictions would be more accurate. In fact, 1982 predictions were very accurate. For every weapon type, 1982 robberies were predicted within 10 percent with the year-ahead method. In 1983, however, only the prediction for strongarm robbery was within 10 percent. Actual firearm robbery offenses were 23 percent higher than the prediction, and actual knife and other-weapon robbery offenses were respectively 10 percent and 17 percent lower than the predictions. For both 1982 and 1983, all monthly predictions were within 30 percent. The worst monthly predictions, for other-weapon robbery, may reflect the relatively low numbers for that weapon type (34 per month).

In the other four jurisdictions (Decatur, Joliet, Peoria, and Rock Island), and in total Illinois (non-Chicago) Index firearm robbery, robbery was predictable in 1981, 1982, or 1983, but not in all years. In each jurisdiction, predictability results suggest that the level of Index robbery was unusually low in the year or years that could not be predicted successfully. At the same time, however, the total number of Index firearm robberies in Illinois (non-Chicago) increased in 1983. Thus, the drop in total Index robbery in Decatur, Joliet, Peoria, and Rock Island seems to have been contrary to an increase in one kind of robbery for the total state.

⁴²The mean number per month over the period 1975 to 1983 was 261 for firearm robbery, 62 for knife robbery, 34 for other-weapon robbery, and 295 for strongarm robbery.

⁴³The four possible comparisons in Table G are year -ahead 1982 and 1983 and intervention 1982 and 1983.

Table G. Percent Error of Predictions: Robbery

		Year-Ahe	ad Metho	d	I	ntervent	ion Meth	bor
	1982 Total	1983 Total	1982 Avg.	1983 Avg	1982 Total	1983 Total	1982 Avg	1983 Avg.
Jurisdiction	Year	Year	Month	Month	Year	Year	Month	Month
Arlington Heights ^a								
Aurora	6%*	10%*	23%*	54%	2%*	6%×	28%*	57%
Cicero	14*	6*	40	15*	12*	6*	41	14*
Decatur ^b	37	18*	65	54	0*	13*	30*	37
Des Plaines ^a						• •		
Elgin	14*	6*	47	34	11*	4=	46	37
Evanston	5× -	12*	47	27*	7=	2*	41	29*
Joliet ^c	99	74	m	86	2*	- 6*	31	36
Peoriad]*.	56	26*	69	1*	35	27*	49
Quincy ^a								
Rock Island ^e	71	10*	111	23*	30	8*	72	22*
Rockford	11*	16*	31	21*	* 8*	6*	30*	16*
Skokie ^a		and the second			-	- -		
Springfield	7*	5*	32	22*	4*	2*	27*	21*
								- · .
Chicago								
Firearm	17*	8*	26*	11 * -	11=	4=	24*	1 *
Knife ^f	9*	20*	29*	26*	7×	19×	-28*	26*
Other Weapon	2*	38	20*	36	3*	28	18=	28*
Strongarm	11*	42	18*	39	7*	27	20-	26*
Non-Chicago								
Firearm ⁹	9*	23	13*	24*	0*	0*	11*	14*
Knife	1=	10*	14=	14*	2 [*]	2*	15=	1*
Other Weapon	4=	17*	29*	27*	3*	10*	22*	23*
Strongarm	7*]#	11*	12*	2*	3*	6*	12*

*Meets predictability criteria: 20 percent for total year predictions, 30 percent for average month predictions.

^aNot analyzed because average number of crimes per month was less than five (see Table B).

^bPredictions for 1981 in Decatur, using the same ARIMA model (0,1,2)(0,0,0), were much better than in 1982--within 8 percent for the year and 31 percent for the average month (year-ahead method). This suggests that 1982 was unusually low.

^CPredictions for 1981 in Joliet, using the same ARIMA model (0,0,2)(0,0,1), were much better--within 7 percent for the yearahead method and 12 percent for the intervention method. Year-ahead predictions for 1980 were within 14 percent for the year and 27 percent for the average month. The bad predictions in 1982 and 1983 suggest interventions in both years.

^din Peoria, the same ARIMA model (1,0,0)(0,1,1) predicted 1981 within 10 percent and the average 1981 month within 18 percent (year-ahead method).

^ePredictions for 1981 in Rock Island, using the same ARIMA model (0,1,1)(0,0,0), were much better than predictions in 1982--within 10 percent with the year-ahead method and within 4 percent with the intervention method. This suggests that 1982 was an exceptionally low year for Index robbery in Rock Island.

[†]Based on an ARIMA model (0,0,0)(1,0,0) (see Table H).

9Predictions for 1981 were 1.5 percent too high for the year and 10 percent wrong for the average month (year-ahead).

Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

Page 42

Decatur

Although the best pattern description for Decatur robbery (see Figure 13) shows that the typical number of offenses increased steadily from 1974 through 1983, the ARIMA analysis indicates that the number declined from October 1981 to July 1982. All of the monthly predictions for this period were too high, and the total 1982 prediction (year-ahead method) was 37 percent higher than the actual number. In contrast to the low number of robberies in these 10 months, the number in the two following months, August and September 1982, was extremely high. However, even though the level of robbery appeared to fall in these 10 months, the best ARIMA model did not change. The same ARIMA model (0,1,2)(0,0,0) produced an almost perfect prediction of 1982, measured by the intervention method (see Table G). The 1983 prediction was within the 20 percent criterion, but was not particularly accurate (within 18 percent with the year-ahead method and 13 percent with the intervention method). This was partly due to another extreme month. In December, there were only five offenses, compared to the prediction of 18.2. Overall, the general impression of Decatur robbery in this analysis is that it contains a number of extremely high or low months, and is not very predictable.

Rock Island

The pattern of Rock Island Index robbery (see Figure 14) was also very erratic, especially in the years 1972 through 1981. An ARIMA model (0,1,1)(0,0,0) was a good statistical fit for this period, but the predictions this model generated were usually poor. As can be seen in the graph, high or low extreme months were frequent from 1972 to 1981. For example, the prediction for the year 1980 was 41 percent too high, and the prediction for the average 1980 month was in error by 72 percent (year-ahead method). One of the monthly predictions in 1980 was 357 percent wrong. In 1981, the prediction of the total year was much more accurate, within 10 percent, but the average error for 1981 months was 49 percent. Although the extreme number of offenses in August 1981 accounted for part of this inaccuracy, the predictions for other 1981 months were also in error, by as much as 181 percent. These large predictive errors in 1980 and 1981 do not seem to be the result of an intervention (a change in level or ARIMA model), but simply the result of erratic change from month to month that was not explained by the best model. In other words, Rock Island robbery seems to have been unpredictable during this period.

In contrast, the month-to-month pattern of Rock Island robbery seems to have become less erratic and more predictable in 1982 and 1983. There was a drop in 1982, which can be seen in Figure 14, and which was not predicted by the ARIMA model. However, in 1983 there was no extreme month, and the degree of predictability was very high, higher than in any other year analyzed. Thus, the years up to 1981 were erratic and therefore unpredictable, the year 1982 was unusually low and was therefore not accurately predicted, but 1983 was accurately predicted. If such an orderly month-to-month fluctuation continues, index robbery will be predictable in Rock Island in the future.

Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

Page 43





Source: Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority Version of I-UCA Data





Source: ICJIA version of Illinois Dept. of State Police UCR Data

Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

Peoria

The drop in 1983 in Peoria Index robbery was found in the pattern description graph (see Figure 15), as well as in the ARIMA analysis. The ARIMA model for Peoria Index robbery predicted the year 1981 within 10 percent, the average 1981 month within 18 percent, the year 1982 within 1 percent, and the average 1982 month within 26 percent (year-ahead method). Thus, if we were to consider only the years 1981 and 1982, Peoria would be the only individual jurisdiction in which index robbery met both the yearly and the monthly predictability criteria. One reason for this may be that, of all the jurisdictions other than Chicago, Peoria had the most index robbery offenses in the average month (30) (see Table B).

On the other hand, the 1983 prediction for Peoria Index robbery with the same ARIMA model (1,0,0)(0,1,1) was 56 percent too high, and the prediction for the average 1983 month was 69 percent wrong. Since the predictions calculated with the intervention method were also inaccurate for 1983 (see Table G), and since the ARIMA model is statistically good by the tests in Appendix 1 for the 1972–1980, 1972–1981, and 1972–1982 time periods, but not as good for the 1972–1983 time period, it is possible that the best model for Index robbery may have changed in 1983.⁴⁴ In any case, the level of robbery seems to have dropped in 1983 in Peoria.

Total Illinois (non-Chicago) Firearm Robbery

The number of Index firearm robbery offenses per month in total Illinois (non-Chicago) dropped steadily from a peak in 1979 to 1983 (see Figure 16). However, ARIMA analysis indicates that this steep decline may have stopped in mid-1983. Monthly predictions for July to December 1983 are all too low, by as much as 47 percent. In total, the number of firearm robbery offenses in 1983 was 2,406, but the predicted number was only 1,842, which is 23 percent too low. In contrast, the same model predicted the year 1981 within 2 percent and 1982 within 9 percent (year-ahead method). Also, the intervention method prediction for 1983 was very accurate, with an error of only 0.07 percent. Therefore, the ARIMA model appears to have remained the same, but the number of firearm robberies appears to have stopped declining, and leveled off, in the second half of 1983.

Joliet

In Joliet Index robbery (see Figure 17), the ARIMA analysis discovered drops in 1982 and in 1983. Predictions for both 1982 and 1983 were much higher than the actual numbers, 99 percent in 1982 and 74 percent in 1983 (year-ahead method). The predictions of the average month were even worse (errors of 111 percent in 1982 and 86 percent in 1983). However, predictions of 1981, using the same ARIMA model, were very good, within 7 percent (year-ahead method) and 12 percent (intervention method). Also, the 1980 prediction with the same model was accurate within 14 percent. The high degree of accuracy of the 1982 and 1983 yearly predictions with the intervention method (2 percent high and 8 percent high, respective-iy) suggests that the change in both years was a decrease in level, not a change in the best-fitting ARIMA model. This decrease in 1982 and 1983 can be seen in the pattern description graph of Joliet index robbery, which shows a peak at the beginning of 1981 followed by a rapid decline.

 $^{^{44}}$ There is conflicting evidence about a change in the ARIMA model for Peoria Index robbery. An ARIMA (2,0,0)(0,1,1) model is a better fit statistically for the period 1972–1983 than the ARIMA model (1,0,0)(0,1,1) in Table H. However, the (2,0,0)(0,1,1) model does not generate 1983 predictions (either method) that are any more accurate than (1,0,0)(0,1,1).





Figure 16. Patterns of Change Over Time in Illinois (non-Chicago) Index Firearm Robbery, 1975-1983





Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

Page 46



Figure 17. Patterns of Change Over Time in Joliet Index Robbery, 1972-1983

Months, January 1972 through December 1983 Source: Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority Version of I-UCA Date

Summary

= 71

Thus, in four Illinois jurisdictions, the ARIMA predictions offer some evidence that a precipitous drop in the number of Index robberies known to the police occurred in 1982 or 1983. In other words, an intervention of some kind may have occurred in Index robbery in these four jurisdictions.⁴⁵ This is not, of course, experimental evidence of a time series intervention, because no intervention had been hypothesized in advance. The lack of predictive accuracy in one or two years does not tell us, in itself, whether there was an actual change in level or ARIMA model in that year, or whether robbery in that jurisdiction is simply unpredictable. The preponderance of evidence from both ARIMA analysis and pattern description suggests that robbery in Decatur was unpredictable. On the other hand, Rock Island robbery appears to have dropped in 1982, Peoria robbery to have dropped in 1983, and Joliet robbery to have dropped in 1982 and remained low in 1983. In contrast, the steady drop in total illinois (non-Chicago) firearm robbery may have reversed at the end of 1983.

⁴⁵As discussed earlier, Elgin (see Figure 10) may also have experienced a change or intervention, but in 1974. For this reason, the Elgin ARIMA model (see Table H) is based on data from 1975 to 1983.

Best ARIMA Models for Predicting Index Robbery

Is there a particular class of ARIMA model that seems to provide a better fit for index robbery than others? Table H lists the ARIMA model type for each index robbery series, and includes the parameters (estimated weights) for each term. For example, the Aurora model (2,1,0)(1,0,0) contains a seasonal autoregressive term, which means that each observation is related to the observation 12 months ago. The best estimate of the strength of this relationship (see under "Seasonal Autoregressive Estimate" in Table H) is .15, the low estimate is -.03, and the high estimate is .32. This means that the strength of the AR(12) effect is very small and may even be zero.⁴⁶ Thus, the Aurora model may be compared to other models containing an AR(12) term, such as Elgin, Springfield, and many of the Chicago and Illinois (non-Chicago) robbery series.

What similarities are there among these index robbery ARIMA models? Very few of the models are exactly the same, if we consider both the serial part of the model (p,d,q) and the seasonal part (Sp,Sd,Sq) simultaneously. However, there are some similarities if we consider the two parts separately.

Serial Relationships

The most common model for serial relationships (p,d,q) in the 10 Illinois (non-Chicago) jurisdictions was ARIMA (1,0,0)(Sp,Sd,Sq), which described Cicero, Elgin, Peoria, and Springfield.⁴⁷ ARIMA (1,0,0)(Sp,Sd,Sq) is a very simple serial model that says that each observation is related to the preceeding observation. In Cicero and Elgin, this relationship was small (.15 and .25, respectively), and each of the low estimates reach or approach zero. In contrast, the estimated weight of the AR(1) relationship in Peoria and Springfield was moderate (.43 in Peoria and .40 in Springfield). In addition, the model for Index robbery in Rockford, ARIMA (2,0,0)(Sp,Sd,Sq), was similar, except that there were two autoregressive terms instead of only one. Both AR(1) and AR(2) weights were moderately high, indicating that Peoria, Springfield, and Rockford had similar serial terms in Index robbery ARIMA models.

The models of Evanston and Rock Island, ARIMA (0,1,1)(0,0,0), were similar to each other in both serial and seasonal terms. Both models thus required first differencing and a moving average term. The weights of the moving average terms (.75 and .81) were close to each other, and in fact, the estimates plus and minus two standard errors overlap each other. This means that, from the standpoint of an ARIMA model, the patterns over time in Index robbery in Rock Island and Evanston were essentially the same. In addition, the Peoria and Rockford ARIMA models were very similar to each other. If the Peoria model were actually ARIMA (2,0,0)(0,1,1) as analysis suggested may be the case (see note 44), models for the two jurisdictions would be the same.

The four total illinois (non-Chicago) index robbery series had models that were not unique, but similar to the best models in individual jurisdictions. The serial model for other-weapon robbery was the same ARIMA model (1,0,0)(Sp,Sd,Sq) as in Cicero, Elgin, Peoria, and Springfield, and the serial model for firearm robbery was the same ARIMA model (0,1,1)(Sp,Sd,Sq) as in Rock Island and Evanston. The ARIMA model (2,1,0)(1,0,0) for total II-linois (non-Chicago) knife robbery was the same as the model for Aurora robbery, and the serial model (0,1,2)(Sp,Sd,Sq) for total Illinois (non-Chicago) strongarm robbery was the same as the model for Decatur.

⁴⁶Although one criterion for model adequacy (see Appendix 1) was that the parameter estimate not cross zero plus or minus two standard errors, in this case, an ARIMA (2,1,0)(1,0,0) model with a very small AR(12) weight was better by other criteria than alternative models.

⁴⁷The phrase ARIMA (1,0,0)(Sp,Sd,Sq) means that the (p,d,q) serial part of the ARIMA model is (1,0,0), but that the (Sp,Sd,Sq) seasonal part of the model could be anything.

It is interesting that the serial term for Chicago strongarm robbery before the hypothesized intervention in 1983 was similar to one of the two most common robbery models, (1,0,0)(Sp,Sd,Sq), and that the serial term after the intervention was similar to the other most common model (0,1,1)(Sp,Sd,Sq). The ARIMA models for the other Chicago robbery series, however, were more similar to each other than to models for the other Illinois jurisdictions.

Seasonal Relationships

These Index robbery time series show relatively little seasonal fluctuation in their ARIMA models. Five series--Cicero, Decatur, Evanston, Rock Island, and total Illinois (non-Chicago) robbery with another weapon-had no seasonal term (Sp,Sd,Sq) at all; in other words, the seasonal part of the model was ARIMA (p,d,q)(0,0,0). This agrees with the findings of the descriptive seasonal analysis (see Table C), where the F of Stable Seasonality was less than 3.0 in all cases.

Each of the best ARIMA models for four other jurisdictions--Aurora, Elgin, Joliet and Springfield--had an AR(12) or MA(12) seasonal term, but the estimated weights of these terms were small.⁴⁸ An ARIMA (p,d,q)(1,0,0) model was also the best fit for total Illinois (non-Chicago) knife robbery, but in this case the estimated weight of the seasonal AR (12) term was higher (.41).

In contrast, Peoria, Rockford, Chicago firearm robbery, total Illinois (non-Chicago) firearm robbery, and total Illinois (non-Chicago) strongarm robbery contained more seasonal fluctuation. Their models, ARIMA (p,d,q)(0,1,1), required seasonal differencing and an MA(12) term. Peoria and Rockford are the most populous non-Chicago jurisdictions in the study, and total IIlinois (non-Chicago) firearm robbery and strongarm robbery had many more crimes per month than the other two robbery types (see note 42). It is possible, therefore, that a seasonal ARIMA term of (p,d,q)(0,1,1) will appear only if the number of observations is large. On the other hand, even though each of the four Chicago Index robbery time series had many observations per month (see Table B), only one--firearm robbery--was modeled by ARIMA (p,d,q)(0,1,1) for the seasonal term. Thus, a high number of observations may = a necessary but not a sufficient condition for the (p,d,q)(0,1,1) model.

The other three Chicago index robbery time series, both before and after the hypothesized intervention in 1983, had the same seasonal term (p,d,q)(1,0,0) in the best ARIMA model, although the weight of this AR(12) term was usually very small. In addition, the best model for total Illinois (non-Chicago) knife robbery was also (p,d,q)(1,0,0). The fact that every ARIMA model for Chicago Index robbery, whatever the weapon type or time period, contained a seasonal term indicates that Chicago robbery fluctuated with the seasons, at least slightly.

Thus, the most common seasonal term in Illinois (non-Chicago) jurisdictions was no seasonal term, although a few jurisdictions had AR(12) or MA(12) models with very small estimated weights for the seasonal terms, and Peoria and Rockford had strong seasonal models. Also, the total Illinois (non-Chicago) type of robbery that had the fewest offenses in the average month--other-weapon robbery with 34 offenses per month--had no seasonal term in its best ARIMA model. In contrast, the best seasonal term in the two most populous jurisdic-tions and in the total Illinois (non-Chicago) robbery types with the most cases in the average month was either ARIMA (p,d,q)(0,1,1) or ARIMA (p,d,q)(0,1,1) or ARIMA (p,d,q)(0,1,0).

 48 The estimated weights are AR(1) = .15 for Aurora, AR(1) = .20 for Elgin, MA(1) = -.22 for Joliet, and AR(1) = .20 for Springfield (see Table H).

Table H. Index Robbery ARIMA Models, 1972-1983

	Model			regres stimat			ing Ave Estimat	-	Auto	Seasona Sregres Stimat	sive	Movi	Seasona Ing Ave Istimat	erage
Jurisdiction	(p.d.a) (Sp.Sd.Sa)	Mean	Low	Best	Hiah	Low	Best	High	Low	Best	High	Low	Best	High
Aurora	(2,1,0)(1,0,0)			62 28					03	.15	. 32	-		
Cicero	(1,0,0)(0,0,0)	11.9	02	, 15	. 32						-			
Decatur	(0,1,2)(0,0,0)				<u> </u>	.57 .03	. 73 . 20	. 89 . 37			ی اور			
Elgin 1975-1983	(1,0,0)(1,0,0)	6.8	. 06	. 25	.44	۰ ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰			. 18	. 20	.21			
Evanston	(0,1,1)(0,0,0)			· · · · · ·		.64	. 75	. 86			2 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1			
Joliet	(0,0,2)(0,0,1)	21.5			د ۱۹ <u>۹۵ ک</u> ۱۹۹۰ کارو		35 27				-	39	- 22	05
Peoria ^a	(1,0,0)(0,1,1)	• • •	.27	.43	.59					, 		. 84	89	.94
Rockford	(2,0,0)(0,1,1)		.14 .22	. 31 . 39	. 48 . 56							.83	. 88	.93
Rock Island	(0,1,1)(0,0,0)	, 2010 100 <mark> − −</mark> 100 10				.71	81	.91				1000 - 1000 1000 - 1000 - 10 00 1000 - 1000 - 1000 - 1000		1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 -
Springfield	(1,0,0)(1,0,0)	22.7	.24	.40	.56				. 05	. 20	. 35			-
Chicago Firearm ^p	(0,0,3)(0,1,1)				• 	61	zero zero 40					.80	.87	.94
Non-Chicago Firearm ^c	(0,1,1)(0,1,1)					.47	.62	. 78				. 79	.87	.95

1

	Mode1			regres stimat			ng Ave stimat		Auto	Seasona Pregres Estimat	sive	Movi	Seasona Ing Ave Stimat	rage
Jurisdiction	(p.d.a)(Sp.Sd.Sa)	Mean	LOW	Best	High	Low	Best	Hish	Low	Best	High	Low	Best	High
Chicago Knife														
1975-1982	(0,0,0)(1,0,0)	145.0							01	11	.24			
1975-1983	(3,0,0)(1,0,0)	149.2	09 03	.10	. 30 . 37				.14	.15	. 15			+ +
			.03	. 24	.44									
Non-Chicago Knife ^c	(2,1,0)(1,0,0)		79 56	61 38					.23	.41	. 59			
Chicago Other-Weapon ^c	(0,0,3)(1,0,0)	186.0				51 51 60		15 15 24	05	.14	. 33		الم یہ اللہ اللہ اللہ اللہ اللہ اللہ اللہ ال	
Non-Chicago Other-Weapon ^c	(1,0,0)(0,0,0)	34.3	.24	.42	.60				2 <u></u>				-	
Chicago Strongarm														
1975-1982	(1,0,0)(1,0,0)	539.1	13	. 33	.53				.02	.17	. 32		<u></u>	
1975-1983	(0,1,1)(1,0,0)					.41	. 58	.74	.14	. 34	. 55			
Non-Chicago Strongarm ^c	(0,1,2)(0,1,1)			-		. 31 . 02	.51 .22	. 71 . 41				.82	. 89	.96

^aData for August 1979 are missing, and the figure for September 1979 was about twice as high as other Septembers. This is true for every Index crime. For this analysis, one half of the September figure was used for August and September.

^bModel based on 1976-1983 data. MA(1) and MA(2) estimates crossed zero within two standard errors, and were set to zero in the final model. ^cModel based on 1975-1983 data.

Summary: Index Robbery

The degree of accuracy of yearly predictions for Index robbery in the 10 jurisdictions analyzed was fairly good. In seven of them, predictions for at least one year were accurate within 10 percent (year-ahead method). Analysis in four of the 10 suggested that an intervention may have occurred in 1982, 1983, or in both years. Even these four jurisdictions, however, had accurate predictions in other years. For example, the Peoria model predicted 1981 within 10 percent and 1982 within 1 percent. Although Index robbery was not predictable in all years in those jurisdictions, the analysis did reveal some interesting information--that robbery in certain years was much lower than its normal level. In contrast, total Illinois (non-Chicago) Index firearm robbery was slightly higher in 1983 than its normal level. .

Ľ.

۲.

In total Illinois (non-Chicago), the year-ahead predictions for strongarm robbery were within 10 percent in 1982 and 1983, and the predictions for firearm robbery were within 10 percent in 1981 and 1982. Predictions for knife robbery and other-weapon robbery were not, in general, as accurate, though they were within the 20 percent yearly and 30 percent monthly criteria. This may reflect the relatively low number of offenses per month in these two weapon types.

Predictive accuracy for the next year seems to be possible in Index robbery, but varies widely from jurisdiction to jurisdiction, and may also vary by weapon type. The most accurate 1982 and 1983 predictions were in Aurora and Springfield. In addition, Peoria predictions were very accurate in 1981 and 1982, but the drop in 1983 was not accurately predicted, and Rock Island predictions were within 10 percent in 1981 and 1983, but the drop in 1983 was not accurately predicted. No other jurisdiction had Index robbery predictions that came within at least 10 percent for at least two years. Thus, in general, index robbery is predictable in the to-tal year. However, in jurisdictions having fewer than 20 or 30 robberies per month, Index robbery is not predictable in the average month. The one jurisdiction in which Index robbery predictions were accurate both yearly and monthly for two years (1981 and 1982) was Peoria, which had 30 offenses per month.

in summary, the analysis found the following to be true for index robbery:

- The accuracy of Index robbery predictions varied widely from jurisdiction to jurisdiction.
- In many jurisdictions, index robbery was predictable for the next year, but not for the next month.
- The predictability of index robbery tended to be better in jurisdictions and robbery types with more offenses per month.
- Firearm robbery and strongarm robbery were the most predictable types of robbery in total Illinois (non-Chicago).
- The best model for index robbery depended on the number of offenses per month. For example, jurisdictions with more robberies were more likely to have a seasonal model.

Index Aggravated Assault

The list below summarizes the results of the analysis of predictability of Index aggravated assault in each of the jurisdictions that had enough offenses per month for analysis (11 of the 14 jurisdictions) and of predictability in the four weapon types of Index aggravated assault in total Illinois (non-Chicago)⁴⁹ Quincy, which did not have enough cases for the analysis of Index robbery, did have enough for the analysis of aggravated assault (six per month) (see Table B). Cicero and Rock Island met yearly but not monthly criteria; they also had a possible intervention. Since poor predictability was expected in Index aggravated assault in Chicago In-1983, the Chicago findings are not included here, but are discussed in the section, "Chicago Intervention Analysis." The list below also includes, for each Index aggravated assault series, the best-fitting type of ARIMA model (p,d,q)(Sp,Sd,Sq).

Successful Predictive Models

		(p,d,q) (Sp,Sd,Sq)
Evanston		(3,0,0)(0,1,1)
Joliet		(0,1,1)(0,0,0)
Peoria		(0,1,1)(2,0,0)
Rockford		(0,1,1)(0,1,1)
Springfield		(2,1,0)(2,0,0)

Models Meeting Yearly but not Monthly Criteria

Aurora			(0,1,1)(1,0,0)
Elgin		 1.	(0,0,2)(1,0,0)

Serendipitous Intervention

Cicero (1983)			(0,1,1)(0,0,0)
Quincy (1983)			(3,0,0)(0,0,0)
Rock Island (1972-1981)	'n	1	(0,1,1)(0,0,0)
(1972-1983)			(0,1,1)(0,0,1)

Poor Predictive Model

Decatur

(0,1,1)(0,1,1)

Results for Total Illinois (non-Chicago)

Successful Predictions

Firearm	(3,0,0)(0,1,1)
Knife	(1,0,0)(0,1,1)
Other Weapon	(1,0,0)(0,1,1)

D).

⁴⁹Although this predictive accuracy analysis was not done with Skokie, seasonality analysis was done (see Table

Serendipitous Intervention

Body-as-Weapon (1983)

(1,1,0)(0,1,1)

Predictability

The exact degree of predictability for each index aggravated assault time series, for the total year and the average month of 1982 and 1983, and for the year-ahead and intervention method, is given in Table I, and the overall results of the year-ahead predictive accuracy analysis are summarized in the list above. The criteria in this list for a successful predictive model are very generous--accuracy within 20 percent for the total year and 30 percent for the average month, for both years. One model, in Decatur, did not meet even these criteria, and is therefore categorized as a poor predictive model. Two models, in Aurora and Elgin, met the yearly but not the monthly criterion. In cases of a serendipitous intervention being discovered in 1982 or 1983, ARIMA modeling and prediction was done for 1981. For Cicero, it was done for 1980 and for 1981.⁵⁰

Predictability was somewhat more successful in index aggravated assault than in index robbery, perhaps because the average number of occurrences per month was higher in most jurisdictions. In five of the 11 Illinois (non-Chicago) jurisdictions in which ARIMA analysis could be done (Evanston, Joliet, Peoria, Rockford, and Springfield), Index assault was predictable with the year-ahead method for 1982 and 1983, for the average month as well as the total year. In Evanston, Joliet, and Rockford, both yearly predictions were accurate within 10 percent (see Table I). These five jurisdictions had relatively high numbers of assaults per month, ranging from 16 in Evanston to 89 in Peoria. In three of the four Illinois (non-Chicago) index aggravated assault time series, each of which had at least 250 offenses per month, the models also generated successful yearly and monthly predictions with the year-ahead method in both years, all within 10 percent for the year and 15 percent for the average month.⁵¹

Index assault in three jurisdictions--Aurora, Elgin, and Rock Island--was predictable in both 1982 and 1983, but not always in the average month. Because Aurora had 23 index assaults per month over the 12 years, and Elgin and Rock Island had 12 and 15, respectively, the lack of accuracy in monthly predictions could be due to low numbers. Compared to index robbery predictions, which were often based on even lower numbers, index aggravated assault predictions were better. In Aurora, the 1983 average month was predicted within 38 percent, and in Elgin it was predicted within 31 percent.⁵² In index robbery by comparison, the prediction for the average 1983 month was 54 percent wrong in Aurora and 34 percent wrong in Elgin.⁵³

⁵⁰Cicero and Rock Island met yearly but not monthly criteria for at least two years; they also had a possible intervention.

- ⁵¹The average number of offenses per month from 1974 to 1983 was 317 for firearm assault, 294 for knife assault, 285 for other-weapon assault, and 396 for body-as-weapon assault.
- ⁵²Rock Island was unusual, in that a change in model type may have occurred. See the following sections for details.
- ⁵³The significant moving seasonality under both the additive and the multiplicative assumption for Index aggravated assault in Elgin indicates a possible data quality problem. See "Descriptive Seasonal Analysis," page 31. Aurora burglary and larceny/theft, but not aggravated assault, had the same problem.

Table I. Percent Error of Predictions: Aggravated Assault

		Year-Ahe	ad Metho	d	Intervention Method					
	1982	1983	1982	1983	1982	1983	1982	1983		
	Total	Total	Avg.	Avg.	Total	Total	Avg.	Avg.		
Jurisdiction	Year	Year	Month	Month	<u>Year</u>	Year	Month	Month		
Arlington Heights ^a										
Aurora	12%*	13%*	30%*	38%	5%*	4%=	34%	36%		
Cicero ^b	14*	49	44	47	3*	8*	58	36		
Decatur ^c	50	12*	50	47	14*	12*	20*	34		
Des Plaines ^a										
Elgin ^d	10*] 7*	19*	31	20*	3*	23*	25*		
Evanston	6*	3*	25*	20*	2*	1=	27*	21=		
Joliet	5*	1*	22*	16*	1=	1=	21*	18*		
Peoria	14*	3*	18*	14=	2*	4*	15*	16*		
Quincy	5*	23	38	31	5*	13*	47	30*		
Rock Island ^e	11*	15*	29*	42	5*	8*	29*	41		
Rockford	2*	8*	22*	23*	0 * * 1	7*	17*	22*		
Skokie ^a										
Springfield	2*	15*	14*	25*	2*	4 *	13*	19*		
<u>Chicago</u>										
Firearm	16*	35	18*	31	2*	8*	17=	16*		
Knife ^f	10=	38	23*	37	12*	16*	1.4=	17*		
Other Weapon	5*	45	16*	38	0=	17*	19*	17*		
Hands, Feet, etc.	1*	36	27*	34	12*	15*	34	20*		
Non-Chicago							a da angla ang Angla ang angla a			
Firearm	5*	9*	10*	12*	2*	4 *	9×	8×		
Knife	3*	5*	6*	8*	7*	2*	7=	7 *		
Other Weapon	6*	8*	9*	11×11	alan ∖ ∎	3*	6*]] *		
Hands, Feet, etc.9	16*	29	16*	36	3*	8*	8*	13*		

"Meets predictability criteria: 20 percent for total year predictions, 30 percent for average month predictions.

^aNot analyzed because average number of crimes per month was less than five (see Table B). In Des Plaines, the mean overall number from 1972 to 1983 was 7.3 per month, but the mean from 1975 to 1983 was 5.0 per month. In Skokie, the mean from 1972 to 1981 was 6.3 per month, but the mean in 1982 and 1983 was 4.5 per month.

^bWith the same ARIMA model (0,1,1)(0,0,0), 1981 was predicted within 18 percent for the year and 30 percent for the average month (year-ahead method).

^CThe 1982 predicted monthly values for November and December 1982 were negative.

^dAn ARIMA model (0,0,2)(0,0,1) yielded better forecasts for 1982 but worse forecasts for 1983 than an ARIMA model (0,0,2) (1,0,0) (see Table J). The model used in this table was (0,0,2) (0,0,1).

^eBased on an ARIMA model (0,1,1)(0,0,0) (see Table J). With this model, predictions for 1981 were within 3 percent (year - ahead) and 1 percent (intervention).

^fBased on an ARIMA model (0,1,1)(0,1,1) (see Table J).

9The same ARIMA model (1,1,0)(0,1,1) predicted 1981 within 1 percent (year-ahead) and 0 percent (intervention).

The predictability analysis of index aggravated assault, like the analysis of index robbery, suggested that interventions may have taken place in some series. However, serendipitous interventions were not as common in aggravated assault as in robbery, and the presence of an intervention was not always so clear-cut. For example, the 1983 prediction in Quincy was 23 percent too low, but this may reflect the extremely small number of offenses in Quincy (six in the average month).

Total Illinois (non-Chicago) Index Aggravated Assault with Hands, Feet, etc.

The 1983 prediction for Index aggravated assault with the body as a weapon in Illinois (non-Chicago) (see Figure 18) was 29 percent too high, even though 1981 was predicted within 1 percent and 1982 within 16 percent.⁵⁴ Although the prediction for January 1983 was fairly accurate, every prediction after that was too high. The degree of error increased over time, until the prediction for December was too high by 107 percent. As Figure 18 shows, the number of body-as-weapon assaults in Illinois (non-Chicago) dropped sharply in 1983, after having climbed steadily since 1977.

Cicero

In Cicero, the pattern of Index aggravated assault over time was very erratic (see Figure 19). Although an ARIMA model (0,1,1)(0,0,0) fits well statistically in every time period examined, the predictive errors of this model are large in every time period. The model was 41 percent too low in predicting 1978, 62 percent too low in predicting 1979, and 103 percent too low in predicting 1980 (year-ahead method), indicating that some change in Cicero aggravated assault took place in all three years. Predictions for 1981 and 1982, with the same model, were somewhat better, 18 percent too low and 14 percent too low, respectively. Because these predictions were within the 20 percent criterion, Cicero assault technically qualifies as predictable, although its predictability over the years 1978 to 1982 is borderline at best. In 1983, the same ARIMA model (0,1,1)(0,0,0) was 49 percent too low in predicting the 300 actual offenses, an average error of 47 percent in each 1983 month. As the pattern description graph shows, there may actually have been a sharp increase in 1983, over and above the general increasing pattern since 1976. However, given the consistently poor performance of Cicero aggravated assault predictions in almost every previous year, it does not seem likely that this serendipitous intervention indicates an actual increase in offenses known to the police.⁵⁵

⁵⁴The degree of predictability decreases from 1981 to 1982 to 1983, but there is no indication that the ARIMA model changed for total Illinois (non-Chicago) index assault with the body as a weapon. The AR(1) and MA(12) weights are almost the same for models of time periods 1972-1980, 1972-1981, 1972-1982, and 1972-1983. Also, the Box-Pierce statistic (see Appendix 1) indicates that the residuals are random for models of each time period.

⁵⁵In Cicero, because the number of Index aggravated assaults in the average month over the entire 1972-1983 period was only 11, it is not surprising that monthly predictions do not meet the 30 percent criterion.

Figure 18. Patterns of Change Over Time in Illinois (non-Chicago) Index Aggravated Assault with Hands, Feet, etc., 1974–1983



Figure 19. Patterns of Change Over Time in Cicero Index Aggravated Assault, 1972–1983



Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

How

5.00

Decatur

The Decatur Index aggravated assault series was very difficult to model, and the best model generated very poor predictions. The best 1981 prediction was 70 percent too high, and the prediction of the average 1981 month was 134 percent wrong (year-ahead method). Although predictions for 1982 and 1983 were somewhat better than for 1981, they still did not meet the rather generous 20 percent and 30 percent criteria. The best model predicted 1982 within 50 percent, the average 1982 month within 50 percent, 1983 within 12 percent, and the average 1983 month within 47 percent (year-ahead method) (see Table I). Two extreme values, in November and December 1981, affected the accuracy of both 1981 and 1982 Decatur predictions. However, predictability was not improved by correcting the two extreme values. It is worth noting that the Decatur Index robbery series contained numerous high or low extreme months and was not really predictable, even though it did meet the 20 percent yearly criterion in two years.

Best ARIMA Models for Predicting Index Aggravated Assault

Is there a particular class of model that tends to fit index aggravated assault? Table J lists the best ARIMA model for each index aggravated assault time series. As with index robbery, we will consider the two parts of the model separately, the serial (p,d,q) part and the seasonal (Sp,Sd,Sq) part.

Serial Relationships

The serial term of the ARIMA model for aggravated assault in many jurisdictions--Aurora, Cicero, Decatur, Joliet, Peoria, Rockford, and Rock Island--was best described by ARIMA (0,1,1)(Sp,Sd,Sq).⁵⁶ The estimates of the MA(1) weight in these models were all positive and relatively high, ranging from .46 in Joliet to .82 in Aurora. In addition, the same ARIMA serial term (0,1,1)(Sp,Sd,Sq) was the best model for Chicago Index knife robbery in the later years. In general, if an Index assault series required first differencing, the best serial model was usually ARIMA (0,1,1)(Sp,Sd,Sq).⁵⁷

Only two other types of ARIMA model were best for more than one aggravated assault time series. The best model in Springfield and Chicago firearm assault was ARIMA (2,1,0)(Sp,Sd,Sq); the related ARIMA (1,1,0)(Sp,Sd,Sq) was the best model in body-as-weapon index assault in total Illinois (non-Chicago). The other model that appeared more than once was ARIMA (3,0,0)(Sp,Sd,Sq) in Evanston, Quincy, Chicago knife assault in the early years, and Illinois (non-Chicago) firearm assault.

Seasonal Relationships

In Index aggravated assault models, there was less consistency in the seasonal term than in the serial term. Three jurisdictions--Cicero, Joliet, and Quincy--had no evidence of seasonal fluctuation, and in Rock Island, seasonal fluctuation was evident only in the final two years. All the Chicago and the total Illinois (non-Chicago) index assault series, as well as eight of the 11 Illinois (non-Chicago) jurisdictions, had some sort of seasonal ARIMA model. However, the form of this model differed.

⁵⁶Since the Decatur model is not a good fit statistically, the reader should place little emphasis on Decatur results.

⁵⁷For a discussion of first differencing, see Appendix 1.

The seasonal term in all four of the total Illinois (non-Chicago) assault types, all four of the Chicago assault types, as well as index assault in three other jurisdictions--Decatur, Evanston, and Rockford--was ARIMA (p,d,q)(0,1,1).⁵⁸ Aurora, Elgin, Peoria, and Springfield had models with one or two autoregressive seasonal terms, ARIMA (p,d,q)(1,0,0) or ARIMA (p,d,q)(2,0,0). Thus, while most index aggravated assault series had some evidence of seasonality in the best ARIMA model, some had no seasonal term at all. Of the assault series with a seasonal term, some indicated a very slight amount of seasonality, such as Rock Island in the final two years, and others indicated strong seasonal fluctuation, such as Peoria and Springfield.

Model Change in Rock Island

Even though 1982 and 1983 predictions for aggravated assault were within the 20 percent criterion in Rock Island, predictive accuracy with the year-ahead method decreased steadily from 3 percent in 1981 to 11 percent in 1982 to 15 percent in 1983. In addition, the best ARIMA model for the period 1972-1981 did not meet statistical tests after 1982 and then 1983 were added to the series, as well as it did for the 1972-1981 period alone. Together, these facts suggest that Index aggravated assault in Rock Island, like Index robbery in Rock Island, changed in 1982 and 1983 relative to the pattern in earlier years.

The early years in Rock Island show no evidence of seasonal fluctuation, but a seasonal term improves the model in the final two years. The best model for the period 1972-1981 was ARIMA (0,1,1)(0,0,0), but the addition of a seasonal term, ARIMA (0,1,1)(0,0,1), produced a statistically better model for 1972-1983. Because an ARIMA model cannot be estimated with only two years of data, it was impossible to estimate a separate model for 1982 and 1983. However, the strength of the MA(12) parameter appears to increase over time:

	Estimates							
Time Period	MA(1)	MA(12)						
1972-1981	.74	08						
1972-1982	. 73	10						
1972-1983	.71	13						

Even though the MA(12) weight is still very small in the 1972–1983 model and could be estimated to be zero (see Table J), the statistical diagnostics (Appendix 1) are good. If this pattern continues, the best model for index aggravated assault in Rock Island will have an even stronger MA(12) weight when 1984 and succeeding years are added to the data.⁵⁹

Predictive accuracy for 1982 and 1983 was better with the ARIMA model (0,1,1)(0,0,1). The year 1982 was predicted within 1 percent, the average 1982 month within 35 percent, the year 1983 within 7 percent, and the average 1983 month within 35 percent (year-ahead method). Because the number of index aggravated assault offenses per month in Rock Island is only 15 (see Table B), the low accuracy of monthly predictions is not surprising.

⁵⁸The high MA(12) estimates in these ARIMA (p,d,q)(0,1,1) seasonal terms, which range from .86 for Chicago firearm assault to .92 for Illinois (non-Chicago), and Chicago other-weapon assault, may indicate that seasonal differencing was not necessary (see Appendix 1).

⁵⁹The model used to predict 1984 was ARIMA (0,1,1)(0,0,1).

Table J. Index Aggravated Assault ARIMA Models, 1972–1983

Model						Moving Average Estimate		Seasonal Autoregressive Estimate			Seasonal Moving Average Estimate			
Jurisdiction	(p.d.a) (Sp.Sd.Sa)	Mean	Low	Best	High	Low	Best	Hiah	Low	Best	High	Low	Best	High
Aurora	(0,1,1)(1,0,0)					.73	. 82	.92	.03	. 20	. 37		- - -	د کر در این از در این از مین این از مین از مین
Cicero ^a	(0,1,1)(0,0,0)					. 40	.54	.68		1999 - 1999 - 1999 1999 - 1999 - 1999 1999 - 1999 - 1999				
Decatur	(0,1,1)(0,1,1)				1990	.61	.73	. 85				.81	. 87	.92
Elgin	(0,0,2)(1,0,0)	11.8				45	zero ^b 28		.18	. 32	. 45			
Evanston	(3,0,0)(0,1,1)		.03 03 .03	. 20 . 14 . 20	. 38 . 32 . 37	· · · · · ·				-	1 - 1 27 - 1 - 127 - 128 - 128 - 128 - 128 - 128	. 85	91	.97
Joliet	(0,1,1)(0,0,0)		n (1997) 1999 - Marine Marine 1999 - Marine Marine (1997)			.31-	. 46	.61		1				
Peoria ^c	(0,1,1)(2,0,0)		. 			. 50	.63	. 76	. 19 . 33	. 33 . 48	.47 .62			
Quincy	(3,0,0)(0,0,0)	6.2	00 .13	. 16 zero . 29	. 32 b . 45		• • • •							
Rockford	(0,1,1)(0,1,1)					. 59	. 71	. 85				.81	.87	.92
Rock Island 1972-1981 1972-1983	(0,1,1)(0,0,0) (0,1,1)(0,0,1)		 		••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	.63 .60	. 76 . 71	. 87 . 83				 30	13	 .05
Springfield ^d	(2,1,0)(2,0,0)		- 73 - 45		41 13				. 04 . 34	. 19 . 49	. 34 . 65	1997 - 19		
Chicago Firearm ^e	(2,1,0)(0,1,1)		76 42									.76	. 86	.96

			and the second second	regres stimat		5 - C C C C C C C C	ing Ave Estimat		Auto	Seasona pregres Estimat	sive	Movi	easona Ing Ave Istimat	erage	
Jurisdiction	Model <u>(p.d.a)(Sp.Sd.Sa)</u>	Mean	Low	Best	High	Low	Best	_Hish	Low	Best	High	Low	Best	High	
Non-Chicago Firearm ¹	(3,0,0)(0,1,1)		.30 .14 34	.50 .35 14	.70 .56 .06			-				.84	.90	.97	
Chicago Anife 1974-1980	(3,0,0)(0,1,1)			zero ^b zero ^b								.73	.85	.96	
1974-1983	(0,1,1)(0,1,1)	an a	.01	.24	.48	.51	.66	.81				. 80	. 86	.95	
Non-Chicago Knife ^f	(1,0,0)(0,1,1)	15.3	.20	. 38	. 56				-			.81	.87	.93	
Chicago Other-Weapon ^f	(2,0,0)(0,1,1)		.51 .07	.69 .25	. 88 . 44							. 87	.92	.97	
Non-Chicago Other-Weapon ^f	(1,0,0)(0,1,1)	9.4	.23	.41	.59					-	۲. ایک کرد ایک سر س ر ایک ایک ایک کرد ایک کرد ایک کرد ایک کرد	.86	.92	.98	
Chicago Hands, Feet, etc. ^e	(0,0,3)(0,1,1)					45 45 63		05		**		.82	.88	.94	
Non-Chicago Hands, Feet ^f	(1,1,0)(0,1,1)		56	38	20	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •				ین س <mark>ند ک</mark> ر ا		.86	91	.96	

^aNovember 1979 is an extreme value, 41. The mean of all other Novembers is 6.6.

^bMA(1) parameter crossed zero in Elgin, and MA(1) was set to zero in the final model. In Quincy, the same thing happened with the AR(2) parameter.

^CData for August 1979 are missing and the figure for September 1979 was about twice as high as other Septembers. This is true for every index crime. For this analysis, one half of the September figure was used for August and September. Updated figures obtained from the Department of State Police.

^dUpdated figures obtained from the DSP.

^eModel based on 1975-1983 data.

^fModel based on 1974-1983 data.

Summary: Index Aggravated Assault

Compared to Index robbery, Index aggravated assault was more often predictable for both years and for both the total year and the average month. However, this may have been due to the higher number of assault offenses per month in most jurisdictions. In Index robbery, all of the total Illinois (non-Chicago) models successfully predicted both the years and the months, and six of the 10 jurisdictions successfully predicted at least the years. In aggravated assault, three of the four Illinois (non-Chicago) models and five of the 11 jurisdiction models successful-ly predicted both the year and the average month in 1982 and 1983, and two additional juris-dictions successfully predicted at least the two years.

.

In Index aggravated assault, as in Index robbery, the analysis in several jurisdictions discovered a serendipitous intervention in 1982 or 1983. However, there were fewer interventions discovered in aggravated assault than in robbery, and for most of these the existence of an actual change in the level of offenses was not clear. When an intervention is discovered through analysis and not hypothesized beforehand, the cause could be that the predictive accuracy for the analysis of that series tends to be poor for every year. In Quincy, with only six offenses per month on the average, a predictive error of 23 percent should not be surprising in any year. In Cicero, predictive accuracy in most years was poor; it may be an accident that 1981 and 1982 were predicted within the 20 percent criterion, while 1983 was not. In Illinois (non-Chicago) body-as-weapon assault, the 1982 error (16 percent) was suspiciously high. However, in such cases, the line segment fit can provide additional evidence as to whether or not there was an actual increase or decrease in the number of offenses. In Cicero (see Figure 19) we can see an increase in 1983, and in Illinois body-as-weapon assault (see Figure 18) we can see a decline in 1983.

Except for Rock Island, the jurisdictions and crime types in which the predictability results suggested an intervention were not the same for index robbery as for index aggravated assault. In Decatur, Joliet, and Peoria, the number of robberies may have dropped in 1982 or 1983, but not the number of assaults.⁶⁰ Non-Chicago firearm robbery increment distingtly in 1983, but firearm assault did not. On the other hand, the number of body-as-weapon assaults in Illinois (non-Chicago) dropped sharply in 1983, while the number of strongarm robberies did not. Cicero Index aggravated assault increased in 1983, but index robbery did not. However, in Rock Island, both index robbery and index aggravated assault changed in 1983.

Predictions for Index aggravated assault were very accurate in three jurisdictions--Evanston, Joliet, and Rockford; both 1982 and 1983 were predicted within 10 percent (yearahead method). In a fourth jurisdiction--Rock Island--the ARIMA model (0,1,1)(0,0,1) predicted 1982 and 1983 within 10 percent. The 1982 and 1983 predictions for total (non-Chicago) IIlinois Index aggravated assault with a firearm, knife, or other weapon were also accurate well within 10 percent. In Elgin, Peoria, Quincy, and Springfield, at least one yearly prediction was accurate within 10 percent (year-ahead method). In contrast, no prediction in Aurora or Cicero was accurate within 10 percent, and Decatur aggravated assault could not be successfully modeled at all. Thus, the predictive accuracy for Index aggravated assault ranged from very accurate to completely unpredictable, depending on the jurisdiction.

Even though the number of offenses per month was usually higher in index aggravated assault than in index robbery, it was often difficult to identify a good model in index aggravated assault. The Decatur assault time series could not be successfully modeled, even by the generous Predictability Project criteria. Also, the Cicero assault series barely met the criteria. In contrast, every index robbery time series was successfully modeled within the 20 percent yearly criterion for at least two years.

⁶⁰Because of the poor model for Decatur, little can be said about aggravated assault in 1982 and 1983, but it apparently did not decline.

In assault, more than in robbery, there is a single class of ARIMA model that is likely to describe Illinois (non-Chicago) jurisdictions, at least their serial relationships. Seven of the 11 Illinois (non-Chicago) jurisdictions were best described by ARIMA (0,1,1)(Sp,Sd,Sq).

Although the degree of seasonal fluctuation found in these index aggravated assault series was generally very small, this small degree of fluctuation was found in more jurisdictions than for index robbery. Also, in contrast to index robbery, the degree of seasonality did not seem to be related to the number of offenses in the average month. For example, Joliet, with 46 index assaults known to the police in the average month, had no seasonal term in the best ARIMA model, but Elgin, with only 12 assaults on the average, had a seasonal term of ARIMA (p,d,q)(1,0,0) with a moderately high AR(12) estimate of .32.

In summary, the analysis found the following to be true for index aggravated assault:

- Index aggravated assault predictions varied from very accurate to completely inaccurate, depending on the jurisdiction.
- Aggravated assault had relatively few serendipitous interventions.
- There was some consistency from jurisdiction to jurisdiction in the best ARIMA model for aggravated assault. The serial term tended to be (0,1,1)(Sp,Sd,Sq).
- The higher degree of predictability in Index aggravated assault, compared to Index robbery, seemed to be related to the higher number of offenses per month.
- The degree of seasonality in Index aggravated assault was not related to the number of offenses per month. Some large jurisdictions had no seasonality, while assault in some small cities was seasonal.

Index Burglary

The list below summarizes results of the analysis of the predictability of Index burglary in each of the 14 jurisdictions. All of the jurisdictions had enough burglary offenses per month for analysis (see Table B), though the average number ranged from 46 in Des Plaines to 265 in Rockford. Neither Chicago nor total Illinois (non-Chicago) burglary was analyzed in the Predic-tability Project. The list below also includes, for each Index burglary series, the best-fitting type of ARIMA model (p,d,q)(Sp,Sd,Sq).

Successful Predictive Models

(p,d,q) (Sp,Sd,Sq)

Cicero Peoria Springfield (0,1,1)(0,0,0) (0,1,2)(0,1,1) (0,1,2)(0,0,0)

Model Meeting Yearly but not Monthly Criteria

Arlington Heights (2,1,0)(0,1,1)

Serendipitous Intervention

Aurora (1983)	(3,1,0)(0,0,0)
Decatur	(1972-1981)	(0,1,1)(0,0,0)
	(1972-1983)	(0,1,2)(1,0,0)
Elgin ()	983)	(0, 1, 1)(0, 0, 0)
Evanston	(1972-1978)	(0,1,2)(0,0,0)
	(1979-1983)	(1,0,0)(0,1,1)
Joliet (1983)	(2,0,0)(0,0,1)
Quincy (1981 & 1983)	(0,1,1)(0,0,1)
Rockford	(1982)	(0, 1, 1)(1, 0, 0)
Rock Isl	and (1972-1978)	(0,1,2)(0,0,1)
	(1979-1983)	(0,1,1)(0,0,0)
Skokie (1982)	(1,0,0)(0,1,1)

Poor Predictive Model

Des Plaines

(2,0,0)(1,0,0)

Р.

i r

Predictability

C

The degree of predictability for each index burglary time series, for the total year and the average month of 1982 and 1983, and with the year-ahead method and the intervention method, is given in Table K, and the overall results of the year-ahead predictive accuracy analysis are summarized in the list above. The criteria in this list for a successful predictive model are very generous-accuracy within 20 percent for the total year and 30 percent for the average month, for both years. Even so, the best model for Des Plaines did not qualify as successful, and is categorized as a poor predictive model. In cases of a serondipitous intervention being discovered in 1982 or 1983, ARIMA modeling and prediction was done for 1981. Because of their complexity, a number of burglary time series were analyzed for several addition-al years.

In general, it was harder to identify a successful ARIMA model for index burglary than for the other three index crimes, even though the number of burglary offenses per month was never less than 46 in any jurisdiction (see Table B). Of the 14 jurisdictions in which a model for index burglary was attempted,⁶¹ only three models (Cicero, Peoria, and Springfield) successfully predicted both 1982 and 1983 for the total year and for the average month by the generous 20 percent and 30 percent criteria with the year-ahead method. Only the Peoria model predicted 1982 and 1983 within 10 percent.

Of the 14 Index burglary analyses, nine indicated a serendipitous intervention. In six of these--Aurora, Elgin, Joliet, Quincy, Rockford, and Skokie--the level of the series apparently changed. In three other jurisdictions--Decatur, Evanston, and Rock Island--the best model apparently changed.

⁶¹Since the Chicago Intervention Analysis was not done for Index burglary, only Illinois (non-Chicago) jurisdictions are analyzed here.

Table K. Percent Error of Predictions: Burglary

		Year-Ahe	ad Metho	d	Intervention Method					
Jurisdiction	1982 Total <u>Year</u>	1983 Total <u>Year</u>	1982 Avg. <u>Month</u>	1983 Avg <u>Month</u>	1982 Total <u>Year</u>	1983 Total <u>Year</u>	1982 Avg. <u>Month</u>	1983 Avg. Month		
Arlington Heights	9%*	16%*	25%*	31%	5%*	7%*	26%*	29%*		
Aurora ^a	15*	34	19*	37	0*	5*	21*	15*		
Cicero	14*	8*	15*	22*	11*	0×	14*	20*		
Decatur ^b	25	23	32	32	3*	8*	22*	24*		
Des Plaines	40	40	47	48	18*	21	31	28*		
Elgin ^c	6*	38	14*	45	0*	10*	13*	26*		
Evanston	d	б*	d	18*	d	4*	d	15*		
Joliet ^e	2*	30	14*	34	3*	10*	12*	21*		
Peoria	6*	2*	27*f	12*]=	7*	23*f	16*		
Quincy	6*	27	29*	43	0*	11=	32	35		
Rock Island	ĥ	6*	h	18	h	j # 2 ¹ -	h	16*		
Rockford ^g	21	4*	26*	11*	1*	2*	14=	11*		
Skokie ⁱ	27	15*	40	41	7*	3*	25*	31		
Springfield	14*	9*	20*	15*	6*	2*	12*	13*		

*Meets predictability criteria: 20 percent for total year predictions, 30 percent for average month predictions.

^aThe same ARIMA model (3,1,0)(0,0,0) predicted 1981 within 10 percent (year-ahead) and 0 percent (intervention), and within 10 percent and 14 percent for the average month, in Aurora.

^bIn these predictions, an ARIMA model (0,1,1)(0,0,0) was used for Decatur burglary. However, in 1982 and 1983 the model changed to (0,1,2)(1,0,0) (see Table L). This model predicted 1981 within 8 percent and the average month within 24 percent (year-ahead method).

^CIn Elgin, the same ARIMA model (0,1,1)(0,0,0) predicted 1981 within 8 percent (year ~ahead) and 1 percent (intervention) and the average 1981 month within 16 percent and 14 percent.

din Evanston, a 1979-1982 model was used to predict 1983. This series was too short to predict 1982 (see text, page 75).

eIn Joliet, 1981 was predicted within 2 percent, and the average 1981 month within 11 percent (year-ahead method).

¹In 1982, there is one extremely low month, January, with only 72 Index burglaries, compared to 256 for the average month. If this month is excluded, the other 1982 months were each predicted within 15 percent (year-ahead) and 11 percent (intervention) on the average.

⁹An ARIMA model (0,1,1)(1,0,0) for Rockford burglary predicted 1981 within 1 percent (both year-ahead and intervention methods), but the 1982 year-ahead prediction was 21 percent too high. As the pattern description indicates (Figure 24a), there was a drop in 1982.

^hIn Rock Island, a 1979-1982 model was used to predict 1983. This series was too short to predict 1982 (see Table L).

ⁱThe same ARIMA model (1,0,0)(0,1,1) for Skokie burglary (see Table L) predicted 1981 within 4 percent (year-ahead) and 2 percent (intervention). The 1982 year-ahead prediction was too high because January and February 1982 were extremely low. The other 10 months of 1982 were predicted within 18 percent on the average (see Figure 25).

Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

Page 65
Arlington Heights

In Arlington Heights, the best model predicted 1982 within 9 percent, the average 1982 month within 25 percent, and the year 1983 within 16 percent, but the prediction for the average 1983 month was slightly worse than the 30 percent criterion (31 percent). Because the statistical fit of the ARIMA model (2,1,0)(0,1,1) is not particularly good (although better than the fit of alternative models for Arlington Heights), it is probable that the poor prediction in 1983 is symptomatic of an erratic, unpredictable series, rather than of a real change in the number of burglary offenses.

ľ

.

Des Plaines

Index burglary in Des Plaines could not be successfully modeled at all. The best model was 22 percent too high in predicting 1981, 40 percent too high in predicting 1982, and 40 percent too high in predicting 1983 (year-ahead method).

Aurora

Despite indications of data problems in Aurora Index burglary (see Figure 20), a model was identified that successfully predicted 1981 and 1982. There were two indications of data problems. First, the number of burglary offenses was extremely high in two months, September and October 1977, when there were 315 and 304 burglaries known to the police.⁶² Second, in the descriptive seasonal analysis, there was a significant F of moving seasonality under both mathematical assumptions (see Table E). However, the year 1981 was predicted within 10 percent, 1982 was predicted within 15 percent, and the average month was predicted successfully in both years (year-ahead method). In 1983, the same ARIMA model (3,1,0)(0,0,0) was 34 percent too high, and the monthly predictions in 1983 were an average of 37 percent in error. The model predicted that about 164 offenses would occur in each month of 1983, but there were actually about 122 offenses. Because the intervention method predictions for 1983 were accurate, it appears that the model did not change. Rather, the decline of mid-1981 to 1982 became steeper in 1983.

Elgin

In Eigin, a similar thing seems to have happened in 1983. The best model, ARIMA (0,1,1)(0,0,0), predicted 1981 and 1982 accurately, within 8 percent in 1981 and 6 percent in 1982. However, the same model was 38 percent too high in predicting 1983. This decline was found not only in the ARIMA analysis, but also in the pattern description (see Figure 21). Thus, the increase in burglary in Eigin that occurred from 1978 to 1982 was reversed in 1983.

Joliet

In Jollet (see Figure 22), 1981 and 1982 were each predicted within 2 percent and the average months within 11 and 14 percent, respectively (year-ahead method). However, the prediction for 1983, using the same ARIMA model (2,0,0)(0,0,1), was 30 percent too high. As for Aurora and Elgin, the predictions with the intervention method were accurate, indicating that the best ARIMA model did not change. The pattern description graph of Jollet Index burglary (see Figure 22) suggests that the years 1980 to 1982 were generally declining. However, in 1983, the number of index burglary offenses seems to have declined even more than would be expected from the earlier pattern.

⁶²In contrast, overall there were 144 Index burglaries per month in Aurora.





Months, January 1972 through December 1983 Source: Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority Version of I-UCA Deta









Figure 22. Patterns of Change Over Time in Joliet Index Burglary, 1972-1983

1

l.

-

-

1

ß

ĺ





Attempted and Completed

Source: Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority Version of I-UCA Data

Quincy

In Quincy (see Figure 23), predictability results indicate that the pattern over time of Index burglary may have changed not only once, but twice. After a relatively stable pattern that lasted from 1975 through 1980, the number of burglary offenses dropped in 1981 and the same decline continued in 1982. In 1983, the decline was even sharper than the 1981 to 1982 decline. These changes are reflected in the predictive accuracy of the ARIMA model (0,1,1)(0,0,1), which was a good statistical fit in all years:

	Pe	rcent Predi	ction Error:	Quincy
	Year-Ab	ead Method	Inte, ver	tion Method
	Year	Average	Year	Average
		Month		Month
1979	12%	13%	2%	11%
1980	1	29	5	24
1981	48	53	8	22
1982	6	29	0	32
1983	27	43	11	35

As can be seen, predictive accuracy for Quincy burglary was fairly good in 1979 and 1980, but the prediction for 1981 was 48 percent too high. Predictive accuracy with a 1972-1981 model was again good for 1982, because the same declining pattern of 1981 continued through 1982. However, the 1983 prediction was 27 percent too high. It appears, then, that the number of Index burglaries in Quincy dropped in 1981 and 1982, and dropped even more in 1983.

Rockford

In Rockford, a drop in Index burglary apparently occurred in 1982, according to ARIMA analysis. Both 1981 and 1983 were predicted very accurately; 1981 was predicted within 1 percent and 1983 was predicted within 4 percent (year-ahead method). However, the same ARIMA model (0,1,1)(1,0,0), based on 1972-1981 data, was 21 percent too high in predicting 1982, and the months were in error by 26 percent, on the average. All 1982 months except December were actually much lower than the ARIMA prediction. This drop in 1982 is not immediately apparent in the pattern description graph of Rockford burglary offenses (see Figure 24a). However, according to descriptive seasonal analysis (see Table E), burglary fluctuated with the seasons more in Rockford than in any other jurisdiction analyzed. This relatively strong fluctuation could obscure other patterns in the Rockford data. In fact, when the seasonal fluctuation is removed (see Figure 24b), the drop that ARIMA analysis found in 1982 becomes clear.⁶³ Rockford burglary offenses dropped in 1982, and remained at that low level through 1983.

⁶³The seasonally adjusted figures in Figure 24b were calculated by the X-11/ARIMA program, under the additive assumption (see Appendix 1).



Figure 24a. Patterns of Change Over Time in Rockford Index Burglary, 1972-1983

Attempted and Completed

۲

Months. January 1972 through December 1983 Source: Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority Version of I-UCR Data









Months, January 1972 through December 1983 Source: Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority Version of I-UCR Date

Skokie

The situation for Skokie Index burglary (see Figure 25) was somewhat different. The yearahead predictions for 1981 and 1983 (see Table K) were fairly accurate (within 4 percent and 15 percent, respectively), but the prediction for 1982 indicates that the number of Index burglaries dropped somewhat in 1982, relative to the other years. Actually, the predictions for most months of 1982 were well within the 30 percent criterion, with two exceptions. The January prediction was 154 percent higher than the actual number (24), and the February prediction was 137 percent higher than the actual number (22). Thus, in Skokie, Index burglary was generally predictable, except for two extremely low months in 1982.

Best ARIMA Models for Predicting Index Burglary

Because index burglary was, in general, more difficult to model, we might expect less consistency in the type of ARIMA model that finally produced successful predictions and statistical diagnostics. However, as Table L shows, there were some types of model that tended to be successful for burglary.

Serial Relationships

à

The most common ARIMA model type for the serial term of Index burglary was ARIMA (0,1,1)(Sp,Sd,Sq), which occurred in Cicero, Decatur (1972–1981), Elgin, Quincy, Rockford, and Rock Island (1979–1983). This, as we have seen, was the most common type of ARIMA serial model for Index aggravated assault, and also for Index robbery in the larger jurisdictions.

Table L. Index Burglary ARIMA Models, 1972-1983

	Model			regres			ng Ave Stimat		Auto	easona regres stimat	sive	Movi	easona ng Ave stimat	rage
Jurisdiction	(p.d.a)(Sp.Sd.Sa)	Mean	Low	Best	High	Low	Best	High	Low	Best	High	Low	Best	High
Arlington Heights	(2,1,0)(0,1,1)			58 15	40 .03						-	.84	. 89	.94
Aurora	(3,1,0)(0,0,0)		22 35 30	05 19 12	.12 02 .05									
Cicero ^a	(0,1,1)(0,0,0)					.64	. 75	. 86						
Decatur 1972-1981 1972-1983	(0,1,1)(0,0,0) (0,1,2)(1,0,0)					.45 .40 .02	.60 .57 .19	. 75 . 74 . 36	.01	 . 19	.37			
Des Plaines	(2,0,0)(1,0,0)	46.4	. 24 . 08	.40 .20	.57 .37				.00	15	.31	1997 - 1997 -		
Elgin	(0,1,1){0,0,0)		1999 - S. 1922 1999 - 1995 - S. 2010			.51	.64	. 76						
Evanston 1972-1978	(0,1,2)(0,0,0)					. 16 14	. 38 . 09	.61 .31	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					
1979-1983	(1,0,0)(0,1,1)		02	. 26	.54		- 	-				.71	. 84	.97
Joliet	(2,0,0)(0,0,1)	144.0	. 36 . 11	.51 .26	.67 40			• • •				44	27	10
Peoria b	(0,1,2)(0,1,1)					.17 .12	. 34 . 29	.51 .47	۰ د د د د د د د ۲۰۰۰ معنو ر د ۲۰۰۰ ۲۰۰۰ ۲۰۰۰			.82	.87	.92
Quincy	(0,1,1)(0,0,1)	1.200 - 1.200 - 1.200 				.44	.58	. 72				30	13	.04

	Model			regres stimat			ng Ave stimat		Auto	easona regres stimat	sive	Movi	Seasona Ing Ave Stimat	rage
Jurisdiction	(p.d.a) (Sp. Sd. Sa)	Mean	Low	Best	High	Low	Best	High	Low	Best	High	Low	Best	Hiah
Rockford	(0,1,1)(1,0,0)			·		. 36	.51	.66	.47	.60	.73		·	
Rock Island 1972-1978	(0,1,2)(0,0,1)				en en en estado da la como de la c Interna en entre de la como de la c Interna entre de la como	.08	. 29	.50		ur m		32	08	.16
1979-1983	(0,1,1)(0,0,0)					. 17 . 20	. 38 . 43	. 59 . 66		· · · · ·				
Skokie	(1,0,0)(0,1,1)	1.6	.23	. 39	. 55					. .	1. 	. 84	.90	.95
Springfield	(0,1,2)(0,0,0)			···· • • • • •		. 28 . 19	. 44 . 35	.60 .51						

^aIn Cicero, the number of crimes known to the police in November 1977 was extremely low relative to other Novembers. This was true for every index crime. For index burglary, there was one burglary in November 1977, but an average of 57 burglaries in all other Novembers. The other 11 months of 1977 averaged 55 burglaries. This led us to suspect the accuracy of the November 1977 figure, but we were unable to obtain additional information from Department of State Police. Therefore, in the analysis in this report, 57 is used for November 1977.

^bData for August 1979 are missing, and the figure for September 1979 was about twice as high as other Septembers. This is true for every index crime. For this analysis, one half of the September figure was used for August and September.

The second most common serial term for index burgiary was ARIMA (0,1,2)(Sp,Sd,Sq), which occurred in Decatur (1972–1983), Evanston, (1972–1978), Peoria, Rock Island (1972–1978), and Springfield. As can be seen in comparing tables H, J, and L, ARIMA (0,1,2)(Sp,Sd,Sq) was not a common serial model type for index robbery or aggravated assault.⁶⁴ The only other serial model type appearing more than once in burgiary models was ARIMA (1,0,0)(Sp,Sd,Sq), which was the best model for Evanston (1979–1983) and for Skokie.

Seasonal Relationships

In most jurisdictions, the best ARIMA model for Index burglary showed little seasonal fluctuation. Two of the three successful models, in Cicero and Springfield, had no seasonal term. On the other hand, the third jurisdiction with a successful ARIMA model, Peoria, had a model containing strong seasonal fluctuation. This agrees with the descriptive seasonal analysis above (see Table E), in which the F of stable seasonality was less than 2.0 for Cicero and Springfield, but more than 10.0 for Peoria.

The six jurisdictions in which the level of Index burglary apparently changed also differed greatly in the degree of seasonal fluctuation in their best ARIMA model. The models for Aurora and Elgin had no seasonal term. However, the Joliet model had a seasonal moving average term with an estimated -.27 weight, the Quincy model had a seasonal moving average term with a very small -.13 weight, the Rockford model had a seasonal autoregressive term with an estimated .60 weight, and the Skokie models required 12th differencing. Rockford's ARIMA model (p.d,q)(1,0,0), with an AR(12) weight of .60, indicates a relatively high level of seasonal fluctuation. The descriptive seasonality analysis (see Table E) agrees with this. Rockford had the highest seasonal contribution and F value of any burglary time series.

Thus, there seems to be no consistency in the type of seasonal term in index burglary ARIMA models, and even no consistency in whether or not an index burglary ARIMA model contains a seasonal term at all. In fact, in the three jurisdictions with an apparent intervention in model type, the change in model involved a change from no seasonal term to a seasonal term, or vice versa. These models are discussed in the following sections.

Model Change in Decatur

In Decatur, a relatively simple ARIMA model (0,1,1)(0,0,0) provided a good statistical fit for the period before 1982. With this model, the year 1981 was predicted within 8 percent and the average 1981 month within 24 percent. However, this simple model provided neither good predictions for 1982 and 1983, nor an acceptable statistical fit for the 1972-1982 or 1972-1983 time period.

It is impossible to fit an ARIMA model to only two years of data, 1982 and 1983. However, an ARIMA model (0,1,2)(1,0,0) fit the total time periods 1972–1982 and 1972–1983 better, according to statistical diagnostics (see Appendix 1), than the simpler ARIMA model (0,1,1)(0,0,0). In addition, predictions for 1982 and 1983 were more accurate with the more complex model (0,1,2)(1,0,0).⁶⁵

Perhaps the more complex ARIMA model (0,1,2)(1,0,0) was actually the best model for the entire 1972-1983 time period, including the earlier years. As a check on this, we estimated ARIMA (0,1,2)(1,0,0) for the time period 1972-1980, and compared the results to ARIMA (0,1,1)(0,0,0). The simpler model was better statistically and also produced more accurate

Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

Page 74

⁶⁴ARIMA (0,1,2)(Sp,Sd,Sq) did occur as the serial term in two Index robbery models -- in Decatur and in total Illinois (non-Chicago) strongarm robbery.

⁶⁵However, the 1982 and 1983 predictions with ARIMA (0,1,2)(1,0,0) were still not particularly accurate. The 1982 prediction was 22 percent too high, and the 1983 prediction was 21 percent too high.

forecasts of 1981. Therefore, we concluded that the best ARIMA model for index burglary in Decatur changed in 1982. Before 1982, there was no seasonal fluctuation in Decatur burglary, but in 1982 and 1983, there was a slight amount of seasonal fluctuation.⁶⁶ Although the degree of seasonality in the 1972–1983 model was slight, a seasonal AR(12) term was still necessary for a well-fitting model

Model Change in Evanston

There were two best-fitting models for index burglary offenses in Evanston (see Figure 12), one for the time period 1972-1978, and another for the time period 1979-1983. The best model for the earlier time period was ARIMA (0,1,2)(0,0,0). The MA(1) and MA(2) estimates for such a model, fit to three time periods, were the following:

Time Period	MA(1)	MA(2)
1972-1977	. 37	. 18
1972-1978	. 38	. 09
1972-1979	. 37	01

The MA(1) estimate is about the same in all three models, but the MA(2) estimate obviously changes. The estimated weight is .18 for the earliest time period, but with the addition of 1978 and 1979, it becomes zero. There is one other indication that the model may have changed. Although the ARIMA model (0,1,2)(0,0,0) is statistically adequate (see Appendix 1) for the 1972–1977 period, it is less so for the 1972–1978 period or for the 1972–1979 period. On the other hand, the model's prediction of 1978 was good, within 1 percent for the total year and 28 percent for the average 1978 month.⁶⁷ In contrast, the prediction for 1979 was somewhat less accurate, 13 percent too low. This suggests that the change in the best ARIMA model occurred between 1978 and 1979.

The five remaining years, 1979 to 1983, are not really enough to identify a reliable ARIMA model, but exploratory analysis indicated that the later period seemed to contain much less serial fluctuation, and a great deal more seasonal fluctuation, than the earlier years. The best model for these later years was ARIMA (1,0,0)(0,1,1), with the following estimates for the AR(1) and MA(12) terms:

Time Period	AR (1)	MA(12)			
1979-1982	.24	. 84			
1979-1983	. 26	. 84			

The prediction for 1983 with an ARIMA (1,0,0)(0,1,1) model was within 6 percent with the year-ahead method and within 4 percent with the intervention method. The average month was predicted within 18 percent and 15 percent, respectively. An alternative model with no serial pattern over time and no serial differencing, ARIMA (0,0,0)(0,1,1), predicted 1983 just as well, but was not a good statistical fit.

There seems to have been a rather radical change in the pattern over time of Index burglary in Evanston, beginning about January 1979. The period after that date had strong seasonal fluctuation, but very slight serial fluctuation. The period before that date had weak or

⁶⁷The accuracy of the prediction for the 1978 average month was decreased by the prediction for January, which was 72 percent too high. January 1978 had an extremely low number of burglaries (59) compared to the overall mean (118) or compared to the three previous Januaries (163, 100, and 99).

⁶⁶The AR(1) weight of the ARIMA model (0,1,2)(1,0,0) for the period 1972-1983 was estimated at .19 (see Table L).

nonexistent seasonal fluctuation but relatively strong serial fluctuation. This change, even though it is a change in the ARIMA model and not in the number of burglaries, is strong enough to see in a graph (see Figure 12).

This apparent change suggests that the phenomenon being measured in the earlier time period may not be the same as the phenomenon being measured in the later time period. It is possible, for example, that an increased proportion of burglary occurrences were reported to the police in the later years. As a matter of fact, there was an increased emphasis on burglary prevention in Evanston beginning in 1979, and it is possible that this prevention program could have increased public awareness of burglary. This might have resulted in greater likelihood that a burglary offense, whatever its seriousness, would be reported to the police. If the burglaries reported after the prevention campaign fluctuated with the seasons more than the burglaries reported before the campaign, then the total index burglary time series would become seasonal. However, because the apparent intervention in 1979 had not been hypothesized beforehand, we cannot say with any certainty that a change actually occurred.

Model Change in Rock Island

An ARIMA model (0,1,2)(0,0,1) for Rock Island burglary (see Figure 7) had the following parameters for four time periods:

Time Period	MA(1)	MA(2)	MA(12)
1972-1977	. 25	. 30	13
1972-1978	. 29	. 38	08
1972-1979	.46	. 02	22
1972-1980	.48	. 15	19

The two earlier and the two later time periods seem to differ in their MA(1) and MA(2) estimated weights, and possibly also in their MA(12) estimated weights.⁶⁸ The 1972-1977 model fit well statistically, and predicted 1978 within 12 percent. The 1972-1978 model also fit well statistically, but was 21 percent too low in predicting 1979 (see Figure 7). The 1972-1979 model was also a good fit, but was 74 percent too high in predicting 1980. The monthly 1980 predictions were wrong by as much as 190 percent. Further, the model for the 1972-1978 time period was a very poor fit statistically. All this suggests that the best ARIMA model for Rock Island Index burglary changed in 1980, and possibly as early as 1979.

The best model for the periods 1979-1982 and 1979-1983 was ARIMA (0,1,1)(0,0,0). This can be estimated only in an exploratory sense, because the time period is so short. The estimated MA(1) weight was .43 for both the 1979-1982 and the 1979-1983 model, and the statistical fits were adequate. With this model, 1983 predictions were correct within 6 percent, and the average 1983 month was predicted within 18 percent (year-ahead method).

Thus, in Rock Island as in Decatur, the pattern of index burgiary seems to have changed from a seasonal pattern to a pattern without seasonal fluctuation.

⁶⁸The low MA(12) estimate could be zero in each of the four models. However, in the earlier time periods, an MA(12) term is necessary for a good fit.

Summary: Index Burglary

Of the 14 jurisdictions in which index burglary was analyzed, only three models generated successful predictions, two jurisdictions could not be successfully modeled at all (Des Plaines and Arlington Heights), and in the remaining nine the analysis discovered a serendipitous inter-vention.

In general, the degree of predictive accuracy for Index burglary is less than for Index robbery or aggravated assault. In only one jurisdiction, Peoria, was the number of burglary offenses accurately predicted within 10 percent for 1982 and 1983. In four other jurisdictions--Elgin, Evanston, Joliet, and Rockford--at least two years were predicted within 10 percent. In Elgin, 1981 and 1982 were predicted within 8 percent and 6 percent, respectively, but the sharp decline in 1983 was not predicted accurately. Although there was apparently a change in the best model in Evanston, the years in which prediction was possible were both accurately predicted (within 1 percent in 1978 and 6 percent in 1983). The number of Index burglary offenses was predicted within 2 percent in Joliet in 1981 and 1982, but the drop in 1983 was not predicted accurately. Rockford burglary was predicted within 1 percent in 1981 and 4 percent in 1983, but the drop in 1982 was not predicted accurately. Thus, Index burglary appears to be predictable in Peoria, and also may be predictable in Elgin, Evanston, Joliet, and Rockford.

In five other jurisdictions, Index burglary was predicted within 10 percent in 1982 or 1983, but not in both years. The degree of accuracy in these jurisdictions—Arlington Heights, Cicero, Quincy, Rock Island and Springfield—was not, therefore, particularly high. However, it was still better than the accuracy in Aurora, Decatur, and Skokie,⁶⁹ which were not predicted very accurately in any year, and in Des Plaines, where index burglary could not be modeled at all.

What type of ARIMA model was best for index burglary? The serial term in the best ARIMA model for index burglary in these jurisdictions was likely to be either ARIMA (0,1,1)(Sp,Sd,Sq) or ARIMA (0,1,2)(Sp,Sd,Sq). In contrast, the seasonal term in index burglary models had no consistency from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. Many of the best-fitting and best-predicting models had no seasonal term at all, ARIMA (p,d,q)(0,0,0). However, many others had terms describing a strong pattern of seasonal fluctuation.

Not only is there no consistency from jurisdiction to jurisdiction in the seasonal term in burglary models, but there is not necessarily any consistency in the seasonal term over time within the same jurisdiction. In the jurisdictions in which there was an apparent change in ARIMA model over time, all three changed from seasonal to nonseasonal or vice versa. The 1972–1981 model in Decatur had no seasonal term, but the 1972–1983 model had an ARIMA (p,d,q)(1,0,0) seasonal term. Similarly, Evanston had no seasonal fluctuation in its 1972–1978 model, but rather strong seasonal fluctuation in the 1979–1983 model. Rock Island, on the other hand, changed from a slightly seasonal model in 1972–1978 to a model with no seasonal term in 1979–1983.⁷⁰

in summary, the analysis found the following to be true for index burglary:

- Burglary was not predictable in the majority of jurisdictions analyzed, either in the total year or in the average month.
- A high proportion of jurisdictions had a serendipitous intervention in Index burglary.

⁶⁹Although the accuracy of the Skokie predictions in 1982 and 1983 is not high, this is due only to two extreme months in 1982.

⁷⁰In Index aggravated assault in Rock Island, the change was in the opposite direction. In the model for the early time period, 1972-1981, there was no seasonal term, but when the years 1982 and 1983 were added to the series, the model became seasonal.

 There was no consistency from jurisdiction to jurisdiction in the type of ARIMA model (especially not in the seasonal part of the model) that best fit index burglary. .

Index Larceny/Theft

The list below summarizes results of an analysis of the predictability of Index larceny/theft in each of the 14 jurisdictions. On the average, there were more larceny/theft offenses than the other three types of offense per month (see Table B). The average number of offenses ranged from 88 in Cicero to 506 in Peoria. Thus, larceny/theft could be analyzed in all jurisdictions. However, Index larceny/theft was not analyzed s in Chicago or total Illinois (non-Chicago). The list below also includes, for each Index larceny/theft series, the best-fitting type of ARIMA model (p,d,q)(Sp,Sd,Sq).

Successful Predictive Models

	(p,d,q) (Sp,Sd,Sq)
Arlington Heights	(0,1,1)(0,1,1)
Decatur	(0,1,1)(0,1,1)
Evanston	(0,1,1)(0,1,1)
Joliet	(0,1,2)(0,1,1)
Peoria	(1,1,0)(0,1,1)
Quincy	(0,1,1)(2,0,0)
Rock Island	(2,0,0)(0,1,1)
Skokie	(3,1,0)(0,1,1)
Springfield	(1,0,0)(1,1,0)

Serendipitous Intervention

Aurora (1982)	(0,1,2)(0,1,1)
Cicero (1972-1977)	(2,1,0)(1,0,0)
(1978-1983)	(1,0,0)(0,1,1)
Des Plaines (1983)	(2,0,0)(0,1,1)
Elgin (1982 & 1983)	(0,1,1)(0,1,1)
Rockford (1983)	(0,1,2)(0,1,1)

Predictability

The degree of predictability for each index larceny/theft time series, for the total year and the average month of 1982 and 1983, and for the year-ahead and intervention method, is given in Table M, and the overall results of the year-ahead predictive accuracy analysis are summarized in the list above. The criteria in this list for a successful predictive model are very generous--accuracy within 20 percent for the total year and 30 percent for the average month, for both years. There was no index larceny/theft series that was categorized as a poor predictive model under these criteria. In cases in which a serendipitous intervention was discovered in 1982 or 1983, ARIMA modeling and prediction were done for 1981. For Elgin and Cicerc, the analysis was done for a number of years.

Table M. Percent Error of Predictions: Larceny/Theft

	•	Year-Ahe	ad Metho	d	I	Intervention Method					
Jurisdiction	1982 Total <u>Year</u>	1983 Total <u>Year</u>	1982 Avg. <u>Month</u>	1983 Avg <u>Month</u>	1982 Total <u>Year</u>	1983 Total <u>Year</u>	1982 Avg. Month	1983 Avg. <u>Month</u>			
Arlington Heights	6%*	3%*	19%*	13%*	1%*	3%*	16%*	14%=			
Aurora ^a	29	9*	29*	13*	4*	<u>2</u> *	12	10*			
Cicero ^b	a	3*	а	17*	а	2*	а	.17*			
Decatur	15*	11*	17*	17=] #	3*]=	11*			
Des Plaines ^c	7*	27	1.2*	28*	1*	1.0*	12*	12*			
Elgin ^d	21	26	22ª	31	2*	10*	10*	15*			
Evanston	1×	12*	11*	22*	0*	8*	10*	4×			
Joliet	2*	9*	16 *	11*	1*	3*	11*	1.			
Peoria	11*	18*	24*	22*	0=	7*	24*	12*			
Quincy	2*	1.	0*	14*	1=	1*	11*	16*			
Rock Island	5*	6*	15*	10*	4=	3*	16*	12*			
Rockford ^e	12*	27	13*	28*	1=	8*	7*	10*			
Skokie	8*	18*	14=	21*	1*	.] * .	15*	13*			
Springfield	10*	13*	12*	15*	3*	3*	10=] 4=			

*Meets predictability criteria: 20 percent for total year predictions, 30 percent for average month predictions.

^aIn Aurora, the same ARIMA model (0,1,2)(0,1,1) predicted 1981 within 2 percent for the year and 11 percent for the average month (year-ahead method) and within 2 percent for the year and 9 percent for the average month (intervention method).

^bBased on 1978-1982 model, ARIMA (1,0,0)(0,1,1). Note that this is only five years of data. A model predicting 1982 with four years was not attempted (see Table N).

Sin Des Plaines, the same ARiMA model (2,0,0)(0,1,1) predicted 1981 within 4 percent for the year and 16 percent for the average the month (year-ahead method) and within 1 percent for the year and 14 percent for the average month (intervention method).

^dIn Elgin, predictions for 1981 with an ARIMA model (0,1,1)(0,1,1) are better than predictions for 1982--within 4 percent for the year and 15 percent for the average month (year-ahead method). The same model predicted 1980 within 7 percent and 1979 within 17 percent.

eIn Rockford, the same ARIMA model (0,1,2)(0,1,1) predicted 1981 within 3 percent (year-ahead method) and 1 percent (intervention method), and the average month within 9 percent (year-ahead) and 8 percent (intervention).

index larceny/theft was, by far, the most predictable of the index crimes examined (see Table M). All of the 14 larceny/theft series were possible to model. In nine of them, the best ARIMA model successfully predicted both 1982 and 1983, both the total year and the average month. In five, the analysis suggested a possible intervention. In Aurora, Des Plaines, Elgin, and Rockford, there was an apparent change in level, and in Cicero, there seemed to be a change in the best ARIMA model.

Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

Page 79

Aurora

In Aurora (see Figure 26), an ARIMA model (0,1,2)(0,1,1) predicted 1981 within 2 percent, and the average 1981 month within 11 percent. The 1982 prediction, however, was 29 percent too high. Because the 1982 prediction with the intervention method was accurate (within 4 percent), and because the same ARIMA model successfully predicted 1983 (see Table M), it seems that the level of larceny/theft, but not the best model, changed in 1982. This slight drop is not easy to see in the pattern description graph, because it is obscured by seasonal fluctuation.⁷¹ However, notice that the peak months in 1982 are lower than the peak months in 1981. Also, the number of larceny/thefts in 1983 remained at about the 1982 level.

Des Plaines

Des Plaines Index larceny/theft (see Figure 27) was quite predictable in 1981 and 1982. An ARIMA model (2,0,0)(0,1,1) predicted both years within 10 percent--1981 within 4 percent and 1982 within 7 percent (year-ahead method). However, the 1983 prediction was 27 percent too high. In fact, the actual number of larceny/theft offenses in every 1983 month was lower than the predicted number, by as much as 67 percent (in November). The number of lar-ceny/thefts in Des Plaines had been declining since 1980, but apparently the drop in 1983 was even sharper than the previous decline.

E

Elgin

In Elgin, the number of Index larceny/theft offenses apparently fell slightly in both 1982 and 1983 (see Figure 28), although the best ARIMA model did not seem to change. ARIMA (D,1,1)(0,1,1) fit each time period from 1972–1978 through 1972–1983, according to the diagnostic tests in Appendix 1, and the estimated MA(1) and MA(12) weights were about the same for models in each time period. However, as can be seen below, neither the 1982 prediction nor the 1983 prediction was within the 20 percent criterion. The actual number in both years was lower than the predicted number. In fact, every month in 1982 and every month except March in 1983 had fewer larceny/theft offenses than the predicted number. The 119 offenses that actually occurred in December 1983 were 132 percent less than the predicted number of 251. Thus, the slight decline in Elgin larceny/theft that began in 1979 continued and apparently became an even steeper decline in 1982 and 1983.

	Pe	Percent Prediction Error: Elgin											
	Year-At	nead Method	Intervention Method										
		Average		Average									
	Year	Month	Year	Month									
1979	17%	17%	8%	9%									
1980	7	9	3	9									
1981	4	15	1	15									
1982	21	22	2	10									
1983	26	31	10	15									

⁷¹The seasonally adjusted series cannot be analyzed for Aurora larceny/theft, because the seasonal adjustment under both mathematical assumptions contains significant moving seasonality (see Table F) and therefore cannot be trusted,

Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

Page 80



Figure 26. Patterns of Change Over Time in Aurora Index Larceny/Theft, 1972-1983

.



Attempted and Completed



Source: Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority Version of I-UCA Data



s

T.

E.



Months. January 1972 through December 1983 Source: Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority Version of I-UCR Data

Figure 29. Patterns of Change Over Time in Rockford Index Larceny/Theft, 1972-1983



Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

li.

Rockford

In Rockford (see Figure 29), as in Des Plaines, the number of Index larceny/thefts was somewhat low in 1983 The number in 1981 was predicted within 3 percent, and the average 1981 month within 9 percent (year-ahead method). In 1982, the same model was correct within 12 percent for the year and 13 percent for the average month. However, the 1983 prediction was 27 percent too high. In fact, the number of larceny/theft offenses in every 1983 month was lower than the predicted number, from 10 percent lower in April to 63 percent lower in December. Since the intervention method prediction for 1983 was accurate within 8 percent, the best ARIMA model apparently did not change. However, the number of Index larceny/thefts, which had been steady since 1979, fell in 1983.

Best ARIMA Models for Predicting Index Larceny/Theft

Serial Relationships

A moving average model seems to be the most common ARIMA model type for index larceny/theft (see Table N). In five of the 14 jurisdictions, the serial term in the best ARIMA model was (0,1,1)(Sp,Sd,Sq), and in three others, the best serial term was ARIMA model (0,1,2)(Sp,Sd,Sq). In fact, as with index aggravated assault, if the series required first differencing, the best serial term was usually moving average ARIMA (0,1,1)(Sp,Sd,Sq) or (0,1,2)(Sp,Sd,Sq).

On the other hand, several of the best ARIMA models for Index larceny/theft were autoregressive in the serial term. In this respect again, larceny/theft patterns are similar to aggravated assault patterns. The serial terms for Cicero (1978-1983), Des Plaines, Rock Island, and Springfield were ARIMA (2,0,0)(Sp,Sd,Sq) or ARIMA (1,0,0)(Sp,Sd,Sq).

Seasonal Relationships

Seasonal fluctuation in Index larceny/theft was generally strong (see Table N). The most common model type was ARIMA (p,d,q)(0,1,1), which described 12 of the 14 jurisdictions.

Cicero was the only jurisdiction in which the descriptive seasonal analysis (see Table F) indicated no seasonal fluctuation in larceny/theft. However, the ARIMA analysis found that the later years of the series (1978 to 1983) contained much more seasonal fluctuation than the earlier years.

Model Change in Cicero

The best ARIMA model for Cicero larceny/theft (see Figure 11) in the early years was ARIMA (2,1,0)(1,0,0). This model had the following AR(1), AR(2), and AR(12) weights when estimated for six time periods:

Time Period	AR(1)	AR(2)	AR(12)
1972-1977	30	31	34
1972-1978	28	35	45
1972-1979	31	27	- 02
1972-1980	34	25	. 04
1972-1981	- 36	25	. 05
1972-1982	35	25	.08

Table N. Index Larceny/Theft ARIMA Models, 1972-1983

Model					regressive Moving Average stimate Estimate		Seasonal Autoregressive Estimate			Seasonal Moving Average Estimate				
Jurisdiction	Model (p.d.a)(Sp.Sd.Sa)	Mean	Low	Best	Hiah	Low	Best	Hiah	Low	Best	High	Low	Best	Hiah
Arlington Heights	(0,1,1)(0,1,1)					. 55	.68	.81				.87	.91	.95
Aurora	(0,1,2)(0,1,1)					. 28 . 10	.45 .27	.62 .44				.83	. 88	.94
Cicero ^a 1972-1977	(2,1,0)(1,0,0)			30 31	06 07				59	34	10			
1978-1983	(1,0,0)(0,1,1)			. 37	.61						, 1992, 1992, 1993 } = 1 − 1 992, 1993 - 1993, 1993	.66	. 80	.94
Decatur	(0,1,1)(0,1,1)		ان ••• • • • • • • •			.57	,69	. 82			-	. 86	,91	.96
Des Plaines	(2,0,0)(0,1,1)	۵۵ ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰ ۰۰ ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰	. 25 . 15	.42 .31	.58 .48		-		1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1			. 84	. 89	.94
Elgin	(0,1,1)(0,1,1)					.54	.68	.81				.84	.90	. 96
Evanston	{0,1,1}{0,1,1}				·	. 76	. 85	.94			17 19 19. 19 19 1 9. 19 19 19 19.	. 88	92	.97
Joliet	(0,1,2)(0,1,1)					.21 .13	. 38 . 30	.55 .47	Tan in an stronge San an st ate n Philippine stronge Philippine stronge			.81	.87	.93
Peoria ^b	(1,1,0)(0,1,1)		66	52	37							. 79	. 85	.91
Quincy	(0,1,1)(2,0,0)				1997 1997 - 1997 1997 - 1997	. 50	.63	.76	.09 .18	. 25 . 34	.40 .50			-
Rockford	(0,1,2)(0,1,1)				بن کش ر را در از م	.28 .03	.46 .21	.64 .39				.83	89	.94

			Autoregressive Estimate			Moving Average Estimate			Seasonal Autoregressive Estimate		Seasonal Moving Average Estimate			
Jurisdiction	Model (p.d.g)(Sp.Sd.Sg)	Mean	Low	Best	Hiap	Low	Best	Hish	Low	Best	High	Low	Best	Нтар
Rock Island	(2,0,0)(0,1,1)		. 25 . 04	.43 .21	.60 .38					-		. 86	91	.96
Skokie	(3,1,0)(0,1,1)			66 51 37								.84	,90	.96
Springfield	(1,0,0)(1,1,0)	-	.62	. 74	. 86	· · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		73	66	58			.

^aIn Cicero, the number of crimes known to the police in November 1977 was extremely low relative to other Novembers. This was true for every Index crime. For Index Iarceny/theft, there were 8 in November 1977, but an average of 85 in all other Novembers. The other 11 months of 1977 averaged 69. This led us to suspect the accuracy of the November 1977 figure, but we were unable to obtain additional information from Department of State Police. Therefore, in the analysis in this report, 85 is used for November 1977, ^bCorrected data for August and September 1979 (see Table 12). Also, data were corrected based on updated Department of State Police files. The estimated weights of the AR(1) and AR(2) terms remained fairly constant over time, but the weight of the AR(12) term changed as 1979 and later years were added to the series. In addition, the statistical diagnostics (see Appendix 1) of an ARIMA model (2,1,0)(1,0,0) were not good for the models 1972–1979 and later. In particular, the residuals of these models indicated that seasonal fluctuation was not accounted for by ARIMA (2,1,0)(1,0,0).

For all these reasons, the project searched for another ARIMA model for the period 1978-1983. Although this six-year period is short for reliable model-fitting, the best model appeared to be ARIMA (1,0,0)(0,1,1). The estimated weights of the AR(1) and MA(1) terms for the final two time periods were the following:

Time Period	A	R(1)	MA(12)	
1979-1982		. 36	, 82	
1978-1983		. 37	. 80	

in summary, the best ARIMA model for Cicero Index larceny/theft in the later years contained much more seasonal fluctuation and much less serial fluctuation than the best ARIMA model for the earlier years. The model for 1978-1983 required 12th (seasonal) differencing, but not first (serial) differencing.⁷² With this ARIMA model, (1,0,0)(0,1,1), 1983 was predicted within 3 percent and the average 1983 month within 17 percent (year-ahead method). Such accurate predictions indicate that the level of the series did not change in 1983. As the pattern description graph (see Figure 11) shows, larceny/theft in Cicero increased steadily from 1978. The different patterns in 1972-1977 and 1978-1983 can also be seen in the graph.

Summary: Index Larceny/Theft

條

Index larceny/theft was, by far, the most predictable type of crime that the Predictability Project examined. The number of offenses in the total year was predicted within 10 percent in at least one year (1981, 1982, or 1983) in 11 jurisdictions, and in four cities both 1982 and 1983 were predicted within 10 percent. Further, in the four jurisdictions in which there was a change in level in 1982 or 1983, the year 1981 was predicted within 10 percent (2 percent in Aurora, 4 percent in Des Plaines, 4 percent in Elgin, and 3 percent in Rockford). In Cicero, which had such a complex larceny/theft time series that only 1983 could be predicted, that 1983 prediction was correct within 3 percent.

Even the years indicating a change in level in larceny/theft were predicted more accurately than intervention years in other index crimes. The most *inaccurate* prediction for index larceny/theft was 29 percent in 1982 in Aurora. Compare this to the most inaccurate yearly prediction for index burglary (40 percent in Des Plaines), for index aggravated assault (49 percent in Cicero), or for index robbery (99 percent in Joliet).

Compared to the models for the other index crimes, the models for index larceny/theft were more similar to each other. The serial term was likely to be ARIMA (0,1,1)(Sp,Sd,Sq) or ARIMA (0,1,2)(Sp,Sd,Sq), and the seasonal term was likely to be ARIMA (p,d,q)(0,1,1).

Why is index larceny/theft more predictable than the other index crimes? One reason may be that there are many more observations per month (see Table B). The average number of larceny/theft offenses ranged from 88 in Cicero to 506 in Peoria. Burglary, in contrast, ranged from 51 in Quincy to 265 in Rockford. Another reason for the comparatively good predictions may be that every larceny/theft time series contained strong seasonal fluctuation, and in almost every series this fluctuation was modeled by a simple (p,d,q)(0,1,1) seasonal term. A

⁷²Note that these changes in the best ARIMA model also occurred in Evanston burglary.

great deal of the variation in larceny/theft can be described simply by knowing this seasonal pattern. This produces accurate forecasts rather easily.

In summary, the analysis found the following to be true for index larceny/theft:

- Of the four types of crime analyzed by the project, index larceny/theft was by far the most predictable.
- The best model for a larceny/theft series was likely to be a moving average, seasonal model.
- There was more consistency from jurisdiction to jurisdiction in the best ARIMA model for larceny/theft than for the other crime types.
- Index larceny/theft was strongly seasonal in every jurisdiction analyzed.

Summary: Predictability by Type of Crime

One answer to the question, "is crime predictable?" seems to be that some types of crime are predictable and others are not. In general, the number of Index larceny/theft offenses known to the police was likely to be predictable within 10 percent for the next year and within 20 percent for the next month (year-ahead method). Even when a serendipitous intervention was apparent in a larceny/theft time series, the year in which the change in level occurred was still predictable within 25 percent.

In contrast, index burglary was usually not predictable in the 14 sampled jurisdictions, using the methods of this study. Only three jurisdictions had successful burglary predictions, by the 20 percent yearly and 30 percent monthly criteria, for both the total year and the average month in 1982 and 1983. These three successful cases show that, even though it was usually difficult to identify a burglary model that fit well and predicted accurately, it was not impossible. However, even in the three successful burglary predictions, the degree of accuracy tended to be less than for larceny/theft. In general, successful yearly predictions in Index burglary were accurate within 10 percent to 20 percent, in comparison to successful index larceny/theft predictions, which were accurate within 5 percent to 10 percent.⁷³

The most interesting characteristic about the predictability of Index burglary, when compared to the other Index crimes that were examined, was the high proportion of jurisdictions in which an intervention may have occurred. Why were there so many more serendipitous interventions in burglary than in the other Index crimes? One possibility is that the time period we happened to choose for the Predictability Project, 1972–1983, was a volatile period for burglary victimization in Illinois. There may have been a number of successful programs aimed at reducing the number of burglaries. There also may have been changes in the likelihood of citizens to report burglaries to the police, or changes in the administration of recording those burglaries that were reported. Alternatively, Index burglary may simply not be predictable, and the apparent interventions found by the ARIMA models may reflect only the essentially random character of the number of burglaries over time.

If Index larceny/theft and Index burglary represent the two extremes of predictable and unpredictable crime types, Index robbery and Index aggravated assault represent a middle ground. Index robbery was predicted within 20 percent for at least two years in every jurisdiction analyzed, and within 10 percent in some jurisdictions. In contrast, Index aggravated

⁷³The one exception to this was Peoria, where Index burglary was predicted within 6 percent in 1982 and 2 percent in 1983.

assault predictions ranged from very accurate to completely unpredictable, depending on the jurisdiction.

There were many serendipitous interventions discovered in Index robbery, and, unlike Index larceny/theft, the accuracy of robbery predictions in years with possible interventions was usually very bad. This inaccuracy for intervention years, like the inaccuracy for monthly predictions, may reflect the low number of observations per month in most Index robbery time series. Thus, for example, Index firearm robbery in total Illinois (non-Chicago) had a serendipitous intervention, but with 261 offenses in the average month, the prediction in the intervention year was only 23 percent in error. In contrast, robbery predictions in individual jurisdictions with an intervention were as much as 99 percent in error (Joliet).

Of the four Index crimes analyzed, aggravated assault was the least likely to show a serendipitous intervention. In only one of the 14 jurisdictions, Cicero, was there a definite change in level. (In Quincy, the 23 percent inaccuracy of the 1983 prediction may have been due to small numbers. The analysis in Rock Island indicated a possible change in the model, not in the level.) The reason for this is unclear. One possible explanation is that the actual number of assault victimizations is less likely to change suddenly than other types of victimization. Because assault is a violent, impulsive crime usually committed between friends or relatives, perhaps it responds less dramatically to crime prevention measures or to other societal changes than does a property crime such as burglary. A second possible explanation is that the recording in official records of Index aggravated assault may have been more consistent over the time period analyzed than the recording of other crime types.

In contrast, the analysis of Chicago Index aggravated assault by weapon type, which is discussed in detail in the Chicago Intervention Analysis, suggests the presence of not one but two interventions. One of these, a drop in the number of offenses with a knife, other weapon, or body as a weapon in 1981 and 1982, may have been due to a drop in victimizations resulting from increased enforcement. The second, a 1983 increase in offenses, may have been due to a change in recordkeeping practices.

Predictions for index aggravated assault were generally more accurate for total Illinois (non-Chicago) offenses by weapon type than for each individual jurisdiction. As for index robbery, this greater accuracy may reflect the higher numbers in the total Illinois series. Even when a serendipitous intervention was discovered--1983 index assault with body as a weapon--the year was predicted within 29 percent (year-ahead method). This was more accurate than the 1983 prediction in Cicero, which was apparently also an intervention year. The year-ahead prediction was 49 percent wrong.

Low observations may affect the accuracy of monthly predictions of Index robbery. The only average monthly predictions that were within 30 percent for two years were in Peoria in 1981 and 1982, and Peoria had the most robbery offenses per month of any Illinois (non-Chicago) jurisdiction analyzed (see Table B). In the four weapon types of robbery in Illinois outside Chicago, all predictions were within 30 percent for the average month. The number of observations per month for these four weapon types ranged from 34 to 295 (see note 42).

In Index aggravated assault as well, there seemed to be some relationship between the degree of predictability and the number of occurrences per month. In general, those time series with fewer than 20 or 30 offenses per month over the 1972–1983 period were less likely to have ARIMA models that predicted each month, although the models often successfully predicted the total year.

This does not appear to be an explanation for the difficulty of model-fitting and the low predictability in Index burglary. The number of Index burglary offenses in the average month in any jurisdiction was never fewer than 40, and most jurisdictions had 90 or more per month. On

the other hand, perhaps burglary is different from robbery or aggravated assault. The minimum number of offenses per month that is required for adequate predictability may be larger for burglary. The one index burglary time series that could not be modeled was in Des Plaines, which had the fewest number per month of any burglary series, 46. Arlington Heights, which had 54 offenses per month, did not reach the monthly predictability criterion. However, Quincy, with 51 offenses per month, and Skokie, with 55, were among the nine jurisdictions in which a change in level may have occurred, and Cicero, with 60, was predictable by all criteria.

What are the most common types of ARIMA model? In all four index crimes, the most common serial term was (0,1,1)(Sp,Sd,Sq), although for index robbery this was likely to be the best model only in series with more than 30 offenses per month. The second most common type of serial ARIMA model depended on the type of crime. In index robbery and index larceny/theft, autoregressive models were common--(1,0,0)(Sp,Sd,Sq) or (2,0,0)(Sp,Sd,Sq). The third order autoregressive model (3,0,0)(Sp,Sd,Sq) was the best model for several index aggravated assault series. However, for index burglary the second most common serial term was (0,1,2)(Sp,Sd,Sq), which was also seen in some robbery and larceny/theft series but never in aggravated assault.

The most common seasonal term in the ARIMA models varied not only by the type of crime but also by the number of crimes per month. In robbery and aggravated assault, the majority of jurisdictions had no seasonal term at all, or a very slight degree of seasonality. In burglary, several of the best-fitting and best-predicting models had no seasonal term. In contrast, every larceny/theft model had some sort of seasonal term. If a jurisdiction did have a seasonal term, it was likely to be (p,d,q)(0,1,1), but (p,d,q)(1,0,0) also occurred, especially in smaller jurisdictions and in robbery and aggravated assault.

Overall, then, Index larceny/theft is the most predictable of the Index crime types analyzed, index burglary the least predictable, and index robbery and aggravated assault fall between the two extremes. However, the range of predictive accuracy within each crime type was great. Index larceny/theft is not as predictable in every jurisdiction; index burglary is more predictable is some jurisdictions than others. In the following section, the question, "Is crime predictable?" is answered for each of the 14 jurisdictions.

Predictability by Jurisdiction

Some of the consistency in successful predictions seems to occur within jurisdictions, not within types of crime. In certain jurisdictions, predictive accuracy was usually poor, whatever the crime type. In other jurisdictions, predictive accuracy was usually good, whatever the crime type. In this section, the predictability of crime in each jurisdiction will be discussed. For a list of the best ARIMA model for each jurisdiction, see Appendix 3.

Arlington Heights

With only one index robbery and four index aggravated assaults per month over the 1972–1983 period (see Table B), Arlington Heights had enough observations for analysis in only burglary and larceny/theft (see Figure 30).

The burglary model predicted 1982 and 1983 fairly accurately, but the 1983 predictions were slightly over the 30 percent criterion for the average month. The ARIMA model (2,1,0)(0,1,1) for index burglary, though it was better than alternative burglary models, did not fit as well after 1982 and 1983 were added to the series as it did to the 1972–1981 time

period. The Box-Pierce statistic (see Appendix 1) at lags 12 and 50 were good for the earlier time period, a little worse when 1982 was added, and not really good at all after 1983 was added.⁷⁴ The larceny/theft model, on the other hand, was very successful, predicting 1982 within 6 percent, 1983 within 3 percent, and the average month within 19 percent and 13 percent, respectively.

.

1

Thus, in general, Arlington Heights burglary and larceny/theft offenses appear to be predictable. However, the degree of predictability is higher for larceny/theft than for burglary. Further, because even the best burglary model is still not particularly good statistically, the confidence in a burglary prediction is not as high as in a larceny/theft prediction.

Aurora

in Aurora, index robbery and aggravated assault models predicted the total 1982 and 1983 years successfully, but not the average month. The average number of offenses per month over the entire 1972–1983 period was 15 index robberies and 23 index aggravated assaults (see Table B). These small numbers could account for the lack of accuracy in monthly predictions. However, Aurora index robbery yearly predictions were among the most accurate in the jurisdictions analyzed.

Index burglary and Index larceny/theft had significant moving seasonality under both the additive and the multiplicative assumptions, which suggests the presence of data quality problems. Indeed, the pattern descriptions (see Figures 20 and 26) of these two series show extreme values in 1977. Despite this, however, both series were successfully modeled. In both, an intervention may have occurred. The model for Index burglary was 34 percent too high in predicting 1983, and 1981 and 1982 predictions were not very accurate. The model for Index larceny/theft was 29 percent too high in predicting 1982, but 1981 and 1983 were both predicted within 10 percent.

In Aurora, predictive accuracy depended on the type of crime. Index robbery and larceny/theft were generally predicted accurately, but not index aggravated assault or burglary.

Cicero

With only 12 index robbery offenses and 11 index aggravated assault offenses per month (see Table B), Cicero predictions for these crimes would not be expected to be particularly accurate. However, index robbery (see Figure 31) was predicted more accurately in Cicero than in most jurisdictions for the total years 1982 (within 14 percent) and 1983 (6 percent), though not for the average month.

In contrast, index aggravated assault (see Figure 19) was not predictable in most years, though 1981 and 1982 were predicted within 14 percent and 18 percent, respectively. The actual number in 1983 was 49 percent more than the predicted number. Even though Cicero aggravated assault predictions were poor in many years, including 1978, 1979, and 1980 as well as 1983, the pattern description graph indicates that the serendipitous intervention in 1983 may be the result of a real increase rather than the reflection of a poor model.

⁷⁴The Box-Pierce statistic (see Appendix 1) is 14.3 at lag 12 and 66.2 at lag 50 for the 1972-1983 model. However, alternative model types have worse diagnostics.



Figure 30. Patterns of Change Over Time in Arlington Heights Index Larceny/Theft, 1972-1983

*

1





Attempted and Completed

Source: ICJIA version of Illinois Cept. of State Police UCA Data

Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

Page 91

Burglary was modeled successfully in Cicero, but predictions were not very accurate. The 1982 prediction was within 14 percent, and the 1983 prediction within 8 percent. Again the pattern description graph (see Figure 9) of Cicero burglary indicates that a precipitous change took place midway through the time period. In November 1977 there were extraordinarily few burglary offenses. This was followed by a high number in 1978, and a sharp drop in 1979.

There was also an apparent model change in Index larceny/theft (see Figure 11). The best ARIMA model for 1978-1983 was not the same as the best model for the period 1972-1977. However, the only year in which it was possible to calculate a prediction, 1983, was predicted within 3 percent of the actual number.

Actually, a change in 1977 or 1978 can be seen in the pattern description graphs of all four Cicero Index crimes. The graph of Index robbery suggests a change in 1978, and the graph of Index burglary suggests a sharp drop between 1978 and 1979. Both the graph of Index aggravated assault and the ARIMA analysis suggest that there was not only an increase in 1983, but also changes in 1977, 1978, and 1979. In addition, for each of the four crimes, the number of Index offenses in November 1977 was extremely low relative to other Novembers. For example, there was only one burglary offense in contrast to an average of 57 in the other Novembers.

If models for all four crime types were shown to have changed between 1977 and 1978, it would indicate that the change in the larceny/theft model in Cicero was not unique to larceny/theft. This would suggest that the change in the number of larceny/theft offenses known to the police did not reflect change in the number of larceny/theft victimizations, but reflected rather a change in police administration. A hypothesis for further study would be that there was a change in the administration of data collection and maintenance in Cicero that affected all types of crime and occurred at the end of 1977.

Thus, overall, the predictability analysis in Cicero was characterized by serendipitous interventions in every type of crime. Possibly because of this, predictive accuracy in Cicero depended on the crime. Although robbery and larceny/theft were predicted fairly accurately, burglary was predicted with less accuracy, and predictions for aggravated assault were not accurate at all.

Decatur

Decatur Index robbery (see Figure 13) was exceptionally low during the ten months between October 1981 and July 1982; predictions for every month in this period were too high. In 1983, predictions were still inaccurate. The prediction of the 1983 year was 18 percent too high, and the extremely low number of robberies in December 1983 made that prediction almost three times as high as the actual number (five).

Index aggravated assault (see Figure 32) could not be successfully modeled. Predictions with the best model were 70 percent too high in 1981, and predictions for the average 1981 month were 134 percent in error, and as much as 658 percent wrong. The 1982 prediction was 50 percent too low, and the 1983 prediction was 12 percent too high. Although the prediction for the total 1983 year seems to be fairly good, the prediction for the average 1983 month was wrong by 47 percent.

The best ARIMA model changed for index burglary in 1982 and 1983, and even though the alternative model fit better, it still generated inaccurate predictions.

The most successful Decatur model was for index larceny/theft, but even larceny/theft showed signs of a change in 1982 and 1983. The ARIMA model (0,1,1)(0,1,1) that fits the

1972-1981 period is not a good fit when 1982 and 1983 are added to the series.⁷⁵ Also, Decatur was the only jurisdiction of those analyzed in which Index Iarceny/theft was not predicted within at least 10 percent in at least one year.

In general it seems that crime in Decatur was not predictable in 1982 and 1983 with the methods used here. The numbers of offenses in these years seem to increase and decrease erratically, following no pattern that can be described easily by an ARIMA statistical model. This occurs in every crime examined in Decatur.

Des Plaines

In Des Plaines, only two models were attempted-one for index burglary and the other for index larceny/theft-because the average number of index robbery (three) and index aggravated assault (five from 1975 through 1983) offenses in the average month was too small for analysis (see Table B). Burglary could not be successfully modeled, and there was an apparent change in the level of index larceny/theft in 1983. The actual number of larceny/theft offenses known to the police in 1983 was 27 percent fewer than the predicted number (see Figure 27).

Even though the index burglary model was poor, the index larceny/theft model was very good, by any measure. For example, statistical diagnostics (see Appendix 1) for an ARIMA model (2,0,0)(0,1,1) were adequate for each of the four time periods from 1972–1980 through 1972–1983. Predictions were within 4 percent for 1981 and within 7 percent for 1982. Thus, the decline in 1983 indicated by ARIMA analysis is probably a real decline and not due to er-ratic changes in the time series.

Unlike the situation in Decatur, predictive accuracy seems to be possible in Des Plaines. Even though index burglary could not be modeled, the model for index larceny/theft was not problematic.

Elgin

Index robbery in Elgin (see Figure 10) was predicted successfully for the total years, though not for the average month. Also, one yearly prediction was accurate within 10 percent, but the other was not. This was also true for Index aggravated assault. Since there were only seven robbery offenses and 12 aggravated assault offenses per month over the 1972–1983 period (see Table B), low numbers may account for the low accuracy of these predictions.

Predictions for Index burglary in Elgin (see Figure 21) were better. They were relatively accurate for both the total year (within 10 percent) and the average month (within 20 percent) in 1981 and 1982. However, the 1983 prediction was 38 percent higher than the actual number of burglary offenses. In addition, although both 1982 and 1983 predictions for Index larceny/theft (see Figure 28) were somewhat higher (21 percent and 26 percent, respectively) than the actual numbers, 1981 was predicted within 4 percent, and 1980 within 7 percent.

Despite the problems of low numbers, serendipitous interventions, and the extreme 1974 months in robbery, a well-fitting ARIMA model was identified for each type of crime in Elgin, and these models generated predictions that were accurate within 6 percent to 17 percent for total years without interventions, and within 21 percent to 38 percent for years with interventions. Thus, these four index crimes seem to be somewhat predictable in Elgin.

⁷⁵The Box-Pierce statistic (see Appendix 1) at lag 50 is 64.9 for the 1972-1983 period. However, alternative models for this period have even worse statistical diagnostic results.

Evanston

In Evanston, Index robbery was successfully predicted for the total years, and Index aggravated assault and Index larceny/theft were successfully predicted by all criteria. The degree of accuracy was usually high. Even though there were only 16 Index robbery and 16 Index aggravated assault offenses per month (see Table B), robbery and assault were predicted more accurately in Evanston than in some larger jurisdictions. Robbery was predicted within 5 percent in 1982 and 12 percent in 1983, aggravated assault within 6 percent (1982) and 3 percent (1983), and larceny/theft within 1 percent (1982) and 12 percent (1983).

A change in the model (and the level) of index burglary offenses (see Figure 12) apparently occurred in 1979. Because of this change, no burglary prediction could be calculated for 1982. However, the prediction for 1983 was correct within 6 percent. Further, the model for the ear-lier years predicted 1978 within 1 percent and 1979 within 13 percent.

All five models (two for burglary) were statistically sound, according to the diagnostic tests discussed in Appendix 1. In general, then, the four Index crimes examined in this study were predictable in Evanston.

Joliet

In Joliet, the number of Index robbery offenses (see Figure 17) apparently dropped sharply in 1982 and remained low in 1983. In addition, the number of Index burglaries (see Figure 22) apparently declined more sharply in 1983 than the decline of the previous years. However, neither index aggravated assault (see Figure 33) nor index larceny/theft (see Figure 34) seems to have declined in 1982 or 1983. Thus, the serendipitous interventions in robbery and burglary seem to reflect change in these two crime types only, not in all crime in Joliet.

Except for the years in which the level of the time series appeared to change, predictions in Joliet were generally accurate, and the models were statistically sound. Index robbery offenses were predicted within 14 percent in 1980 and within 7 percent in 1981. Joliet had the most accurate predictions for Index aggravated assault offenses of the jurisdictions analyzed--5 percent in 1982 and 1 percent in 1983. Index burglary was predicted within 2 percent in both 1981 and 1982, and Index larceny/theft was predicted within 2 percent in 1983.

Models in Joliet were generally well-fitting, according to the statistical tests in Appendix 1. The exception to this was the burglary model, which did not have perfect statistical diagnostics, but which did generate good predictions. Overall, then, these four index crimes seem to be predictable in Joliet.



Figure 32. Patterns of Change Over Time in Decatur Index Aggravated Assault, 1972–1983

Figure 33. Patterns of Change Over Time in Joliet Index Aggravated Assault, 1972-1983



Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

Page 95



1

5





<u>Peoria</u>

The four index crimes were more consistently predictable in Peoria than in most other jurisdictions. Although the number of index robbery offenses (see Figure 15) dropped in 1983, relative to previous years, 1982 was predicted within 1 percent and 1981 within 10 percent. In fact, Peoria was the only jurisdiction in which both monthly and yearly accuracy criteria were met for two years for index robbery. The number of index aggravated assault offenses was predicted within 14 percent in 1982 and 3 percent in 1983. Predictions of the number of index burglary offenses were accurate within 6 percent in 1982 and 2 percent in 1983, making Peoria the only jurisdiction in which burglary was predicted within 10 percent for two years.

The number of Index larceny/theft offenses was predicted within 11 percent in 1982 and 18 percent in 1983. This degree of accuracy is rather low for larceny/theft predictions, compared to the accuracy in other jurisdictions. However, the relatively low accuracy in Peoria is accounted for by one extreme month, January 1982 (see Figure 35). There were only 188 offenses in that January, but 388 on the average in the other Januaries. The average 1982 month was predicted within 24 percent, if January is counted, but the months other than January were predicted within 10 percent on the average. It is interesting that Index burglary offenses (see Figure 36) and Index robbery offenses (see Figure 15) also were exceptionally low in January 1982, but that Index aggravated assault offenses (see Figure 37) were not.⁷⁶ Perhaps some clerical change in the recording of property offenses took place in Peoria in that month.

Except for the 1972-1983 index robbery model, which suggested a possible intervention, all the Peoria models were exceptionally well-fitting. Even the index burglary model fits very well for all time periods, which is unusual for burglary models. In fact, burglary and robbery predictions were more accurate in Peoria than in any other jurisdiction analyzed. Overall, the four index time series in Peoria were easy to model, and produced accurate predictions.

Quincy

Quincy, the least populous jurisdiction in the sample, had too few index robberies per month (three) (see Table B) for a model to be attempted. The best model for index aggravated assault was accurate within 5 percent in predicting 1982, but was 23 percent too low in predicting 1983, which may reflect the small number of assault offenses per month (six) in Quincy.

Index burglary (see Figure 23) had enough offenses per month (51) to model, but there were two serendipitous interventions, a decline in 1981 that continued through 1982, and then an additional decline in 1983. However, predictions for index burglary were accurate in other years; within 12 percent in 1979, 1 percent in 1980, and 6 percent in 1982.

In contrast, index larceny/theft was successfully predicted by all criteria. In fact, the larceny/theft predictions in Quincy were more accurate than predictions in any other jurisdiction analyzed. The number of offenses in 1982 was predicted within 2 percent, and 1983 within 1 percent.

⁷⁶Although January 1982 was not exceptionally low, there were unusually high numbers of aggravated assault offenses in Peoria in December 1981 and December 1982 (see Figure 37).



.

. [





Figure 36. Patterns of Change Over Time in Peoria Index Burglary, 1972-1983

Statistical diagnostics indicated that the three Quincy models fit the data. The fits were either excellent (aggravated assault) or adequate (burglary and larceny/theft). In general, then, larceny/theft and probably aggravated assault were predictable in Quincy. Although the pattern of index burglary offenses was somewhat erratic the burglary time series was possible to model, and the model produced accurate predictions for most years. Overall, the analysis in Quincy demonstrates that it is possible for crime to be predictable, even in a jurisdiction in which the average number of offenses per month is relatively low.

Rock Island

Rock Island robbery (see Figure 14) seems to have followed an erratic pattern from 1972 to 1981, but to have become easier to model and to predict in 1983. The number of index robbery offenses in 1982 was 71 percent lower than the predicted number, but the same model predicted 1983 quite accurately (within 10 percent), especially considering that there was an average of only 10 offenses per month in 1983.

The analysis of Index aggravated assault (see Figure 38) was also complex in Rock Island; the best ARIMA model apparently changed in the last two years (see Table J). Despite this complexity, however, predictions were accurate. Even with the old model, 1981 was predicted within 3 percent, 1982 within 11 percent, and 1983 within 15 percent (year-ahead method). With the new ARIMA model (0,1,1)(0,0,1), predictions were even better--1982 within 1 percent and 1983 within 7 percent.

index burglary (see Figure 7) was no exception in Rock Island; it was also difficult to model. The best ARIMA model for the period 1972–1978 was different from the best model for the period 1979–1983. However, in the years in which predictions were possible, they were fairly accurate: within 13 percent in 1978, 12 percent in 1979, and 6 percent in 1983.

Index larceny/theft was the only straightforward model in Rock Island, and even this time series was rather erratic in the early years. In fact, Rock Island larceny/theft dropped sharply between 1976 and 1977, and there were several extremely high months in 1979 (see Figure 39). This was followed by a relatively smooth, predictable period from 1980 through 1983. Despite the erratic pattern of the early years, the larceny/theft model generated accurate predictions, within 5 percent in 1982 and 6 percent in 1983.

Extreme values in 1979 are seen not only in Rock Island larceny/theft, but also in burglary and aggravated assault, frough not in robbery. In fact, all four crimes seem to have followed two different patterns, one month-to-month pattern in the early years through 1979 or 1980, and another pattern in the later years from 1980 or 1981 through 1983. This suggests the hypothesis that some basic change took place, perhaps a change in crime recording, in Rock Island between 1979 and 1980.

However, the years 1982 and 1983 were both predicted within 10 percent for all four index crimes (except 1982 burglary, for which a prediction was not possible). Thus, crime in Rock island seems to be predictable in the more recent time period, though it was not predictable in the early years of this analysis.



Figure 38. Patterns of Change Over Time in Rock Island Index Aggravated Assault, 1972–1983





1

Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

Page 100

Rockford

Rockford was the most populous jurisdiction, except for Chicago, analyzed in the Predictability Project (see Table A), and all four index crimes had sufficient offenses per month for analysis. However, even in Rockford, index robbery was not always predictable in the average month. Although the years were predicted within the 20 percent criterion--1981 within 10 percent, 1982 within 11 percent, and 1983 within 16 percent--the average 1981 month was predicted only within 29 percent, the average 1982 month within 31 percent, and the average 1983 month within 21 percent.

The model for Index aggravated assault had very good statistical diagnostic results, and predictions were within 2 percent in 1982 and 8 percent in 1983. This was one of the most accurate aggravated assault predictions of any jurisdiction analyzed.

The Rockford models for Index burglary and Index larceny/theft also had good statistical diagnostics, but indicated serendipitous interventions. The number of burglary offenses apparently fell in 1982 and remained low in 1983 (see Figures 24a and 24b), and the number of larceny/theft offenses fell in 1983 (see Figure 29). On the other hand, predictions for the other years were very good: Index burglary was predicted within 1 percent in 1981 and 4 percent in 1983, and Index larceny/theft was predicted within 4 percent in 1981 and 12 percent in 1982.

In general, crime in Rockford seems to be predictable. Each of the four time series was relatively easy to model. Except for the two serendipitous interventions, most crimes and years were predicted within 10 percent.

Skokie

In Skokie, there were too few Index robberies (three) and Index aggravated assaults (six) per month for either model to be attempted.⁷⁷

The index burglary model in Skokie predicted 1981 within 4 percent, and the average 1981 month within 16 percent. However, two months of 1982 were extremely low, and were not predicted within the 30 percent criteria (see Figure 25). Because these 1982 months were so low, and the model used them to predict 1983, the accuracy of 1983 predictions in those months was also low. Except for those months, however, index burglary was predictable in Skokie.

Skokie Index larceny/theft was predictable by all criteria. (Unlike index burglary, January and February 1982 were not extreme months for index larceny/theft.) However, the degree of predictive accuracy for larceny/theft was less in Skokie than in most jurisdictions--8 percent in 1982 and 18 percent in 1983.

In summary, index burgiary and larceny/theft in Skokle were predictable by the generous 20 percent yearly and 30 percent monthly criteria. However, in both crime types, the degree of accuracy was less than in other jurisdictions that were considered predictable.

⁷⁷Skokie aggravated assault had an average of more than five per month if the entire 1972-1983 period is considered, but had fewer per month, on the average, if only the final years of the time period are considered. Therefore, it was not analyzed.
Springfield

In Springfield, all four Index crimes were predictable. Even Index robbery (see Figure 40), which had only 23 offenses per month, was predictable within 7 percent in 1982 and 5 percent in 1983, the most accurate of any jurisdiction analyzed. The 1982 prediction for the average month was only slightly too high (32 percent).

All four crimes were difficult to model in Springfield, but Index aggravated assault was the most difficult. The best assault model had relatively poor statistical diagnostics, but 1982 was still predicted within 2 percent, and 1983 within 15 percent.⁷⁸

Although Index burglary and Index larceny/theft were sometimes difficult to model in Springfield, the final models produced accurate predictions. Index burglary had an extremely high month in 1978 (see Figure 41), and the year 1975 was high for Index larceny/theft (see Figure 42a). The high number of larceny/theft offenses from January 1975 through March 1976 is not an artifact of seasonal fluctuation, because it is also seen after seasonality has been removed from the series (see Figure 42b). Despite these difficulties, the statistical diagnostics of the Index burglary and the Index larceny/theft models were good, and so were the predictions. Burglary was predicted within 14 percent in 1982 and 9 percent in 1983, and larceny/theft within 10 percent in 1982 and 13 percent in 1983.

Although all four index crimes were difficult to model in Springfield, the models that were finally identified generated accurate predictions. The index robbery model was quite accurate—within 10 percent in both years. However, the models for the other three crime types generated predictions that were more than 10 percent wrong in at least one year.

Summary: Predictability by Jurisdiction

Although the circumstances of each jurisdiction are unique, it is possible to make some generalizations about the degree of predictability of the four index crimes in the 14 jurisdictions analyzed in the Predictability Project.

Jurisdictions in which Crime was Usually Predictable

in five of the 14 jurisdictions the four index crimes were, in general, predictable. In these jurisdictions, for each index crime with at least five observations per month, it was possible to identify an ARIMA model that had adequate statistical diagnostics according to the tests in Appendix 1. This model generated forecasts that were more accurate than the forecasts generated for the same crime in other jurisdictions. These jurisdictions were the following:

- Elgin
- Evansion
- Joliet
- Peoria
- e Rockford

⁷⁸The Box-Pierce statistics at lag 12 are all right, but the statistics at higher lags are not good. This is true for every model from 1972-1981 through 1972-1983.







10



Figure 42a. Patterns of Change Over Time in Springfield Index Larceny/Theft, 1972-1983

-

T

Ĩ

:#



Figure 42b. Patterns of Change Over Time in Springfield Index Larceny/Theft, 1972-1983 (Seasonally Adjusted)



In these five jurisdictions, all four index crimes were predictable, with no qualification. The time series were easy to model. Predictions were usually within 10 percent for each year and 20 percent for the average month. Even index robbery, which was problematic in most juris-dictions, was adequately predicted in these jurisdictions.

These jurisdictions were some of the most populous in the sample. Peoria and Rockford were the two largest jurisdictions analyzed, except for Chicago, and Elgin, the smallest of these five, still had a population of 63,798 in 1980.

Jurisdictions in which Some Crimes, but not Others, were Predictable

Three of the following four jurisdictions had too few robberies, and two had too few aggravated assaults, for analysis. Of the crimes that could be analyzed, only one or two of the models were both well-fitting and predicted accurately. These jurisdictions and their predictable crime types were:

- Arlington Heights: larceny/theft
- Aurora: robbery and larceny/theft
- Des Plaines: larceny/theft
- Quincy: larceny/theft

The best model for Arlington Heights burglary was neither accurate nor a good statistical fit, but the larceny/theft model predicted 1982 and 1983 within 10 percent. Aurora Index robbery predictions were among the most accurate in the jurisdictions analyzed, and predictions for larceny/theft were within 10 percent for two years. However, aggravated assault and burglary were not predicted accurately.

The Des Plaines burglary model was poor statistically, and also inaccurate in the predictions it generated, but the larceny/theft model fit and predicted well. In Quincy, the pattern of Index burglary over time was somewhat erratic, and the number of observations was very low for aggravated assault. However, predictions for Index larceny/theft were better than those in any other jurisdiction, and considering the small numbers, predictions for other crime types were good in Quincy.

Jurisdictions with Serendipitous Interventions in Every Crime

The jurisdictions with serendipitous interventions in every crime were:

- Cicero
- Rock Island

In Cicero, the analysis of each of the four crime types indicated that a change had occurred in 1977 or 1978. Robbery and larceny/theft were predicted fairly accurately, burglary was predicted with less accuracy, and the aggravated assault predictions were not accurate at all.

In Rock Island, the period before 1980 was generally erratic and unpredictable, but after 1980, all four index crimes had very accurate predictions.

Jurisdictions with Borderline Predictability

Two other jurisdictions had various difficulties in analysis, but in the end had adequate predictions, according to the generous 20 percent yearly and 30 percent monthly criteria:

• Skokie

• Springfield

In Skokle, both burglary and larceny/theft--the only crimes analyzed--were predictable within 20 percent for both 1982 and 1983. However, larceny/theft was predicted within 8 percent in 1982 and 18 percent in 1983, which is not particularly accurate for larceny/theft. Burglary was predicted accurately in 1981 (within 4 percent), but 1982 was only predicted within 27 percent and 1983 within 15 percent.

In Springfield all four Index crimes were difficult to model, and the predictive results were borderline. All of the years were predicted within 20 percent, but only half within 10 percent.

Jurisdiction in which Crime was Not Predictable

There was one jurisdiction in which crime was not predictable:

• Decatur

All of the models in Decatur were poor statistical fits and did not predict accurately. The most accurate predictions, in larceny/theft, were less accurate than larceny/theft predictions in any other jurisdiction.

Summary and Discussion

Methodological Goals

Time Series Data Quality Assessment

One of the methodological goals of the Predictability Project was to assess the availability of data of sufficient quality and quantity to conduct time series modeling and prediction analyses.

Quantity of Data

The analysis discovered that the minimum number of observations per month that is necessary in order to calculate accurate monthly predictions of criminal offenses with ARIMA is about 20. Crimes with fewer than 20 occurrences per month are not as likely as crimes that occur more frequently to meet either the statistical fit criterion or the predictive accuracy criterion. This is one reason why index larceny/theft, which occurs more frequently than the other three types of crime, was predictable in more jurisdictions than the other crime types. In the three jurisdictions where only one crime was predictable, it was larceny/theft that was predictable; in the one jurisdiction in which two crimes were predictable, the crimes were robbery and larceny/theft.

The minimum number of years of data necessary to identify a model was especially important in index burglary because the analysis discovered unexpected evidence of an intervention in most jurisdictions. The period available for a separate model after the occurrence of an intervention may be only a year or two. Generally, the project was not unable to identify a model when the number of years of monthly data was five or fewer. However, the practical experience of this project indicated that, for some series, model identification and accurate prediction seem to be possible with five years of monthly data, instead of the minimum of seven that is usually recommended.

Also, in many of the situations in which an unexpected intervention occurred in the last year or two, the project was able to determine whether or not the level or the ARIMA model probably had changed in the final year or two of the series. Although a separate ARIMA model cannot be identified for only one or two years and we did not use a computer package that would have measured the exact effect of an intervention, it seemed to be possible to determine whether a change in model may have occurred in the final year or two. In a number of time series, changes in level or even model were identified, even when the change apparently occurred in the final year. Even without calculating an exact transfer function, much can be discovered about change in a time series by the relatively simple and straightforward comparison of intervention-method versus year-ahead method projections, and by the comparison of model parameters as each year is added to the series.

Quality of Data

U.

The initial pattern description analyses that were conducted routinely on every series revealed missing or obviously questionable data in many cases. These apparent errors had not been noticed earlier because previous analyses had used aggregate groups of months, jurisdictions, and crime types. This indicates that, for the continuing improvement of data quality, pattern description analyses should be conducted on a routine basis, as a check for missing data and outliers. This routine analysis should not be conducted on aggregate totals, but rather on the smallest available data categories.

An additional data-quality issue arises because of the surprisingly high number of serendipitous interventions found in the analysis of these 14 jurisdictions. The results of this study suggest that it would be dangerous to assume that the number of index burgiaries in illinois jurisdictions follow a simple, consistently defined pattern from year to year. Whether the discontinuous changes in the number of officially recorded burgiaries in a given jurisdiction is due to change in the number of burgiary victimizations, in the willingness of victims to report burgiaries to the police, or in police recordkeeping practices, cannot be ascertained from the Predictability Project analysis. However, other research (Cook, 1985:483) suggests that "the fraction of all robberies reported to the police (and included in the police departments' annual crime reports) differs among cities and varies over time."

It is often argued that, although Uniform Crime Reports offense data may not be comparable from jurisdiction to jurisdiction, the data can be used to compared over time the level of crime within the same jurisdiction. However, this analysis found a surprising number of cases in which this was not so. This argues against the assumption that crime patterns can be analyzed over time within a jurisdiction. Therefore, analysts should not assume that a rapid increase or decrease in officially recorded crime is due to an increase or decrease in the number of victimizations, unless there is corroborative evidence that this is the case.

Predictive Modeling Methods

This methodological goal of the Predictability Project was twofold:

- 1) to determine whether any type of ARIMA model would successfully fit crime series, and
- 2) to determine whether certain kinds of model would tend to fit certain kinds of crime, or crime in certain places.

Statistical Adequacy and Predictive Accuracy

In the process of trying to find the best ARIMA model for each of the local-level offense series in this project, we discovered that an ARIMA model could generally be found to fit most but not all of them. However, the project also discovered that merely finding a good-fitting model, by statistical criteria, is not enough to insure that accurate predictions would be generated. This is true for two reasons. In the first place, these crime series contained many unexpected (serendipitous) interventions, few of which could have been predicted before they happened. In the second place, a good statistical fit is not the same thing as predictive accuracy.

In the course of analysis, it often occurred that an ARIMA model that seemed to be a perfect fit according to statistical diagnostic tests was actually a terrible predictor. On reflection, this should not be very surprising. The adequacy of a statistical fit is based on analysis of the residuals--the difference between the fitted data and the actual data. These residuals must be random for the fit to be considered adequate. However, though the residuals are required to be random, they are not required to be small. In other words, there is no requirement that the fitted data (or the predicted data) be close to the actual data, only that the difference between the fitted and the actual data be random. Therefore, as the analysis progressed, it became clear that the criterion of predictive accuracy (in predictions for 1981, 1982, and 1983) was just as important as the requirement for statistical adequacy in determining whether or not a particular ARIMA model successfully fit a crime series.⁷⁹

Common Types of ARIMA Model for Crime Data

If we knew that a certain type (or types) of ARIMA model was very common for a particular type of crime in most jurisdictions, it would be possible to construct standard programs that would attempt to fit the more common ARIMA model types for a given type of crime. Were there particular types of ARIMA models that seemed to fit certain types of crime, or crime in certain jurisdictions?

In the 14 jurisdictions analyzed, there was some consistency from place to place in the best-fitting type of ARIMA model for a certain type of crime. Similarly, the seasonal patterns identified by the project showed some consistency. For example, in index robbery, the degree of seasonality seemed to be related to the number of offenses in the average month. Index larceny/theft was strongly seasonal in every jurisdiction analyzed. This information may make model identification in the future somewhat easier than it was in this project.

What are the most common types of ARIMA model? In all four index crimes, the most common serial term was (0,1,1)(Sp,Sd,Sq), although for index robbery this was likely to be the best model only in series with more than 30 offenses per month. The second most common type of serial ARIMA model depended on the type of crime. In index robbery and index larceny/theft, autoregressive models were common--(1,0,0)(Sp,Sd,Sq) or (2,0,0)(Sp,Sd,Sq). The third order

⁷⁹A good, practical example of this arose in analysis conducted after the Predictability Study had been completed. In an attempt to model the number of Index forcible rape (criminal sexual assault) offenses per month in Chicago from 1972 through 1986, the model for the periods 1974–1980, 1974–1981, and 1974–1982 were all very good statistical fits, but the predictions were extremely erroneous. For example, the prediction for the average 1981 month was 62 percent wrong. Since the monthly errors were randomly positive and negative, the problem seems to be an erratic series, not a change in level. After the reform in data collection practices in 1983 and 1984, the best-fitting ARIMA model is exactly the same as the model for the earlier period. However, the predictions are much more accurate. The prediction for 1985 was only 2 percent too low, and the average 1985 month was predicted within 7 percent; the prediction for 1986 was 5 percent too low, and the average 1986 month was predicted within 14 percent. Also, the level of the series increased in 1983 (by about 50 percent) and 1984 (by about 12 percent). It is tempting to conclude that the reform in data administration not only increased the number of Index rapes known to the police, but also decreased the random and erratic nature of the data.

autoregressive model (3,0,0)(Sp,Sd,Sq) was the best model for several index aggravated assault series. For index burglary the second most common serial term was (0,1,2)(Sp,Sd,Sq), which was also seen in some robbery and larceny/theft series but never in aggravated assault.

The most common seasonal term in the ARIMA models varied not only by the type of crime but also by the number of crimes per month. In robbery and aggravated assault, the majority of jurisdictions had no seasonal term at all, or a very slight degree of seasonality. In burglary, several of the best-fitting and best-predicting models had no seasonal term. In contrast, every larceny/theft model had some sort of seasonal term. If a jurisdiction did have a seasonal term, it was likely to be (p,d,q)(0,1,1), but (p,d,q)(1,0,0) also occurred, especially in smaller jurisdictions and in robbery and aggravated assault.

Resources Necessary for Prediction

How difficult and time-consuming is the accurate prediction of criminal offenses with the ARIMA method? What expert skills are needed? Can these skills and decisions be quantified into a list of standard instructions that can be followed by anyone who wants to predict crime?

In the Predictability Project, the identification of the best type of ARIMA model for a particular time series, using the dual criteria of statistical adequacy and predictive accuracy, was a difficult and lengthy process. It was also somewhat subjective. Once a model type has been identified, a number of computer packages will estimate the model. See Appendix 2 for a comparison of four of these packages. However, identifying the best type of model is difficult and subjective. Two models that are equally good according to statistical tests may actually describe the stochastic process in the series very differently, and produce completely different forecasts.

The difficulties presented by the ARIMA method were analyzed in a comparison of the accuracy of forecasting methods conducted by the best time series forecasters in the world (Makridakis, et al., 1984). In this comparison, over 1000 economic time series were used. The ARIMA Box-Jenkins method was found to require the most time, even for these experts (Makridakis, et al., 1984:105). Each analysis required over an hour, on the average. This was much more time than the other methods required, partly because the ARIMA analyses could not be automated to be run mechanically. They depended to a great extent on the judgment of the expert.

In the Predictability Project, the ability to find a model that met both statistical and accuracy criteria appeared to be strongly related to the experience of the analyst. The time series analyses were all done twice, once by a less experienced analyst and again by someone more experienced. Although the initial models were successful according to the generous criteria of the project, they tended to suffer from several problems. These problems are mentioned here as examples of possible pitfalls in ARIMA modeling for the unwary analyst.

The initial models tended to be very complex, containing in most cases AR as well as MA terms. This improved the statistical diagnostics, but the predictive accuracy of these models was not good. The simpler models presented in this report do not always fit perfectly, accord-ing to statistical tests, but they compensate by predicting much more accurately than the more complex models.

The initial models tended to fit well or predict well in one time period, but not in all time periods. In the final analysis, we strengthened the criteria for model fitting--models had to fit and to predict for at least two years, and if there was any question, the analysis was done for a third year to be sure. In addition, the final analysis set formal criteria for model-fitting in the case of a serendipitous intervention. Thus, the analysis of each series in the Predictability Project included not only the usual ARIMA process of model identification, but the repetition of this process for at least two, usually three, and often many more time periods, as well as analyzing monthly and yearly predictive accuracy by two methods—intervention and year-ahead. This involved analysis generated a great deal of information about each series, but required a correspondingly great amount of analyst's time. In fact, each series required days of work in all, much more than the time required in the Makradakis forecasting study.

Is ARIMA analysis worth the expenditure of resources? Can it be useful on a daily basis in the field, or is it appropriate only for large-scale research projects? The ARIMA analysis as it was conducted in the Predictability Project is obviously useless to answer a quick question in the field that might require an answer within an hour or two, unless some background work has already been done. On the other hand, it would be possible to build on the knowledge obtained from the successes and failures of the Predictability Project to 1) quickly update the predictions for each of the offenses analyzed in the 14 jurisdictions of the project, and 2) to expand the projections to other jurisdictions, on request.

Once a well-fitting ARIMA model has been identified for a certain jurisdiction and crime type, the resources required to update the predictions yearly or monthly are much less, and the benefits of doing so are potentially high. For example, with any of the four crime types in the 14 jurisdictions analyzed in the Predictability Project, predictions for 1984, 1985, 1986, and so on could be calculated relatively easily and automatically, and updated on a regular basis. Any deviation (high prediction errors) could be analyzed, using the methods described in this report, to determine whether such a deviation indicates a true increase or decrease, or only erratic changes in the time series. In the following section, we discuss some rules of thumb for making this determination.

Time Series Intervention Methods

The Discovery of Serendipitous Interventions

An unexpected result of the predictability analysis was that it occasionally uncovered an apparent change in level of the series or ARIMA model, indicating that an intervention had taken place, even in jurisdictions, crimes, and times where no intervention had been predicted. Some of these unexpected findings are intriguing. For example, the best ARIMA model for Evanston burglary appears to be different in the time periods 1972–1978 and 1979–1983. The later period contains much more seasonal fluctuation. In addition, the number of burglaries is higher. A cause of both changes could be the burglary prevention program that began in 1979. One goal of a burglary prevention program would be to educate citizens to recognize and report suspicious situations. If there is an increase in the number of reported burglary attempts, and if these incidents follow a seasonal pattern, then the effects of a prevention program could be increased incidents known to the police and increased seasonality.

Time series pattern description, with its simple description of the general pattern over time, can often find, and point out to the user, a sharp change or discontinuity in the time series. For example, the drop in 1983 in the number of robbery offenses in Peoria, which can be seen in the pattern description graph (see Figure 15), was also found in the ARIMA analysis. However, the more precise and painstaking ARIMA analysis also discovered some serendipitous interventions that were too subtle to have been discovered in the pattern description graphs. Some of the interventions, Rock Island Index burglary for example, were changes in ARIMA model, not in the level of the series. However, ARIMA analysis also occasionally found increases or decreases in level that had not been discovered in the pattern description graph. Usually this happened when the number of offenses had been increasing or decreasing steadily for several years, and then suddenly the increase or decrease became much sharper. (For example, see

the discussion of total Illinois (non-Chicago) firearm robbery and Joliet Index robbery, page 45.)

When an intervention is discovered through analysis and not hypothesized beforehand, the cause could be that the predictive accuracy for the analysis of that series tends to be poor for every year. How is it possible to differentiate between a series that is generally unpredictable, and a series that has an actual change in level? With the time series analyzed here, the Predic-tability Project found the following rules of thumb to be helpful:

- Look at the prediction errors for each individual month. Most monthly errors should be in the same direction (negative or positive) as the prediction error for the total year. Otherwise, there was probably not a real change in level. For example, if the prediction for the total year is too low, the predictions for most months should also be low, or they should become increasingly negative over time. If the monthly predictions are highly erroneous but some errors are in the positive direction and others are in the negative direction, the series is probably erratic.
- Conduct both pattern description analysis and ARIMA analysis. The results of these should agree.
- In the ARIMA analysis, predict several years, not just one year. If most years are unpredictable, then the series is probably unpredictable.
- Look for a change in the degree of predictive accuracy, occurring a year or two after the suspected intervention. If the same ARIMA model predicts much more accurately in the years after the suspected change in level took place than in the years before, an improvement in the consistency of data recording may be the reason. This may have happened with Chicago sexual assault data (see note 79).

Year - Ahead versus Intervention Predictions

The project found the calculation of year-ahead predictions and intervention predictions to be a useful tool, at least at the exploratory level, for describing the possible reasons for a change in a time series. (For a review of these two predictive methods, see "Method of Measuring Predictive Accuracy," page 21).

If the year-ahead predictions for a year and the average month in that year are not accurate, but the intervention predictions for the same time period are accurate, then there is some indication that the level of the series changed (increased or decreased) but not the best model. Conversely, if both the year-ahead predictions and the intervention predictions are not accurate, there is then an indication that the best ARIMA model changed.

However, these are exploratory indications only, not proof. To provide a convincing argument that the level or the model really changed, the indications from the year-ahead predictions and intervention predictions need to be backed up by corrobatory evidence. In the case of a suspected change in level, this evidence would be the rules of thumb just discussed above-pattern of monthly errors, agreement of pattern description analysis, analysis over several years, and a change in error patterns over time. In the case of a suspected change in model, the following would provide additional evidence that a change in ARIMA model type, suggested by intervention method predictions, in fact occurred:

 Statistical diagnostics of the model, such as the Box-Pierce statistics at lags 12 and 50, were good before the suspected model change, but not after.

- Estimated weights for AR or MA terms changed (change is indicated when the AR or MA term becomes zero within two standard errors, or increases more than two standard errors higher than the estimate was before the intervention occurred).
- A different model fits better and predicts better than the old model for the additional years, but the old model still fits and predicts better for the earlier period.

These are relatively simple analyses to do at an exploratory level, in order to decide whether or not a change in level or model is a reasonable hypothesis. At a more formal level, such hypotheses can be tested with an experimental design like the Chicago Intervention Analysis described in the following section or by the statistical analysis of a hypothesized transfer function. However, the descriptive methods discussed here should help to avoid the misspecification of these formal hypotheses.

Predictive Accuracy

What is the degree of accuracy that may be expected with crime data? Criteria for predictive accuracy for economic data are often set at 10 percent for the following year or month. If that criterion were used for these local-level criminal offense time series, most of them would be categorized as unpredictable. However, certain crime types, and crime in certain jurisdictions, did meet these classical criteria.

. .

The reader may have noticed that predictions for 1981 and 1982 are often as accurate or more accurate than predictions for 1983. There were very few cases in which 1983 predictions were more accurate than 1982 predictions. However, this does not mean that radical changes took place in 1983 throughout Illinois. The poorer 1983 predictive accuracy was simply a result of the design of the study. Model-fitting was done first for the earlier years, and then models fitting the early years were fit to the later years.

Predictability by Type of Crime

It is often argued that, although Uniform Crime Reports offense data may not be comparable from jurisdiction to jurisdiction, the data can be used for comparisons over time of the level of crime within the same jurisdiction. However, this analysis found a surprising number of cases in which this was not so. Serendipitous interventions, or unexpected sharp increases or decreases, occurred repeatedly.

Index larceny/theft was by far the most predictable type of crime that the Predictability Project examined. The number of offenses in the total year was predicted within 10 percent in at least one year in 11 jurisdictions, and in four jurisdictions both 1982 and 1983 were predicted within 10 percent.

Of the 14 jurisdictions in which index burglary was analyzed, only three models generated successful predictions, two jurisdictions could not be successfully modeled at all, and in the remaining nine the analysis discovered a serendipitous intervention.

The predictive accuracy for index aggravated assault ranged from very accurate to completely unpredictable, depending on the jurisdiction.

Overall, predictability for Index robbery was more successful in places with more robberies per month. However, jurisdictions with fewer than 30 but more than 10 robberies per month could often meet the yearly predictability criterion, if not the criterion for the average month.

Predictability by Jurisdiction

Predictive accuracy is related to the jurisdiction as well as to the type of crime. The Predictability Project found that, in general, index larceny/theft was likely to be predictable, but that index burglary was not very predictable. Index robbery and aggravated assault were predictable in some jurisdictions but not in others. However, in certain jurisdictions, predictive accuracy was usually poor, whatever the crime type, and in other jurisdictions, predictive accuracy was usually good, whatever the crime type. Therefore, it seems that the answer to the question, "Is crime predictable?" depends on the jurisdiction as well as on the type of crime.

Why do offenses officially recorded by the police follow a predictable pattern is some jurisdictions, but not in others? It does not seem reasonable that the actual number of victimizations of a certain type of crime would be random and unpredictable in some jurisdictions but patterned and predictable in other jurisdictions. The definition and recording of crime is not always completely objective (Miller and Block, 1985). To become a crime known to the police, an incident first must be reported to the police,⁸⁰ and then must be recognized and recorded by the police as a crime (Block and Block, 1980). Whether or not a crime actually occurred is often a matter of interpretation. Therefore, the number of crimes known to the police each month is related not only to the number of crimes that occur but also to the law enforcement jurisdiction's administrative practices in defining and recording crime. Thus one result of the Predictability Project was that even though crime itself may be predictable, administrative decisions may be unpredictable, at least in some jurisdictions.

⁸⁰The victim or a witness may report the incident to the police, or the police may discover the incident in other ways, such as through police patrol, offender's confession, and so on.

Chicago Intervention Analysis

The primary objectives of the Predictability Project were to determine whether or not crime is predictable for certain jurisdictions and particular types of crime, and to discover the best methods for making such a determination. An additional objective was to use the methods of crime prediction that were tested and refined in the first part of the Predictability Project in an analysis of the effect of an actual intervention in Chicago--a change in the collection and maintenance of criminal offense data.

The Chicago Intervention Analysis measures the effect of the change in the administration of recordkeeping--the intervention-- on the number of occurrences of offenses known to the police. The time series experiment design of this analysis is discussed in the sections, "Methodological Goals" (page 10) and "Project Design and Methods" (page 15). Here, we present and discuss the results of that analysis.

Answers to two practical questions were sought in the Chicago Intervention Analysis:

- 1) Did the change in data collection and recording practices in Chicago in 1983 affect the number of crimes officially recorded, or were the changes in the number of crimes due to actual increases in crime occurrences? and
- 2) How much of the increase in the number of each type of recorded crime was due to recordkeeping, and how much to changes in crime occurrence?

Statistical Evidence of Intervention

This section explains in detail the methods and criteria the study used to determine whether or not a change in the number of offenses for a particular crime type could have been due to the change in the administration of data collection and maintenance in Chicago.

The study hypothesized that if an intervention had occurred in the collection and recording of Chicago offense data for a particular crime in 1983, this change would result in an increase in the number of crimes known to the police, relative to the number in previous years. The accuracy of the prediction of 1983 would be less than the accuracy of the prediction of 1982 or 1981. The best ARIMA model might also change when the year 1983 was added to the series. In addition, the predictive accuracy for 1983 would be less than the predictive accuracy for the same year and the same crime in Illinois (non-Chicago).

Predictive Accuracy

If a change in the number of crimes was due to a change in recordkeeping practices occurring in 1983, predictions for the total year 1983 and the average 1983 month (year-ahead method) would be less accurate than predictions for 1981 or 1982, using the same model. In addition, if the change in the number of recorded offenses in Chicago was due to the change in the administration of recordkeeping that occurred at that time only in Chicago, then predictions for the total year and the average 1983 month in Chicago (year-ahead method) would be less accurate than 1983 predictions for Illinois (non-Chicago), for the same crime.

Evidence of a Change in the Model

Other evidence of an intervention in Chicago would be a change in the best ARIMA model when the year 1983 was added to the data set. In other words, the best model for the period 1974-1982 would not be a good-fitting model for 1983 Unfortunately, a one-year period is too short to fit a separate model that could be compared to the best 1974-1982 ARIMA model.⁸¹ Therefore, the project considered any of the following to indicate the presence of a change in ARIMA model in 1983:

- The adjusted Box-Pierce statistics (see Appendix 1) for important lags (such as 12 or 30) are worse in the 1974-1983 model than in the 1974-1981 model or the 1974-1982 model.
- The low or high estimate for one of the AR or MA weights crosses zero in the 1974-1983 model, but not in the 1974-1982 model or the 1974-1981 model.
- The estimates of the AR or MA terms are much higher or lower in the 1974-1983 model than in the 1974-1982 model or the 1974-1981 model.
- Using the intervention method, 1983 predictions are less accurate than 1982 or 1981 predictions.

Serendipitous Intervention Findings versus a Time Series Experiment

In the first part of the Predictability Project, a number of jurisdictions and crimes showed a change in the number of events in a typical month or a change in the best ARIMA model, both of which indicate a possible intervention. What is the difference between the discovery of an intervention in the first part of this project, and the analysis of an intervention in the second part of the project--the Chicago Intervention Analysis?

In the process of identifying the best ARIMA model for each crime and jurisdiction, the Predictability Project first predicted 1981, then 1982, then 1983, then 1984.⁸² The 1981, 1982, and 1983 predictions were compared to actual figures for those years. For some crimes and jurisdictions, the best model for predicting 1981 and 1982 did not predict 1983 accurately. For others, the best model for predicting 1981 and 1983 did not predict 1982 accurately. These results were considered to suggest the presence of an intervention (see "Is Crime Predictable," page 39).

These findings of possible interventions were serendipitous; they had not been expected when the Predictability Project was designed. Because the apparent interventions were discovered in the course of analysis and not predicted beforehand, it cannot be said that a particular event caused the intervention. For example, even if the timing of the intervention coincided with an event that could provide a reasonable explanation for it, as in the case of

⁸¹At the time this report was written, a program that could compute a transfer function was not available at the Authority. A transfer function would provide an exact measure of the effect of an intervention. However, the exploratory measures used here provide other evidence of the presence of an intervention.

⁸²Predictions for each month of 1984, using the models in tables H, J, L, and N, are available on request.

Evanston burglary, we cannot conclude that the increased emphasis on burglary prevention in Evanston caused the change in the Evanston Index burglary time series.

In contrast, the design of the Chicago Intervention Analysis stated in advance that, because of the occurrence of an intervention (a change in the administration of recordkeeping), certain changes were expected to have occurred at a certain time in the number of certain types of criminal offenses. Greater change was expected to have occurred for some crime types than for others.

To eliminate the possibility that some alternative explanation accounted for the changes in Chicago offenses, for example an unknown event that may have affected crime in Illinois as a whole, the design included a control group (total non-Chicago Illinois). Such a design is called an interrupted time series quasi-experiment with a nonequivalent no-treatment control group (Cook and Campbell, 1979:214). The terms "quasi-experiment" and "nonequivalent" indicate that this intervention design is not a classic experimental design in which cases would be assigned randomly to a treatment group and a no-treatment group. The change in the administration of recordkeeping in Chicago did not, of course, occur randomly. However, even a non-equivalent control group provides much stronger evidence for causality than do the descriptions and *post hoc* explanations of the analysis of serendipitous interventions. Thus, for example, if an increase in index robbery or aggravated assault offenses occurred both in Chicago and in Illinois (non-Chicago), then the cause of this increase could not possibly be the change in Chicago recordkeeping practices.

Index Robbery

The total number of officially recorded Index robbery offenses increased in Chicago in 1983, compared to previous years. This increase was attributed by some to Chicago crime recording practices, which began to change at the beginning of 1983 at the time of the press accusations and the internal audit (Chicago Police Department, 1983), and which had become official practice by the end of the year. However, the Chicago Intervention Analysis hypothesized that this increase in officially recorded offenses did not occur for every type of crime. If a type of robbery had been completely and accurately recorded before the administrative reforms, then the reforms would have had no effect on it.⁸³ The following analysis suggests that firearm robbery was just such a crime.

Index Firearm Robbery

If the number of firearm robbery offenses in Chicago (see Figure 8) increased in 1983, the ARIMA prediction for 1983 would be less accurate than either the 1981 or the 1982 prediction. However, the 1983 prediction was more accurate (see Table O). Even though the five-year period from 1976 through 1980 is short for reliable model-fitting, an ARIMA model (0,0,3)(0,1,1)

⁸³By the same token, a type of crime that had been undercounted before the reforms took place might still be undercounted afterwards, provided that the reforms had no effect on it. Such a type of crime would also show no change in 1983.

did predict 1981 within 15 percent for the total year and 23 percent for the average month.⁸⁴ The same ARIMA model, based on 1976–1981 data, correctly predicted 1982 firearm robberies within 17 percent (year-ahead method). In contrast, 1983 firearm robbery offenses were predicted within 8 percent. Thus, the number of Chicago firearm robbery offenses does not appear to have changed in 1983.

By comparison, firearm robbery offenses in total Illinois (non-Chicago) were predicted within 2 percent in 1981, within 9 percent in 1982, but only within 23 percent in 1983 (yearahead method). The actual number of offenses in 1983 was 23 percent higher than the predicted number. As Figure 16 shows, the number of firearm robberies in total Illinois (non-Chicago) dropped beginning in 1980. However, ARIMA analysis suggests that the number began to level off in mid-1983. All 1983 predictions from July through December were too low.

In summary, if our criteria are those discussed in the section, "Statistical Evidence of an Intervention" (page 115), the number of Chicago firearm robberies did not change in 1983. First, the predictive accuracy in Chicago in 1983 was not worse than the accuracy in 1981 or 1982. Second, the predictive accuracy in Chicago in 1983 was not worse than the accuracy in total IIlinois (non-Chicago). In fact, the predictive accuracy in Chicago in 1983 was better, not worse, in both cases.

Other evidence of an intervention would be a change in the model in 1983, but the model does not appear to have changed. The best ARIMA model in all time periods examined for Chicago firearm robbery was (0,0,3)(1,0,0). The MA(3) and MA(12) estimates for this model were similar in all time periods.⁸⁵

Time Period	MA(1)	MA(2)	MA(3)	MA(12)	
1976-1980	zero	zero	60	. 87	
1976-1981	zero	zero	62	.90	
1976-1982	zero	zero	- , 49	. 90	
1976-1983	zero	zero	40	.87	,

All four models have an MA(3) term but no MA(1) or MA(2) term. In other words, each observation is related to the error of the observation three months ago, but unrelated to the previous month or to the observation two months ago (see Appendix 1).

In summary, there is nothing in the ARIMA diagnostics to indicate a model change in 1983. Also, the intervention method predictions for Chicago in 1983 (see Table O) are as accurate, and even slightly more accurate, than the 1982 intervention method predictions. This, again, argues that there was no change in the ARIMA model in 1983.

Therefore, an intervention does not seem to have occurred in the number of firearm robberies known to the police in Chicago in a typical month of 1983, compared to the number known to the police between 1976 and 1982. The change in the administration of data collection and maintenance apparently had no effect on the likelihood that index firearm robbery offenses would become part of the official record.

⁸⁴Because the initial pattern description of Index firearm robbery in Chicago (see Figure 8) indicated that the pattern changed in 1976, and because subsequent ARIMA diagnostic tests and model-fitting attempts agreed with this, the analysis for firearm robbery begins in the year 1976.

⁸⁵The estimate of the MA(3) term may have decreased after 1982 was added to the series, but this may be due only to the short number of years available for analysis. Also, the estimate of the seasonal MA(12) term is the same in each of the four models, and all of the models fit well according to statistical diagnostics (see Appendix 1).

Since firearm robbery is a serious crime, it always had been accurately and completely recorded, even before the administrative changes in recording practices. Thus, the changes had no effect on the number of firearm robbery offenses in official records.

T	able O	•	Chicago	Intervention A	nalysis:	Index	Robbery,	by	Weapon	
					-					

Percent Error of Predictions

		Ye	ar-Ahe	ad Meti	hod			Inte	rventi	on Metl	nod	
	191	31	19	82	19	983	198	31	19	82	19	983
	Total <u>Year</u>					Avg. <u>Month</u>	Total <u>Year</u>	Avg. Month		Avg. <u>Month</u>		Avg. <u>Month</u>
						Firea	Irm	an An An		•		
Chicago ^a NonChicago	15% 2	23% 10	17% 9	26% 13	8% 23	11% 24	9 % 2	16% 10	11% 0	24% 11	4% 0	1% 14
						Knif	e					
Chicago ^b NonChicago	15 14	24 14	9	29 14	21 10	27 14	13 1	24 14	7 2	28 15	19 2	26 1
						Other W	leapon					
Chicago NonChicago	11 14	19 23	2	20 29	38 17	36 27	4 8	14 25	3 3	18 22	28 10	28 23
						Strong	Jarm					
Chicago ^c NonChicago	12 1	20 1	11 7	18 11	42 1	39 12	7	17	7 2	20 6	27 3	26 12

Predictions of an ARIMA model (1,0,0,)(1,0,0) (see Table H).

.

Index Knife Robbery

There are indications that the best model for Chicago knife robbery (see Table H) changed in 1983.⁸⁶ The best model for the period 1975-1003 was (3.0,0)(1.0,0) a relatively simple model that predicts the current observation with the observation that occurred three months ago and the observation that occurred 12 months ago. However, the best model for the period 1975-1982 was not the same. The parameter weights for ARIMA (3,0,0)(1,0,0) in three time periods were the following:

Time Period	AR(1)	AR(2)	AR(3)	AR(12)
1975-1981	.02	.03	.15	.12
1975-1982	02	.04	.15	.12
1975-1983	.10	.17	. 24	.15

The AR(1) and AR(2) estimates were essentially zero in the two earlier models. However, in the 1975–1983 model, they were both higher (though still not significant--.10 and .17, respectively), and were needed for the model to be considered adequate according to the statistical diagnostic tests (see Appendix 1). Thus, there appears to have been a change in the ARIMA model in 1983.

Further evidence for a change in the ARIMA model is this: An ARIMA model (0,0,0)(1,0,0) fit the 1975-1981 period very well, with a lower Box-Pierce statistic (see Appendix 1) at lag 30 than the alternative ARIMA model (3,0,0)(1,0,0). ARIMA (0,0,0)(1,0,0) predicted 1981 within 15 percent and 1982 within 9 percent, but the actual number in 1983 was 21 percent higher than the predicted number (see Table O). The intervention method prediction with ARIMA (0,0,0)(1,0,0) was 19 percent too low in 1983, indicating that the change in 1983 was a combination of a change in level and a change in model type. Also, an ARIMA model (0,0,0)(1,0,0)was not a good statistical fit for the 1975-1983 period.⁸⁷

In addition to a change in the best ARIMA model, there was also a change in the level of Chicago knife robbery offenses in 1983. The year-ahead 1983 prediction with ARIMA (0,0,0)(1,0,0) was 21 percent too low, and the prediction with ARIMA (3,0,0)(1,0,0) was 18 percent too low. In fact, the prediction for every month from May through December 1983 was too low, by an average of 27 percent. The number in November (242) was 94 percent higher than the predicted number. This rapid increase in 1983 can be seen in the pattern description graph (see Figure 43).

In contrast, there was no change in the number of knife robberies in total Illinois (non-Chicago) in 1983 (see Figure 44). The best model for total Illinois (non-Chicago) index knife robbery predicted 1981 within 14 percent, 1982 within 1 percent, and 1983 within 10 percent.

⁸⁶The analysis of Index robbery with a knife began in 1975, because time series pattern description analysis suggested that 1974 differed from the following years.

87The Box-Pierce statistic (see Appendix 1) at lag 30 is 47.1 for an ARIMA (0,0,0)(1,0,0) model fit to the 1975-1983 time period, but 31.1 at lag 30 for the 1975-1982 period.





Figure 44. Patterns of Change Over Time in Illinois (non-Chicago) Index Knife Robbery,

1975-1983



Attempted and Completed Offenses

Therefore, the number of officially recorded Index knife robbery offenses in 1983 in Chicago was apparently affected by the change in recording practices. If the same conditions had existed in 1983 as in the period 1975-1982, the number of Index knife robberies known to the police in Chicago in 1983 would have been closer to the ARIMA model (0,0,0)(1,0,0) year-ahead prediction of 1,703 than was the actual figure of 2.150^{-88} Taking into account the 10 percent year-ahead prediction error for 1983 in total Illinois (non-Chicago), we can estimate that there were at least 10 percent more knife robberies in Chicago in 1983, due to the change in recording practices. (This figure was calculated by subtracting the 10 percent Illinois (non-Chicago) error from the 21 percent Chicago error, and rounding.)

Index Robbery with Another Weapon

The number of Index robberies with another weapon in Chicago (see Figure 45) increased even more sharply in 1983 than the number of Index robberies with a knife. Every month except April was actually higher than the number predicted with the year-ahead method and the average monthly error was more than 36 percent.⁸⁹ An ARIMA model (0,0,3)(1,0,0) for the number of Chicago Index robbery offenses committed with another weapon (not a firearm or a knife) predicted 1981 and 1982 within 11 percent and 2 percent, respectively, but the 1983 prediction was 38 percent too low (see Table O).⁹⁰

Because the intervention method prediction for 1983 was also too low, by 28 percent (see Table O), there may have been a change in the best ARIMA model as well as in the number of offenses. Although the type of model did not change, the estimated weights of the terms in the model did change, as can be seen below:

Time Period	MA(1)	MA(2)	MA(3)	MA(12)
1975-1981	07	08	19	. 12
1975-1982	05	09	20	.12
1975-1983	33	-,33	42	.14

The MA(1) and MA(2) estimates were close to zero in the two earlier time periods, but became significantly negative when 1983 was added to the series (see Table H).⁹¹ This, coupled with the fact that the prediction error for 1983 was still high with the intervention method (see Table O), indicates that the ARIMA model may have changed in 1983.

While the number of other-weapon robbery offenses increased in Chicago in 1983, it appears that the number in total Illinois (non-Chicago) declined slightly (see Figure 46). This decline can be seen in the pattern description graph, and was also found in the ARIMA analysis. In 1981 and 1982, a very simple ARIMA model (1,0,0)(0,0,0) predicted the total years within 14 percent and 4 percent, respectively, but the 1983 prediction was 17 percent too high. In fact, the prediction for each 1983 month, except one, was too high by an average of 27 percent.

- ⁸⁸The figure 1,847 is the year-ahead prediction with an ARIMA model (0,0,0)(1,0,0) based on 1975-1982 knife robbery data.
 - ⁸⁹Predictions for the eleven months except April were too low by an average of 39 percent.
- ⁹⁰Note that models begin in 1975, because time series pattern description analysis (see Figure 45) suggested a change between 1974 and 1975.

⁹¹This change in the best model is similar to the change in the model for Index knife robbery in Chicago, as discussed on page 120. In the case of Index knife robbery in Chicago, the AR(1) and AR(2) estimates were close to zero until 1983 was added to the series.

Figure 45. Patterns of Change Over Time in Chicago Index Other-Weapon Robbery, 1974-1983



Figure 46. Patterns of Change Over Time in Illinois (non-Chicago) Index Other-Weapon



Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

Page 123

This indicates that the 1983 increase in Chicago Index robbery with another weapon was at least partially due to the administrative changes in recordkeeping practices. If the same conditions had existed in 1983 as in the years 1975-1982, the number of other-weapon robberies known to the police in Chicago would have been about 20 percent less in 1983 than it was. (This figure was calculated by subtracting the 17 percent non-Chicago error from the 38 percent Chicago error, and rounding.)

Index Strongarm Robbery

The number of Index strongarm robbery offenses in Chicago (see Figure 47) increased more in 1983 than any other type of robbery. The best model, ARIMA (1,0,0)(1,0,0), predicted 1981 within 12 percent and 1982 within 11 percent (year-ahead method) (see Table O). The average 1981 month was predicted within 20 percent, and the average 1982 month within 18 percent. However, Chicago strongarm robbery predictions for 1983 were much worse, 42 per-cent too low for the total year and 39 percent wrong for the average month. The prediction for every 1983 month from February through December was too high, and the degree of error was largest in the second half of the year (51 percent on the average in the last six months).

In contrast, total Illinois (non-Chicago) predictions for 1983 were just as accurate as 1981 and 1982 predictions had been, within 1 percent for the year and 12 percent for the average month. Predictions for 1981 and 1982 were within 1 percent and 7 percent for the year and 1 percent and 11 percent for the average month, respectively. The pattern description graph (see Figure 48) shows no indication of a change, certainly not an increase, in 1983. Instead, it indicates that the number of strongarm robbery offenses declined slowly but steadily from 1981 through 1983.

In addition to the change in the number of strongarm robbery offenses in 1983 in Chicago, there also may have been a change in the best ARIMA model. ARIMA (1,0,0)(1,0,0) predictions with the intervention method were good for 1981 and 1982, within 7 percent in both years, but the 1983 prediction was 27 percent too low. Was the best-fitting ARIMA model for Chicago strongarm robbery in 1983 the same as the best ARIMA model for the periods 1975–1981 and 1975–1982? Below is a summary of the characteristics of ARIMA models (1,0,0)(1,0,0) for three time periods:

			Box-Pierce	Statistic
Time Period	AR(1)	AR(12)	Lag 50	Lag 12
1975-1981	.41	. 15	48.3	8.7
1975-1982	.33	.17	57.0	14.1
1975-1983	. 76	.15	58.6	24.0

In the 1975-1983 model, the high Box-Pierce statistic at lag 12 (see Appendix 1) and the sharp increase in the AR(1) estimate indicate that the ARIMA model (1,0,0)(1,0,0) was not a good fit. The high AR(1) weight suggests that an ARIMA model (0,1,1)(1,0,0) would fit better, and indeed, it did (see Table H).⁹² Such a model for the 1975-1983 time period was statistically sound according to the tests discussed in Appendix 1. For example, the Box-Pierce statistic at lag 12 was 11.9 for an ARIMA model (0,1,1)(1,0,0).

⁹²A high AR(1) weight suggests an ARIMA (0,1,1)(1,0,0) model because an autoregressive process of 1.00 would mean that every observation was correlated perfectly with the preceeding observation. This would be equivalent to a trend in the series, which can be removed by a first difference transformation. See Appendix 1 or Block (1984b) for more detail.



Figure 47. Patterns of Change Over Time in Chicago Index Strongarm Robbery, 1974–1983

Source: Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority Version of I-UCR Data





Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

7

Page 125

Strongarm robbery meets several criteria for the presence of an intervention. The 1983 Chicago predictions were less accurate than 1981 or 1982 Chicago predictions; they were also worse than 1983 predictions for the rest of Illinois. In addition, the type of ARIMA model appears to have changed in 1983. Therefore, the increase in the number of Index strongarm robbery offenses known to the Chicago police in 1983 probably was due to a great extent to administrative changes. The number was about 40 percent higher (42 percent error minus the 1 percent error for the non-Chicago Illinois, rounded) than it would have been if all conditions, including recordkeeping practices, had been the same in 1983 as in the earlier years.

Index Aggravated Assault

The total number of officially recorded index aggravated assault offenses increased in Chicago in 1983, even more than the number of index robbery offenses increased. Again, the questions are whether this increase was due to data recording practices, and if so, what is the amount of change in the number of arrests that can be attributed to the change in data recording.

It is not entirely clear how to apply to aggravated assault the hypothesis that change in more serious offenses would be less than the change in less serious offenses. Index aggravated assault includes several offense types that vary in seriousness. The three types of offense defined as index aggravated assault are attempted murder, aggravated battery, and aggravated assault. Attempted murder and aggravated battery are actual attacks, but aggravated assault is the threat to commit serious injury. It is difficult to measure the relative seriousness of the different types of aggravated assault with available data because injury information is not available for aggravated assault. The only available information is the type of weapon.

Index Firearm Assault

In contrast to Index firearm robbery, which did not change in 1983, Index firearm assault apparently did change. An increase in 1983 was apparent, both in the pattern description graph (see Figure 49) and in the ARIMA analysis (see Table P).

An ARIMA model (2,1,0)(0,1,1) for Chicago index aggravated assault with a firearm predicted 1981 within 12 percent and 1982 within 16 percent (year-ahead method). Though these predictions were not extremely accurate, the prediction for 1983 was much worse-- it was 35 percent too low for the year and 31 percent wrong for the average 1983 month. In fact, the prediction for each 1983 month from April through December was too low.

In contrast, the best model for Index firearm assault in Illinois (non-Chicago) predicted 1981 within 3 percent, 1982 within 5 percent, and 1983 within 9 percent (see Table P). The pattern description graph (see Figure 50) shows a steady downward trend from 1979 through 1983. There is no evidence, either in the pattern description or in the ARIMA analysis, of an increase in 1983. This indicates that the 1983 increase seen in Chicago firearm assault probably was due more to the change in data collection practices in Chicago than to an actual increase in the number of crimes.

In Chicago, predictive accuracy for firearm assault was good when calculated with the intervention method, within 4 percent in 1981, 2 percent in 1982, and 8 percent in 1983. This indicates that there was no change in the best ARIMA model. Other evidence for this is that the AR(1), AR(2), and MA(12) estimates (see Table J) were about the same for ARIMA models (2,1,0)(0,1,1) for each time period from 1974-1980 to 1974-1983, and that the statistical diagnostics were equally good for models for each time period.

Thus, although the best ARIMA model for Chicago Index aggravated assault with a firearm did not change in 1983, the level of the time series changed. The number of Index aggravated assaults with a firearm in 1983 was at least 20 percent higher (the 35 percent error in Chicago minus the 9 percent error for non-Chicago Illinois, rounded) than it would have been if there had been no change in the conditions of the earlier years (including recordkeeping practices).

Table P. Chicago Intervention Analysis: Index Aggravated Assault, by Weapon	Table P.	Chicago Intervent	on Analysis:	Index Aggravated	Assault, by	/Weapon
---	----------	-------------------	--------------	------------------	-------------	---------

		Ye	ar-Ahe	ad Meti	nod			Inte	rventi	on Metl	nod	
	198	81	198	2	198	33	198	3,1	19	82	. 19	983
	Total <u>Year</u>	Avg. <u>Month</u>		Avg. <u>Month</u>		Avg. <u>Month</u>		Avg. Month			Total <u>Year</u>	Avg. Month
						Firea	a rm					
Chicago NonChicago	12% 3	22% 10	16% 5	18% 10	35% 9	31% 12	4% 2	23% 8	2% 2	17% 9	8% 4	16 8
						Knif	fe					
Chicago ^a NonChicago	45 8	51 8	10 3	23 6	38 5	37 8	20 2	28 8	12 7	14 7	16 2	. 17 7
						Other V	leapon					
Chicago ^b NonChicago	69 15	76 15	5 6	16 9	45 8	38 11	36 2	40 8	1	19 6	17 3	17 11
				1	H	ands, Fe	set, etc	.				a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a
Chicago ^c NonChicago	65 1	70 8	1 16	27 16	31 29	31 36	32 0	42 9	12 3	34 8	13 8	23 13

Percent Error of Predictions

^aThe errors for Chicago knife assault in this table are for an ARIMA model (0,1,1)(0,1,1). The best model for the period 1974-1980, however, is ARIMA (3,0,0)(0,1,1) (see Table J). Based on data through 1979, this model predicted 1980 within 11 percent for the year (both methods) and 17 percent (year-ahead method) and 18 percent (intervention method) for the average month. However, the 1981 prediction with ARIMA model (3,0,0)(0,1,1) was 59 percent too high for the year and 66 percent wrong for the average month (year-ahead).

^bThe same model, ARIMA (2,0,0)(0,1,1), predicted 1980 within 15 percent (year-ahead method) and 6 percent (intervention method).

^CPredictions for 1980 with the same ARIMA model (0,0,3)(0,1,1) were within 6 percent (both methods), and the average 1980 month was predicted within 22 percent (year -ahead) and 28 percent (intervention).



Figure 49. Patterns of Change Over Time in Chicago Index Aggravated Assault with a Firearm, 1974–1983

Figure 50. Patterns of Change Over Time in Illinois (non-Chicago) Index Aggravat -Assault with a Firearm, 1974–1983

3



Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

Page 128

Index Knife Assault

S. S.

The pattern over time of Index knife assault in Chicago was even more complex than the pattern over time of index firearm assault. ARIMA analysis indicated that the number of Index aggravated assaults with a knife in Chicago changed in 1981, as well as in 1983.

An ARIMA model (3,0,0)(0,1,1) for the time period 1974-1979 (see Table J) predicted 1980 within 11 percent for the total year and within 17 percent for the average 1980 month (year-ahead method). However, the prediction for 1981 with the same model was 59 percent higher than the actual number of Index knife assault offenses known to the police, and 66 percent wrong in the average 1981 month.⁹³ In fact, every monthly prediction in 1981 was too high. This drop in 1981 can be seen in the pattern description graph (see Figure 51a), and it is even clearer in the graph of the seasonally adjusted data (see Figure 51b). The seasonal fluctuation in the raw data obscures the precipitous drop at the beginning of 1981.⁹⁴ Apparently, the number of Index aggravated assaults with a knife in Chicago fell sharply in the first months of 1981, possibly as much as 59 percent. Note that Chicago firearm assault also dropped in 1981 and 1982 (see Figure 49), but not as precipitously as knife assault. The best ARIMA prediction for firearm assault was only 12 percent too high in 1981, compared to the prediction for knife assault, which was 59 percent too high.

In addition to the decline in level in 1981, the best ARIMA model also changed. Although an ARIMA model (3,0,0)(0,1,1) fit well statistically for all of the time periods -- 1974-1979, 1974-1980, and 1974-1981--the weights of the terms in the model changed. In the two ear-lier time periods, the AR(1) and AR(2) terms were zero (see Table J), but in the 1974-1981 time period both AR(1) and AR(2) estimates were significantly positive.⁹⁵ Actually, the best model for 1974-1981 was not ARIMA (3,0,0)(0,1,1), but ARIMA (0,1,1)(0,1,1). The latter was not a good fit for the early time period 1974-1980, but was a good statistical fit for 1974-1981. In addition, an ARIMA model (0,1,1)(0,1,1) had good statistical diagnostics (Appendix 1) for the 1974-1982 and 1974-1983 periods. This model, when fit to four time periods, had the following MA(1) and MA(12) estimates:

Time Period	MA(1)	MA(12)
1974-1980	. 87	. 84
1974-1981	. 78	. 86
1974-1982	. 76	. 86
1974-1983	.66	. 88

The MA(12) estimates are about the same for models for all four time periods, indicating that the seasonal pattern did not change over time. However, the MA(1) estimate decreases somewhat at two points—once when 1981 is added to the series and again when 1983 is added to the series. This suggests that the model changed twice, in 1981 and in 1983.

- ⁹³Note that these predictions are for an ARIMA model (3,0,0)(0,1,1); they are not the predictions made with an ARIMA model (1,0,0)(0,1,1) in Table P (see Table J and the footnotes to Table P).
- ⁹⁴Figures 51a and 51b are both pattern descriptions of Chicago Index aggravated assault with a knife. Figure 51a is a description of the raw data, and Figure 51b is a description of the data adjusted for seasonality. In Figure 51b, seasonal fluctuations have been removed, so that month-to-month and long term patterns are clearer (see Appendix 1).

⁹⁵The AR(3) and the seasonal MA(12) estimates are essentially the same in the models of all three time periods.



Figure 51a. Patterns of Change Over Time in Chicago Index Aggravated Assault with a Knife, 1974–1983

T

Months, January 1974 through December 1983 Source: Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority Version of I-UCA Date

Figure 51b. Patterns of Change Over Time in Chicago Index Aggravated Assault with a Knife, 1974–1983 (Seasonally Adjusted)



Predictive accuracy results (see Table P) agree with the pattern description analysis and with the results of model-fitting: the number of index aggravated assaults with a knife decreased sharply in 1981, climbed somewhat in 1982, and increased sharply in 1983. An ARIMA model (0,1,1)(0,1,1) was 45 percent too high in predicting index knife assaults in Chicago in 1981, 10 percent too low in predicting 1982, and 38 percent too low in predicting 1983 (year-ahead method).

In contrast, predictive accuracy for the same crime in the rest of Illinois was much better-within 8 percent in 1981, 3 percent in 1982, and 5 percent in 1983. This stability is reflected in the pattern description graph (see Figure 52). In total Illinois (non-Chicago), there is no sign of the radical changes that took place in 1981 and 1983 in the number of Chicago Index knife assaults. Outside of Chicago, the number of knife assaults was almost stable in every year from 1980 through 1983.

Predictions with the intervention method for Chicago Index aggravated assault with a knife were better than predictions with the year-ahead method, but they were still not very accurate. The prediction for 1981 was 20 percent too high, the 1982 prediction was 12 percent too low, and the 1983 prediction was 16 percent too low. Thus, these predictions do not support the idea of the model changing in 1981 and 1983, but do not really contradict it, either.

In summary, there appear to have been two interventions in the number of Index aggravated assaults with a knife known to Chicago police, a serendipitous intervention in 1981 and the hypothesized intervention in 1983. In 1981, the actual number of crimes was 45 percent to 59 percent lower than it would have been had 1974–1980-conditions continued; in addition, the ARIMA model probably changed in 1981. In 1982, the number of knife assaults increased gradually, but the number was still low compared to 1974–1980. A prediction of 1982 based on 1974–1980 data was 47 percent too high, and the average 1982 month was 40 percent too high. By early 1983, however, the 1980 level of knife robberies had again been reached. Then, in July 1983, the number of offenses increased precipitously, and the ARIMA model may have changed as well. There were about 30 percent more offenses known to the maximum the non-Chicago Illinois change of 5 percent, rounded off).

Index Assault with Another Weapon

Like index aggravated assault with a knife, index aggravated assault with a weapon other than a firearm or knife also decreased sharply in 1981, increased in 1982, and then increased sharply in 1983 (see Figure 53). The increase in other-weapon assault in 1983, in fact, was much sharper than the increase in knife assault in 1983.

Although an ARIMA model (2,0,0)(0,1,1) predicted 1980 within 15 percent and the average 1980 month within 26 percent (see footnote to Table P), the prediction for 1981 was 69 percent too high, and the average month was wrong by 76 percent (year – ahead method). Thus, a model based on the years 1974–1980 predicted 2,843 other-weapon assaults, but there actually were only 1,682. The prediction for one 1981 month was 157 percent too high. Though the numbers increased in 1982, they were still lower than usual; the actual 2,193 assault figure was over 30 percent lower than the number predicted by a 1974–1980 model. By November 1982, however, the number of other-weapon assaults had returned to the 1980 level.



0



Figure 53. Patterns of Change Over Time in Chicago Index Aggravated Assault with Another Weapon, 1974–1983



Source: Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority Version of I-UCR Osta

Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

an 21.

m. it Adaminist motor

In addition, the intervention-method prediction for 1981 was 36 percent too high, indicating a possible change in the model. The type of ARIMA model does not appear to have changed, since statistical diagnostics for an ARIMA model (2,0,0)(0,1,1) (see Appendix 1) are good when estimated for all time periods. However, the estimated weights of the terms may have changed, as can be seen below:

Time Period	AR(1)	AR(2)	MA(12)
1974-1979	.22	. 38	. 86
1974-1980	28	. 26	. 85
1974-1981	42	. 33	. 86
1974-1982	. 42	. 33	. 86
1974-1983	.69	. 25	.92

The MA(12) estimate is about the same in the first four models, either .85 or .86. This indicates that the seasonal pattern did not change during that time. However, the AR(1) estimate increased when 1981 was added to the series. This, coupled with the poor intervention method prediction in 1981, suggests that the model as well as the level of the series changed in 1981.

In contrast, the AR(1), AR(2) and MA(12) estimates were exactly the same for 1974–1981 and 1974–1982 models. Also, the same ARIMA model (2,0,0)(0,1,1) predicted 1982 within 5 percent and the average 1982 month within 16 percent (year-ahead method). A prediction based on only 1974–1980 was 30 percent too high in predicting 1982 with the year-ahead method. However, when the low numbers in 1981 are taken into account a-prediction based on the 1974–1981 period was only 5 percent too high in predicting 1982. The intervention method prediction for 1982 was almost identical to the actual figures--within 0.3 percent. This suggests that 1982 was the same as 1981 in both level and model. As can be seen in the pattern description graph (see Figure 53), the number of other-weapon assaults dropped steadily throughout 1981, and then increased steadily throughout 1982.

However, in 1983, the situation was different. The AR(1) and the MA(12) estimates both may have changed, and the 1983 intervention prediction was 17 percent too low. Further, the prediction for 1983 with the year-ahead method was 45 percent too low, and the prediction for the average 1983 month was 38 percent wrong (see Table P). Monthly errors were concentrated in the second half of the year. Beginning in April, every prediction was too low, and the degree of error increased with each month. The average error for the months August to December was 61 percent. Thus, Chicago Index aggravated assault with another weapon increased sharply in 1983, especially in the second half of the year. In addition, the best ARIMA model, describing month-to-month patterns, may have changed in 1983.

In contrast, predictions for the same crime in Illinois (non-Chicago) (see Figure 54) were much more accurate, reflecting an essentially stable pattern over time. The year 1981 was predicted within 15 percent, 1982 within 6 percent, and 1983 within 8 percent. Monthly predictions and intervention method predictions were also accurate (see Table P).

In summary, the pattern over time of index aggravated assault with another weapon was similar to the pattern of index aggravated assault with a knife. Both decreased sharply in 1981, and then increased sharply in 1983. In 1983, the number of aggravated assault offenses with a weapon other than a firearm or knife was almost 40 percent higher than it would have been had 1974–1982 conditions continued (45 percent error in Chicago minus the 8 percent error for non-Chicago Illinois, rounded).

Index Assault with the Body as a Weapon

An aggravated assault with the body as a weapon is an unarmed assault in which the body of the assailant can be considered to be a weapon, for example an attack by a person trained in karate. Such assaults are also referred to as "aggravated assault with hands, feet, etc." In Chicago, the number of body-as-weapon aggravated assaults known to the police is very small, compared to other kinds of assault. There were only 65 per month over the 1975-1983 period, compared to an average of 248 firearm assaults, 341 knite assaults, and 242 otherweapon assaults per month. In contrast, Illinois (non-Chicago) had more body-as-weapon assaults in the average month (396) than firearm assaults (317), knite assaults (294), or otherweapon assaults (285). Thus, there were many more body-as-weapon aggravated assaults in Illinois (non-Chicago) than in Chicago (396 versus 65), even though the numbers of firearm, knife, and other-weapon assaults were about equal in Chicago and Illinois (non-Chicago).

If the proportion of body-as-weapon assault victimizations to all victimizations were actually the same in Chicago as in Illinois (non-Chicago), then the low proportion of these body-asweapon assaults that are known to the police in Chicago suggests that the likelihood of a body-as-weapon assault victimization becoming officially recorded is less in Chicago than in the rest of Illinois. If this is true, then the change in Chicago data recording practices in 1983 might have had a greater effect on the recording of body-as-weapon assault than on other kinds of assault. If body-as-weapon assault had been undercounted more than other kinds of assault, then the reform in data recording should have affected it more strongly. However, this was not the case. The pattern description graph (see Figure 55) for Chicago body-asweapon aggravated assault shows an increase in the number-of-offenses in 1983, and ARIMA analysis agrees with this. However, the amount of increase in body-as-weapon assault in 1983 was less, not greater, than the increase in other-weapon assault.

The best ARIMA model, (0,0,3)(0,1,1), predicted 1982 within 1 percent, but the prediction for 1983 was 31 percent too low (see Table P). Body-as-weapon assault decreased in 1981, as did knife assault and other-weapon assault. The 1981 prediction was 65 percent too high, and the prediction for the average 1981 month was 70 percent wrong. However, with this same model, 1980 was predicted within 6 percent, and the average 1980 month within 22 percent (year-ahead method).

At the same time that body-as-weapon aggravated assault increased in Chicago in 1983, it apparently decreased in Illinois (non-Chicago) (see Figure 18). An ARIMA model (1,1,0)(0,1,1) for body-as-weapon aggravated assault in total Illinois (non-Chicago) predicted 1981 within 1 percent and 1982 within 16 percent, but the 1983 prediction was 29 percent too high and the prediction for the average 1983 month was 36 percent wrong. Since all of these models fit very well statistically, and the estimates for the AR(1) and MA(12) weights were much the same from year to year, there does not seem to have been a change in model.

The number of Index aggravated assault offenses with the body as a weapon increased in Chicago in 1983, by about 31 percent, while in Illinois (non-Chicago) it decreased by 29 percent. Thus, the amount of change in Chicago and Illinois (non-Chicago) was the same, though Chicago body-as-weapon assaults increased and those in Illinois (non-Chicago) decreased. Given this anomaly as well as the apparent drop in 1981, it is difficult to estimate the amount of change in 1983 due to the change in data recording practices. Judging from the comparison with change in the control group, we could say, conservatively, that the 31 percent increase in Chicago body-as-weapon assault was within the realm of possibility and not due to the change in data collection practices. However, judging from the predictive accuracy in 1982, which was within 1 percent, we could say that the change in 1983 due to recording practices was 30 percent.



Figure 54. Patterns of Change Over Time in Illinois (non-Chicago) Index Aggravated Assault with Another Weapon, 1974–1983

Figure 55. Patterns of Change Over Time in Chicago Index Aggravated Assault with Hands, Feet, etc., 1974–1983



Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

Page 135

In Chicago, aggravated assault with the body as a weapon had the least number of offenses of any kind of assault, while in Illinois (non-Chicago) it had the most. If the actual number of body-as-weapon assault victimizations is really much higher than the number of firearm, knife, or other-weapon assault victimizations in Chicago, as the number of reported assaults in Illinois (non-Chicago) might suggest, then the number in Chicago may have been undercounted before 1983 even more than the number of other kinds of assault. If so, then why was the increase in body-as-weapon assaults in 1983 less than the increase in the number of other kinds of assault? It may be that the change in recording practices affected the undercounting of other kinds of Index aggravated assault much more than it affected the undercounting of body-asweapon assault.

Summary and Discussion

Index Robbery

In 1983, the numbers of knife robberies, other-weapon robberies, and strongarm robberies in Chicago were higher than they would have been if previous conditions, such as recordkeeping practices, had not changed. The increase seems to have been greatest in the second half of the year, as might be expected from the timing of the administrative changes. The media charges of undercounting began in December 1982 and January 1983, but the audit (Chicago Police Department, 1983) was not published until April, and the official administrative changes took effect late in the year. Knife robbery began to increase in May, other-weapon robbery also began to increase in May, and strongarm robbery, the type of robbery that increased most, began to increase in February.

In contrast, the number of firearm robberies in Chicago was not any higher in 1983 than it would have been if previous conditions had remained the same. In fact, the amount of change in firearm robbery offenses in 1983 was less than the change in previous years. Therefore, the change in the administration of data collection and maintenance that occurred in Chicago in 1983 apparently did not affect the number of Index firearm robbery offenses known to the police, though it did affect the number of all other kinds of Index robbery offenses.

It seems logical that the reason that Index firearm robbery did not increase in 1983 was that it had always been recorded as completely as possible. The new stricter recording policies did not, therefore, affect the likelihood that a firearm robbery would become an officially recorded offense. Though the definition of robbery may seem objective and clear-cut to the average citizen, the application of that definition in real situations often requires subjective interpretation (Miller and Block, 1985). Another analysis of Chicago robbery (Block and Block, 1980) found that both the victim's decision to report a robbery victimization to the police and the police decision to record a robbery incident in official records were more likely if the weapon was a firearm.

The Chicago Intervention Analysis estimated that Index knife robbery increased by about 10 percent in 1983, Index other-weapon robbery increased by about 20 percent, and Index strongarm robbery increased by about 40 percent, relative to the number of offenses that would have been officially recorded if recordkeeping practices had remained the same as in the years before 1983.

Thus, the administrative changes in Chicago data collection and maintenance had the greatest effect on strongarm robbery, less effect on other-weapon robbery, little effect on knife robbery, and no effect at all on firearm robbery. If these four types of robbery form a rough scale of seriousness, the most serious type of robbery did not change when

recordkeeping changed, the least serious type of robbery changed the most, and the other types of robbery changed an intermediate amount.

Index Aggravated Assault

Unlike the number of firearm robbery offenses, the number of firearm assault offenses did change in 1983. The number known to the police was at least 20 percent higher than it would have been if earlier conditions, such as recordkeeping practices, had continued. The timing of the increase corresponded to the timing of the administrative changes. Beginning in April, all year-ahead predictions for 1983 months were too low. In the second half of 1983, the actual number in each month was 41 percent higher than the predicted number, on the average. This increase can be seen not only in the predictions, but also in the pattern description graph (see Figure 49). It was argued earlier in this report that firearm robbery was always completely recorded, even before the change in recordkeeping practices. Therefore, it did not increase in 1983. Because firearm assault did increase--by 20 percent—it might be concluded that it had been undercounted before the change in recordkeeping practices.

On the other hand, compared to other types of Index aggravated assault, firearm assault increased less in 1983. While Index assault with a firearm increased 20 percent, Index assault with a knife increased by about 30 percent and Index assault with another weapon increased by about 40 percent. The actual number of knife assaults in every 1983 month was higher than the predicted number, by as much as 54 percent (in November). The last six months of the year were 42 percent higher on the average. From April to December 1983, the actual number of assaults with another weapon was higher than the predicted number, and the amount of error increased with each month. The number in December was 63 percent higher than the predicted number, and the last six months were high by 59 percent on the average.

In the same way, predictions for every month from April through December 1983 were too low for assault with the body as a weapon. The average error in the last six months was 46 percent. However, the number of body-as-weapon assaults in the control group, Illinois (non-Chicago), declined in 1983 more than the number in Chicago increased. The average error in the last six months of 1983, in fact, was 56 percent, more than that in Chicago. Therefore, the conservative conclusion would be that the 1983 change in Chicago was random, and not necessarily due to the change in recording practices.

Why did firearm assault increase more than firearm robbery? Perhaps weapon type is not a good indicator of the seriousness of an aggravated assault. The extent of injury might be a better measure, but these data are unavailable. Assault offenses in general, even firearm assault offenses, are considered to be less serious than firearm robbery offenses; but it is important to realize that index aggravated assault consists of three types of offense: attempted murder, aggravated battery, and aggravated assault. Attempted murder and aggravated battery are actual attacks, but aggravated assault is the threat to commit serious injury. A police officer might mediate such a threat on the scene, and record it as a service call. In other circumstances, an aggravated assault might be written up as a crime. Therefore, it is quite possible that, under the new rules, less serious index firearm assault occurrences were 20 percent more likely to be officially recorded as crimes.

Patterns over time of all types of Index assault, except for firearm assault, are similar to each other. In all types of aggravated assault except firearm assault, a change seems to have occurred in 1981 as well as in 1983. Index knife assault declined 45 percent to 59 percent in 1981, Index other-weapon assault declined by as much as 69 percent, and Index body-asweapon assault declined by about 65 percent, relative to the predictions by a model based on the number of offenses in previous years. The cause of the sharp drop in the number of offenses in 1981 can only be guessed, but it may be related to the Chicago Police Department's campaign against street crime, particularly youth gang related street crime, which began in 1981 and continued to 1982. If so, this demonstrates that administrative practices can affect not only the recording of crime, but the number of crimes that actually occur

On the other hand, even if the police department's campaign against street crime was responsible for the rapid decline in Index aggravated assault with knives, other weapons, or body-as-weapon, it apparently had no effect (or only a very slight effect) on the number of Index aggravated assaults with a firearm. The pattern description graph (see Figure 49) shows a decline, but the ARIMA model analysis indicates that the number of firearm assault offenses was only slightly lower in 1981 and 1982 than it had been in previous years.

It is difficult to know whether the change in the number of knife, other-weapon, and bodyas-weapon assaults was due to the administrative changes or to a return to the normal number of offenses after the intensive campaign against street crime was stopped. However, as can be seen in the three graphs (see Figures 51a, 53, and 55), the return to normal apparently occurred in late 1982. Thus, the increase in the second half of 1983 is likely to have been due to the reform in data recording practices.

In summary, the intervention analysis of Index aggravated assault in Chicago was complex but revealing. It showed not only the increase in 1983 that had been expected, but also revealed an unexpected (screndipitous) decrease in 1981 in three of the four types of assault. The cause of the 1983 increase was, to a great extent, administrative change in the recording of offenses. In contrast, a likely cause of the 1981 decline was a decline in the actual number of victimizations. Thus, the analysis of aggravated assault in Chicago exemplifies two of the many possible reasons for inaccurate predictions of offense data.

Methods of Time Series Intervention Analysis

The Chicago Intervention Analysis had a methodological as well as a substantive purpose. Not only did it attempt to determine the effect of the reform in data recording practices in Chicago in 1983 on the number of officially recorded robberies and aggravated assaults, but it also served as a practical test of the methods developed in the first part of the Predictability Project. In particular, the analysis demonstrated the feasibility of using relatively simple ARIMA models in a time series quasi-experimental design as a gauge of the effect of an intervention on local-level crime statistics.

The combination of year-ahead and intervention prediction methods was, in general, successful in specifying whether there was a change in the model or a change in the level of the series. In fact, the Chicago analysis discovered an unexpected (serendipitous) intervention in 1981, in addition to describing the effect of the 1983 intervention. The rules of thumb used to identify a change in the level of the series or a change in the best-fitting model seemed to work well. (For a specific-list of these rules, see "Evidence of a Change in the Model," page 116, and "Methods of Time Series Intervention," page 138.) It is important to remember that much of our confidence in the results of the Chicago Intervention Analysis did not stem from the statistical analysis, but rather from the design of the study. In the first place, the intervention had been hypothesized beforehand. In the second place, the analysis was designed with a control group. Control groups in such time series experiments are seldom if ever perfect, and this study was certainly no exception. The choice of total Illinois (non-Chicago) meant, for example, that we were comparing patterns in Chicago to patterns in rural, small-town, and small-city Illinois. On the other hand, had we chosen other large cities--for example, the five most populous American cities--as controls, there would also have been problems of comparability.
Estimated Actual Change in Robbery and Assault

The total number of officially recorded index robbery and index aggravated assault offenses in Chicago increased sharply from 1982 to 1983. The time series experiment of the Chicago intervention Analysis was designed to estimate the amount of this increase that was due to the change in data recording practices. The total amounts of increase are illustrated in the following tables:

Change in Index Robbery, 1982 to 1983

	Officially	Recorded	Offenses % Change 1982-1983	Minimum % Change due to Recording Practices
Firearm Robbery Knife Robbery Other-Weapon Robbery	5,373 1,581 2,120	6,356 2,150 3,406	+18.3% +36.0 +60.7	0% 10 20
Strongarm Robbery	7,233	11,559	+59.8	40
Total	16,307	23,471	+43.9%	

<u>Change I</u>		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	<u>Assault, 198</u> Id Offenses	<u>2 to 1983</u> Minimum %
	1982	. 1983	% Change 1982-1983	Change due to Recording Practices
Firearm Assault	2,357	3,211	+36.2%	20%
Knife Assault	3,167	4,497	+42.0	30
Other-Weapon Assault	2,193	4,742	+116.2	40
Body-as-Weapon Assaul	t 600	880	+46.7	0-30
Total	8,317	13,330	+60.3%	

Because the estimates of the change due to data collection practices for each type of crime were derived not only from an analysis of predictive accuracy, but also from comparison with change in a control group (total non-Chicago Illinois), they are fairly reliable. However, they are conservative estimates; they state that the amount of change due to administrative data collection and maintenance was at least as great as the given estimate. Therefore, to use these estimates of the amount of change due to change in data recording practices to calculate the amount-of-actual change in the number of offenses; it would not be particularly accurate to subtract-the percent due to administrative changes from the total change. While this would give you the maximum amount of change that could be actual change, it would not give you the best estimate. However, the calculation of a best estimate for change due to an actual change in the number of offenses is possible, as shown below.

For each crime type, the best ARIMA model predicted the number that would occur in 1983, given that patterns of earlier years continued. By comparing this prediction of 1983 to the number of officially recorded offenses in 1982, we have an estimate of the actual change in crimes known to the police from 1982 to 1983, the change that would have occurred if there had been no change in data recording practices. The estimates of actual change in index robbery and index aggravated assault are listed in the following tables:

Estimated Actual	l Change in	Index Robbery,	1982 to 1983
	1982		
	Officially	1983	
	Recorded	Year-ahead	% Change
	Offenses	Prediction	1982-1983
Firearm Robbery	5,373	5,842	+8.7%
Knife Robbery	1,581	1,703	+7.7
Other-Weapon Robbery	2,120	2,108	-0.6
Strongarm Robbery	7,233	6,714	-7.2
Total	16,307	16,367	+0.4%

Estimated Actual Change in Index Aggravated Assault, 1982 to 1983

	1982 Officially Recorded Offenses	1983 Year-ahead Prediction	% Change 1982-1983
Firearm Assault	2,357	2,075	-12.0%
Knife Assault	3,167	2,773	-12.4
Other-Weapon Assault	2,193	2,596	+18.4
Body-as-Weapon Assault	600	607	+ 1.2
Total	8,317	8,051	- 3.2%

According to the ARIMA predictions, if it were not for the change in data collection practices in Chicago in 1983, the total number of Index robberies would have stayed about the same in 1983 as it was in 1982, and the total number of Index aggravated assaults would have declined slightly (3 percent). However, the 1982–1983 change would have been different for each type of Index robbery and for each type of Index aggravated assault; some would have increased, some would have decreased, and others would have stayed at the same level.

We have, then, estimated two components of the total change in officially recorded offenses from 1982 to 1983--change due to the change in recording practices, and actual change in crimes known to the police. However, when the estimates of these components are added together, they do not equal the total amount of 1982-1983 change. For example, the total 18.3 percent increase in firearm robbery is not accounted for by the zero percent change due to the change in crime; the total 36 percent increase in knife robbery is not accounted for by the 10 percent increase due to the change in data recording practices plus the 8.7 percent increase due to an actual increase due to the change in data recording practices plus the 7.7 percent increase due to an actual increase due to the change in data recording practices plus the case?

The changes in these two components do not add up to the total amount of 1982-1983 change in officially recorded crime because the estimates of change due to each cause are exactly that--estimates. In addition, the estimate of the change due to recording practices is a conservative estimate. The amount of change is probably not less than, but could be more than, the estimate. However, because the estimate was based on a time series experiment research design, we can be fairly confident in these conservative results. In contrast, the estimate of the change due to an actual change in crime was not a part of the time series experiment. (The control group had not experienced a change in data recording practices such as Chicago's, but there might have been a change in actual crime.) Therefore, we have less

confidence in the estimate of actual reported crime; it could be higher or lower than the year-ahead prediction figures above.

Because the time series experiment design gives us a reliable estimate of the minimum amount of change due to the change in data recording practices, and because we know how much total change really occurred, we have an idea of the range of actual change in reported crime in Chicago from 1982 to 1983. These estimates are the following:

- The number of reported firearm robbery offenses probably increased about 8.7 percent from 1982 to 1983, and could not have increased any more than 18.3 percent.
- The number of reported knife robbery offenses probably increased about 7.7 percent from 1982 to 1983, and could not have increased any more than 26 percent.
- The number of reported other-weapon robbery offenses probably did not change from 1982 to 1983, and could not have increased any more than 40.7 percent.
- The number of reported strongarm robbery offenses probably decreased about 7.2 percent from 1982 to 1983, and could not have increased any more than 19.8 percent.
- The number of reported firearm assault offenses probably decreased about 12.0 percent from 1982 to 1983, and could not have increased any more than 16.2 percent.

Υð.

- The number of reported knife assault offenses probably decreased about 12.4 percent from 1982 to 1983, and could not have increased any more than 12 percent.
- The number of reported other-weapon assault offenses probably increased about 18.4 percent from 1982 to 1983, and could not have increased any more than 23.2 percent.
- The number of reported body-as-weapon assault offenses did not change from 1982 to 1983; it probably could not have increased any more than 16.7 percent, but the increase may have been greater.

The FBI also estimated the percent change in each index crime (except homicide) in Chicago between 1982 and 1983, but used a different method. First, instead of estimating the number of 1983 offenses that would have occurred if data recording practices had not changed, the FBI estimated the number of 1982 offenses that would have occurred if the data recording practices of 1983 had been in effect in 1982. Second, the method the FBI used to estimate 1982 was based on the assumption that Chicago's proportion of all crime in the United States remained constant from year to year--that the change in the actual number of crimes known to the police in Chicago between 1982 and 1983 was the same as the change in the nation as a whole. (See Appendix 4 for a discussion of the FBI/UCR estimation method.)

The Chicago Intervention Analysis method, on the other hand, did not associate change in Chicago with change in the nation. It did use a control group, but the purpose of the control group was completely different from the use of the total United States except Chicago as a benchmark in the FBI estimation method. The control group (in this case, total non-Chicago IIlinois) was not used to estimate the change from year to year in Chicago. It was used, rather, as a guide to predictive accuracy. For example, 1983 predictions of firearm robbery in Illinois (non-Chicago) were accurate only within 23 percent (see Table O); therefore, we would not expect 1983 predictions of firearm robbery in Chicago to be any more accurate than 23 percent. In fact, the 1983 prediction for Chicago was accurate within 8 percent (see Table O). The conclusion from this is that the 1983 Chicago figures were not artificially inflated by the change in data recording practices. If we had used the Illinois (non-Chicago) 1982-1983 change as a benchmark for the Chicago 1982-1983 change, as the FBI estimation method does, we would have assumed that Chicago firearm robbery actually increased or decreased by exactly the same percent as Illinois (non-Chicago) firearm robbery. Thus, since Illinois (non-Chicago) firearm robbery dropped 5.5 percent from 1982 to 1983.⁹⁶ we would have concluded that Chicago offenses dropped 5.5 percent, instead of the 8.7 percent to 18.3 percent increase estimated by the Chicago Intervention Analysis method.

The FBI method estimated that the number of reported Index robbery offenses in Chicago fell more than 8 percent between 1982 and 1983, and that the number of reported aggravated assault offenses fell declined more than 2 percent. The Chicago Intervention Analysis time series experiment estimated that actual total index robberies did not change, and that the actual number of total index aggravated assaults decreased slightly. The estimated change in the total number of aggravated assaults was about the same as the FBI estimate. However, the estimated change for each type of aggravated assault, as well as the estimated change for each type of robbery, was quite different than the FBI overall estimates.

⁹⁶Although the number of offenses fell, the prediction was 23 percent lower than the actual number. Based on the pattern in previous years, the ARIMA model predicted that the drop in 1983 would be much sharper than the drop that actually occurred.

Appendices

15

1: Technical Methods		 	
2: Comparison of ARIMA Programs.		 • • •	151
3: Best ARIMA Models by Jurisdiction .		 	
4: Imputation of Data in the Uniform Crime R	eports .	 	

Appendix 1: Technical Methods

Time Series Pattern Description

Time series pattern description provides concrete and readily understandable answers to simple descriptive questions about the general pattern of change over time in a variable. It tells the user, in nonstatistical language, whether the variable generally increased, decreased, or stayed the same during the period in question; whether there was a change in the pattern (for example, from an increase to a decrease); and, if there was a change, approximately when the change occurred.

The mathematical tool used for times series pattern description is spline regression. For this descriptive, exploratory purpose, the Authority's Statistical Analysis Center has found spline regression to meet the criteria of simplicity, accuracy, and ease of communication. A linear spline regression fits a least squares regression line with two or more connected segments to the data. This line is continuous in that all the segments are connected. It is analytically discontinuous in that the definition of one segment is not the same as the definition of the next. We have found these properties to be useful in exploratory analyses.

The choice of the best spline regression, or line segment fit, for a series is not completely objective, but depends upon criteria for simplicity and accuracy (see Block, 1983). In the Predictability Project, the search for the best time series pattern description for each time series took the following steps:⁹⁷

- 1) The Ertel/Fowlkes program searches for the best spline regression given options defined by the user and using a criterion of minimizing the sum of squared residuals.⁹⁸ A package of alternative line segment fits is produced having at least three alternative fits in the package (at least a three-segment fit, a two-segment fit, and a straight-line fit).
- 2) The choice among these alternatives was made using accuracy and simplicity criteria. The criterion for accuracy utilizes the C_p statistic (Block, 1983). Criteria for simplicity in the Predictability Project were that no line segment would be shorter than one year, and that the fit with the smaller number of line segments with a given accuracy would be chosen.
- 3) While the Ertel/Fowlkes search is based on the smallest sum of squared residuals, it is not exhaustive. However the Hudson/Fox computer program does an exhaustive search for the best two-segment fit; therefore, the Hudson/Fox program was always run as a check when the Ertel/Fowlkes results indicated that a two-segment fit was the best alternative.

Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

⁹⁷For more detail about each step, and for a flowchart showing the relationship of the steps to each other, see Bates (1987).

⁹⁸For a complete description of the Ertel/Fowlkes algorithm, see Block (1983) and Bates (1987).

Descriptive Seasonal Analysis

There are two major approaches to defining and detecting seasonality. Although the two approaches are mathematically similar, there are practical differences in their emphases. One approach, which we refer to here as *descriptive seasonal analysis* emphasizes the separate description of seasonal fluctuation. The other approach, the most common example of which is ARIMA, emphasizes forecasting the future with a model that incorporates seasonality. The first approach focuses on seasonality itself, while the second focuses on seasonality as it affects the accuracy of a forecast.

In the initial, descriptive, stage of analysis, the Predictability Project used a standard kind of descriptive seasonal analysis, the seasonal adjustment, or X-11, method. In this method, the analyst imagines that each time series may have three components. The trend/cycle component consists of long-term trend and any nonseasonal but regular fluctuations. The seasonal component is "the intrayear pattern of variation which is repeated constantly or in an evolving fashion from year to year" (Shiskin, *et al.*, 1967:1). The irregular component consists of everything else, including error, or the residual variation. The problem of detecting and describing seasonality then becomes a problem of dividing a series into its three components, and comparing the relative strengths of the three. A statistic used for this comparison is the F of stable seasonality.

Two seasonality computer programs, a quick screener and a complete analysis, were used in the Predictability Project. The Bell/Canada program (see Block, 1984b; Bates, 1987) was used to screen each series for the presence of seasonal fluctuation. For each series with a Bell/Canada F of stable seasonality equalling at least 2.41, the X-11/ARIMA program was also run.⁹⁹ Both programs were run twice (except for series with one or more zero values), once under the additive assumption and again under the multiplicative assumption. Under the additive assumption, the three components are assumed to be independent; under the multiplicative assumption, they are assumed to be dependent (see Block, 1984b).

Of the many diagnostic tests available in X-11/ARIMA results, the most important for the Predictability Project were the F of stable seasonality, the percent contribution of the irregular component, and the percent contribution of the seasonal component.¹⁰⁰

Because it cannot be assumed that observations in a time series are independent, the F of stable seasonality value must be interpreted as only one indicator of the degree of seasonality, not as an exact measure of significance. The Plewes rule of thumb uses the irregular component as a means of interpreting the the F value. The Plewes criteria are:

- 1) if the irregular component contributes 30 percent or more of the total month-to-month variation, there is no stable seasonality in the series, regardless of the F value;
- 3) if the F value is less than 2.41, there is no stable seasonality, regardless of the irregular contribution.

⁹⁹The X-11/ARIMA program generates projections with ARIMA, then uses them in the calculation of seasonal fluctuation. This allows the analysis to utilize the entire time series for seasonal adjustment. For more detail, see Block (1984b) and Dagum (1979).

¹⁰⁰ See Block (1984b) for more details about the interpretation of these statistics and other X-11 results.

For some series that were seasonal or possibly seasonal, a line segment fit of the seasonally adjusted data was very useful as part of the complete pattern description analysis. In seasonal adjustment, which is one option of X-11 analysis, seasonal fluctuation is removed from the series. The remainder after the seasonal component is removed is the seasonally adjusted series. For example, Figure 51a is a pattern description of Chicago Index aggravated assault with a knife from January 1974 to December 1983, and Figure 51b is a pattern description of the same series, seasonally adjusted. Even though this series does not meet the Plewes criteria, the contribution of the seasonal component is rather high (34 percent) (see Table D), and this is enough to affect the line segment fit for the raw data. An additional line segment emerges in the beginning of 1982 in the seasonally adjusted data, because variation due to seasonal fluctuation has been removed.

Model Identification

In order to identify the best type of ARIMA model for each time series, the Predictability Project used routines available in the Interactive Data Analysis (IDA) computer package to conduct the following analyses:

- 1) plot of standardized values (an indicator of constant level and constant variance),
- 2) number of runs above and below the mean (another indicator of constant level; also an indicator of the presence of cycles),
- 3) correlogram of 50 lags (standard ARIMA diagnostic),
- 4) partial correlogram (used with correlogram as a standard indicator of the type of ARIMA model),
- 5) normal cumulative probability plot (shows the degree to which the series is distributed normally), and
- 6) cumulative periodogram (good diagnostic for the presence of seasonal fluctuation).

ARIMA models cannot be identified for a data series that does not have constant level and constant variance over time (this property is called *stationarity*). Therefore, for every series that did not, according to tests 1, 2, and 3, have a constant level, the series was transformed by a first difference.¹⁰¹ The first difference transformation was then diagnosed for constant level with tests 1, 2, and 3. If these tests indicated stationarity, and if the standard deviation of the first difference was less than the standard deviation of the raw data, then the first difference transformation was assumed to be stationary.

This was usually enough to produce a series with a constant level that could be modeled with ARIMA. However, for some series, it was necessary to transform the series with 12th dif-

101In a first difference, each observation is subtracted from its neighboring observation (see Block, 1984b).

Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

ferencing, square roots, or logs.¹⁰² For other series, it was necessary to truncate the series or to divide it into two separate time periods, and to analyze each separately.

Durbin-ARIMA Analysis

Given an Arima model type, the mathematical calculation of the best tit is relatively straightforward (see Appendix 2). However, two or more ARIMA models that seem appropriate according to the initial diagnostic tests may produce entirely different projections (Pierce, 1980;130; Block, 1984b). It is difficult to distinguish between these models. Therefore, a second diagnostic step-- Durbin-ARIMA analysis--was added to the procedure. As suggested by Roberts (1984), Durbin-ARIMA analysis is a method for exploring the stochastic patterns in a times series so that the most appropriate type of ARIMA model can be chosen.

The Durbin-ARIMA method (see Durbin, 1960) estimates an autoregressive model by lagging the series one, two, or three months, and regressing the original series on these lags. A moving average model is more difficult to estimate, since in a moving average model the current observation is related to previous errors, and by definition, error is not measurable. However, the Durbin-ARIMA method estimates a moving average model by using the residuals of the above regression, lagging them one, two, or three months, and then regressing the original series on these lags.

Box/Jenkins Estimate

With the IDA program, the most appropriate ARIMA model--given the above diagnoring tests and the Durbin/ARIMA analysis--was calculated using the iterative method developed by Box and Jenkins (1970).

A model was rejected if a parameter reached or exceeded 1.00 (this is statistically unacceptable). Also, most models with either of the following qualities were rejected:

- 1) sum of moving average weights exceeds .90 (a sign of overdifferencing) (see Dagum, 1981),
- 2) the estimated weight of an AR or MA term, minus two standard deviations, was negative, but the estimated weight plus two standard deviations was positive (in other words, the weight of the term was likely to be zero).

. A model with either of these qualities was accepted only if after a thorough search no better model could be found.

In addition, simplicity was a criterion. If two alternative models performed equally well on other criteria, the simpler of the two models was accepted. A model was considered to be simpler if it had only autoregressive or only moving average parameters, but not both; if it had

¹⁰²None of the models finally chosen as the best had log transformations or more than one degree of differencing. However, such transformations were part of the diagnostic analysis for several difficult-to-model series. Often, these difficult series contained an apparent intervention. When the series was split into two sub-series, the model for each half was easier to identify.

fewer degrees of differencing; if it had fewer total parameters; or if it contained serial or seasonal parameters, but not both.

Diagnostic Tests of Residuals

1.

The residuals of each acceptable model were subjected to the following diagnostic tests:

- 1) correlogram of 50 lags (the residuals should vary randomly over time), and
- cumulative periodogram (there should be no evidence of seasonal fluctuation in the residuals).

Analysis in this report refers to the Box-Pierce statistics, which is an objective criterion for randomness in a set of sample autocorrelations. This is also known as the Q statistic (Box and Pierce, 1970; Nelson, 1973:115). The Box-Pierce statistic is distributed approximately as chi-square, with degrees of freedom equal to the number of lags in the correlogram, minus the number of autoregressive and/or moving average processes in the model. It is used as a gauge of the degree of randomness in the correlogram

The cumulative periodogram is also very useful in evaluating the residuals of a model, especially when the series may contain seasonal fluctuation. It gives you the same sort of information as a correlogram, but from the perspective of spectral analysis.

Appendix 2: Comparison of ARIMA Programs

A comparison of the results of four computer programs, all of which estimate an ARIMA model using the methods developed by Box and Jenkins (1970), was done using some of the data from the Predictability Project. The analysis compared ARIMA equations generated by MINITAB, SPSS, X-11/ARIMA, and IDA, using the same type of ARIMA model. This appendix summarizes the results of that comparison.

The purpose of this exercise was not to determine whether or not the class of ARIMA model was the best possible model for the series, but rather to determine whether, given this model class, the equations generated by the four packages were equivalent.

At the time of the comparison, the Predictability Project had identified models for 42 time series, and a sample of 10 of these was used. The main criterion for selection was complexity of ARIMA model class. Complexity was measured by the presence or absence of seasonal as well as serial terms, moving average as well as autoregressive parameters, and second order as well as first order moving average and autoregressive terms. All but one of the 10 sampled time series display some combination of autoregressive and moving average parameters; and half contain both serial and seasonal differencing.

Statistical packages tend to vary slightly with respect to the Box/Jenkins algorithm each employs. This can lead to differences in the models and in the forecasts the menerate. The purpose of this analysis was to compare the outputs of four available Box/Jenkins programs in order to uncover any of these equation differences. Therefore, the same class of ARIMA model was entered into the Box-Jenkins routine of each program.

Differences in the Structure of Output

Each statistical package is unique with respect to the structure of its output tables. The output relevant to this analysis is the estimate of each term, called the Beta value. Beta values refer to the *t* elative forecast weights assigned to each component of a given model class. Confidence intervals are a test of statistical significance that take the following form:

Beta + or - 2 standard errors of estimates

The widely accepted criterion for statistical significance is that both elements of the confidence interval possess the same sign. If this is not the case, and the 95 percent confidence interval does include zero, then there is a reasonable possibility that the parameter either makes no contribution to the forecast (i.e., the "true" Beta value is 0), or that the parameter affects the forecast in the opposite direction as had been assumed (i.e., the "true" Beta value has the opposite sign of its initial estimate). Another test of parameter significance is the T statistic. It is equivalent to the confidence interval, but takes a slightly different form:

T=Beta/Standard Error

A statistical criterion of T>2.00 is used for acceptability of the model.

The following table summarizes the differences in output of these statistics in the four programs:

Program	Statistical Test for Beta Values	Calculates <u>Constant?</u>	Statistical <u>Test for K?</u>
IDA	Confidence Interval	Yes	None
MINITAB	T Statistic	Yes	T statistic
SPSS	T Statistic	Yes	T statistic
X-11	None	No	None

Comparison of ARIMA Program Final Model Results

The Beta values and forecast results of the IDA, MINITAB, SPSS, and X-11 ARIMA Box/Jenkins subroutines were for the most part similar. However, in two of the 10 time series, IDA generated a final model that was deemed statistically acceptable, based on the criterion that no autoregressive Beta parameter exceed 1.00, while one or more of the other statistical packages yielded a final model that would have been rejected on the same criterion. Also, in each of the 10 time series at least one Beta value was generated that deviated at least 10 percent from the corresponding figure generated by IDA. In some cases, this deviation was much larger.

One area in which no wide discrepancy between programs was found, however, was in the statistical tests of standard errors. There was no case in which a Beta value generated by one program was statistically significant, but the other programs failed to find it significant.

Appendix 3: Best ARIMA Models by Jurisdiction, 1972 to 1983

	Model			regres stimat			ng Ave stimat		Auto	easona regres stimat	sive	Movi	Seasona Ing Ave Istimat	rage
Jurisdiction	(<u>p.d.a)(Sp.Sd.Sa)</u>	Mean	Low	Best	High	Low	Best	High	Low_	Best	Hiah	Low	Best	Hiap
Arlington Heights														
Robbery ^a							•							
Aggravated Assault ^a														
Burglary	(2,1,0)(0,1,1)			58 15	40 .03		ی ہے۔ ای ب س ر ایر ایر ایر					. 84	. 89	.94
Larceny/Theft	(0,1,1)(0,1,1)					.55	.68	.81				. 87	.91	.95
Aurora														
Robbery	(2,1,0)(1,0,0)			62 28					03	. 15	. 32			
Aggravated Assault	(0,1,1)(1,0,0)				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	.73	. 82	.92	.03	. 20	. 37			
Burglary	(3,1,0)(0,0,0)	۰ این ۲۰۰۰ - ۲ ۱۹۰۰ (۱۹۹۹ - ۱۹۹۹ - ۱۹۹۹ - ۱۹۹۹ - ۱۹۹۹ - ۱۹۹۹ - ۱۹۹۹ - ۱۹۹۹ - ۱۹۹۹ - ۱۹۹۹ - ۱۹۹۹ - ۱۹۹۹ - ۱۹۹۹ - ۱۹۹۹	35	05 19 12										
Larceny/Theft	(0,1,2)(0,1,1)		• • • •			. 28 . 10	. 45 . 27	.62 .44	۰ میں س ما میں دور میں مربقہ میں			. 83	.88	.94

Õ

	Model		Autoregressive Estimate				ng Ave stimat		Seasonal Autoregressive Estimate			Seasonal Moving Average Estimate		
Jurisdiction	(p.d.a)(Sp.Sd.Sa)	Mean	Low	Best	High ·	Low	Best	High	Low	Best	Hiah	Low	Best	High
<u>Cicero</u>														
Robbery	(1,0,0)(0,0,0)	11.9	02	. 15	. 32				• •					
Aggravated Assault	(0,1,1)(0,0,0)					. 40	.54	. 68	***	-				
Burglary	(0,1,1)(0,0,0)					.64	. 75	. 86						
Larceny/Theft ^b 1972-1977	(2.1,0)(1,0,0)			30 31	06 07			4	59	34	10			
1978-1983	(1,0,0)(0,1,1)		.13	. 37	.61				- - -			.66	. 80	.94
<u>Decatur</u>														
Robbery	(0,1,2)(0,0,0)					.57 .03	. 73 . 20	. 89 . 37					-	
Aggravated "Assault	(0,1,1)(0,1,1)		·			.61	. 73	. 85				.81	.87	.92
Burglary														
1972-1981 1972-1983	(0,1,1)(0,0,0) (0,1,2)(1,0,0)					. 45 . 40 . 02	.60 .57 .19	. 75 . 74 . 36	. 01	. 19	.37			
Larceny/Theft	(0,1,1)(0,1,1)					.57	.69	.82	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			. 86	91	.96
∝ <u>Des Plaines</u> Robbery ^a														
Aggravated Assault ^a														

				regres stimat			ng Ave stimat		Auto	easona regres stimat	sive	Movi	Seasona ing Ave İstimat	erage
Jurisdiction	Mode1 <u>(p.d.a)(Sp.Sd.Sa)</u>	Mean	Low	Best	High	Low	Best	High	Low	Best	High	Low	Best	Hish
<u>Des Plaines</u> (cont.)							-							
Burglary	(2,0,0)(1,0,0)	46.4	.24 .08	. 40 . 20	.57 .37		÷ –		.00	. 15	. 31			
Larceny/Theft	(2,0,0)(0,1,1)		.25 .15	.42 .31	.58 .48			۰ در <u>م</u>				.84	.89	. 94
<u>Elgin</u>														
Robbery 1975-1983	(1,0,0)(1,0,0)	6.8	, .06	. 25	.44				. 18	20	.21			
Aggravated Assault	(0,0,2)(1,0,0)	11.8				45	zero ^c 28	12	. 18	. 32	. 45			
Burglary	(0,1,1)(0,0,0)		2. 	 ,	: بال محمد بالمحمد	.51	.64	. 76						1
Larceny/Theft	(0,1,1)(0,1,1)		· · · · ·	14. 		. 54	.68	. 81			.	. 84	. 90	.90
Evanston														
Robbery	(0,1,1)(0,9,0)					.64	. 75	. 86					a a constante da con Constante da constante da constant	
Aggravated Assault	(3,0,0)(0,1,1)		.03 03 .03	.20 .14 .20	. 38 . 32 . 37		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					. 85	.91	.97
Burglary 1972-1978	(0,1,2)(0,0,0)					. 16 14	. 38	.61 .31		-				
1979-1983	(1,0,0)(0,1,1)		02	. 26	.54		.09	۱۵. 				.71	. 84	.97
Larceny/Theft	(0,1,1)(0,1,1)					. 76	. 85	.94				. 88	.92	.97

an. N

	Mødel			regres stimat			ing Ave Stimat		Auto	Seasona Sregres Estimat	sive	Movi	eason ng Ave stima	erage
Jurisdiction	(p.d.g) (Sp.Sd.Sa)	Mean	Low	Best	Hiah	Low	Best	High	Low	Best	High	Low	Best	_Hiah
Joliet														
Robbery	(0,0,2)(0,0,1)	21.5	••••••				35 27					39	22	05
Aggravated Assault	(0,1,1)(0,0,0)		÷			.31	.46	.61						
Burglary	(2,0,0)(0,0,1)	144.0	. 36	.51 .26	.67 .40		1	۰ ، ، ، ، ، ، ، ، ، ، ، ، ، ، ، ، ، ، ،		1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		44	27	10
Larceny/Theft	(0,1,2)(0,1,1)					.21 .13	. 38 . 30	.55 .47		1		. 81	. 87	.93
<u>Peoria</u> d				-		n an								
Robbery	(1,0,0)(0,1,1)		.27	.43	. 59					2 4		. 84	. 89	.94
Aggravated Assault ^e	(0,1,1)(2,0,0)					.50	.63	. 76	. 19 . 33	. 23 . 48	.47 .62			
Burglary	(0,1,2)(0,1,1)	n na				.17 .12	. 34 . 29	.51 .47		_		.82	.87	.92
Larceny/Theft	(1,1,0)(0,1,1)		66	52	37							. 79	. 85	.91
Quincy														
Robbery ^a														
Aggravated Assault	(3,0,0)(0,0,0)	6.2		.16 zero ^c .29	. 32 . 45			a di an e e a a a a a a a a a a a						

Mode1				Autoregressive Estimate			ng Ave stimat	-	Auto	Seasona pregres Estimat	sive	Movi	Seasonal Moving Average Estimate		
Jurisdiction	Model (p.d.a)(Sp.Sd.Sa)	Mean	Low	Best	High	Low	Best	High	Low	Best	High	Low	Best	High	
Quincy (cont.)															
Burglary	(0,1,1)(0,0,1)		· · · ·			.44	.58	. 72	- -	- 		30	13	. 04	
Larceny/Theft	(0,1,1)(2,0,0)		-			. 50	.63	. 76	. 09 . 18	. 25 . 34	.40 .50				
Rockford															
Robbery	(2,0,0)(0,1,1)		. 14 . 22	. 31 . 39	.48 .56						<u></u>	. 83	. 88	.93	
Aggravated Assault	(0,1,1)(0,1,1)			ہ ی ہ ہ رہ ک		. 59	.71	. 85				.81	. 87	.92	
Burglary	(0,1,1)(1,0,0)			·		. 36	.51	.66	.47	. 60	. 73			1	
Larceny/Theft	(0,1,2)(0,1,1)			- -		.28 .03	. 46 .21	.64 .39				. 83	. 89	.94	
Rock Island		enta Regionente Antonio de	tin star National Star												
Robbery	(0,1,1)(0,0,0)					. 71	.81	.91	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		سو سو د				
Aggravated Assault															
1972-1981 1972-1983	(0,1,1)(0,0,0) (0,1,1)(0,0,1)	an an <mark>ma</mark> na an a				.63 .60	. 76 . 71	.87 .83				30	- 13	.05	
Burglary 1972-1978	(0,1,2)(0,0,1)	ana articlas Articlas Articla <mark>⇔</mark> articlas Articlas			•	.08	. 29 . 38	.50 .59		- - -		32	08	.16	
1979-1983	(0,1,1)(0,0,0)		1000 - 1000 - 1000 - 1000 - 1000 - 1000 - 1000 - 1000			. 20	. 30	. 66	· · · · ·						
Larceny/Theft	(2,0,0)(0,1,1)		. 25 . 04	.43 .21	.60 .38					بر مرتبع (مربع المربع الم مربع (مربع المربع ا		. 86	.91	.96	

			Autoregressiv Estimate			Moving Average Estimate			Auto	Seasona pregres Stimat	sive	Seasonal Moving Average Estimate		
Jurisdiction	Model (p.d.a)(Sp.Sd.Sa)	Mean	Low	Best	High	Low	Best	High	Low	Best	High	Low	Best High	
<u>Skokie</u>					د ایند در در ۲۰۰۰ ۱۹۰۱ د ا									
Robbery ^a						•								
Aggravated Assault ^a														
Burglary	(1,0,0)(0,1,1)	1.6	.23	. 39	.55				· · · · ·			. 84	.90 .95	
Larceny/Theft	(3,1,0)(0,1,1)			66 51 37				· · · ·				. 84	.90 .96	
Springfield						•								
Robbery	(1,0,0)(1,0,0)	22.7	.24	. 40	. 56				. 05	. 20	. 35	1 17,22 17,22		
Aggravated Assault ^e	(2,1,0)(2,0,0)			57 29					. 04 . 34	. 19 . 49	. 34 . 65			
Burglary	(0,1,2)(0,0,0)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				. 28 . 19	. 44 . 35	.60 .51						
Larceny/Theft	(1,0,0)(1,1,0)		.62	.74	. 86				73	66	58			

^aNot analyzed due to low numbers (see Table B).

^bIn Cicero, the number of crimes known to the police in November 1977 was extremely low relative to other Novembers. This was true for every Index crime. For Index larceny/theft, there were eight in November 1977, but an average of 85 in all other Novembers. The other 11 months of 1977 averaged 69. This led us to suspect the accuracy of the November 1977 figure, but we were unable to obtain additional information from Department of State Police. Therefore, in the analysis in this report, 85 is used for November 1977.

CMA(1) parameter crossed zero in Elgin, and MA(1) was set to zero in the final model. In Ouncy, the same thing happened with the AR(2) parameter.

^dData for August 1979 are missing, and the figure for September 1979 was about twice ¹ high as other Septembers. This was true for every index crime. For this analysis, one half of the September figure was used for August and September.

^eUpdated figures obtained from the Department of State Police.

Appendix 4: Imputation of Data in the Uniform Crime Reports

The method used in the Chicago Intervention Analysis can be considered an alternative to the Federal Bureau of Investigation's method of estimating percent change from year to year in situations in which a change in recording practices occurred.¹⁰³ The method of estimation used in the Chicago Intervention Analysis differs from the method used by the FBI in their Uniform Crime Reports (UCR) in two important ways. First, in the Chicago Intervention Analysis, individual categories of crime are estimated, not Index crime aggregate totals. Second, rather than assuming that Chicago patterns are the same as patterns in the nation as a whole, the Chicago Intervention Analysis method uses the past experience in the city itself to estimate the percent change from year to year.

Because published FBI/UCR statistics are meant to be total counts of all crimes in the United States, not an estimate based on statistical sampling techniques, the issue of how to estimate national and state totals, when certain agencies within the nation or state might not have reported in a given month or year, has been a problem since the UCR began more than fifty years ago. Without a statistical sample, the proper estimation technique is neither automatic nor immediately apparent.

Fortunately, the problem of incomplete reporting has diminished over the years, as the number of reporting agencies has increased to more than 90 percent (Schneider and Wiersema, 1985). However, as the analysis of reported offenses over time in the Predictability Study indicated, it may be relatively common for a law enforcement jurisdiction to suddenly improve the completeness and accuracy of its reporting of criminal offenses. When this occurs, the comparison of offense totals from year to year becomes problematic. This appendix reviews the method the FBI uses to impute, or estimate, offense totals in such situations.

Estimation of UCR Data

Over the years, many large cities have had discontinuous breaks in data collection. Either some months were not reported at all, as in New York City homicide in 1976 (Fox and Pierce, 1986), or there was a major change in data recording practices, as in Chicago. Cities that have had a substantial increase in reported offenses, due to improved data collection practices, are the following:¹⁰⁴

¹⁰³We appreciate the assistance of Louise S. Miller in compiling information in this section. ¹⁰⁴Sources: *Uniform Crime Reports*, **1959–1983**, and Zimring and Frase (1980).

Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

Page 159

<u>Citv</u>	Years	Increase
Baltimore	1964, 1965	40.5%
Buffalo	1961, 1963	94 7
Chicago	1959, 1960	71 9
Chicago		32.8
Cleveland	1963, 1964	63.0
Indianapolis	1961, 1962	47.3
Kansas City, MO	1959, 1961	202.0
Las Vegas	1972, 1973	248.0
Memphis	1963, 1964	
Memphis	1972, 1973	47.5
Miami		26.6
Nashville	1962, 1963	41.7
Nashville	1974, 1975	22.3
Seattle	1972, 1973	55.1
Springfield, IL	1972, 1973	155.1
Shreveport, LA	1962, 1963	46.7
Syracuse	1963, 1964	34.5
Tucson	1973, 1974	35.6

Method Used to Estimate UCR Data

In Crime in the United States: 1983, tables 2 and 3, estimated 1982 Chicago statistics are included in total regional, state, and national figures. However, the reported, not the estimated, 1982 statistics are presented in Table 5, in which Chicago is individually listed. In Crime in the United States: 1984, the year 1983 was similarly estimated, but again, these estimated figures were presented only in tables giving regional, state, or national totals for two years. In other words, the FBI estimates are used only to calculate aggregate regional, state, or national totals, not to describe levels of crime in Chicago, but only to describe change from year to year in Chicago.

The goal of the FBI/UCR estimation (imputation) method is not to estimate the number of offenses in a given year in a given non-reporting or inaccurately reporting city, but rather to estimate the percent change from year to year in total national or state figures that include the given city. The most important motive of UCR estimation is to provide data users an accurate view of the increasing or decreasing pattern of a crime over time. The method of doing this has changed little since UCR data collection began, and is described in *Crime in the United States*: 1984.

Estimates ..., have been adjusted due to a 1983 change in reporting practices in Chicago, Illinois. Prior procedures were determined not to be in accordance with established UCR standards, and it was necessary that earlier statistics for Chicago be adjusted through estimation procedures. Crime Index figures for that city were deducted from each year's United States total and revised figures were established as if no reports were received. Those crime volumes were then reincorporated to establish new national estimates.

Paul Zolbe, former chief of the FBI Uniform Crime Reporting Program, used the following example to clarify the estimation procedure (Zolbe, 1984). For index aggravated assault, estimated 1982 data were obtained as follows:

fì

Year	Nation	Chicago	Nation minus	Chicago
1983	639,807	13,330	626,477	
1982	650,042	8,317	641,725	

The figure officially reported by Chicago in 1982 (8,317) was replaced by an estimate of 13,654. This estimate was calculated by the following formula:

$$13,330 \times \frac{641,725}{626,477} = 13,654$$

Thus, according to this estimate, the number of Index aggravated assaults known to the police in Chicago declined 2.4 percent between 1982 and 1983 (from 13,654 in 1982 to 13,330 in 1983).

The Effect of Estimation in Chicago

The FBI's estimation procedure assumes that the 1982–1983 change in Chicago is nearly the same as the change in the rest of the United States. The percentage change between the 1982 estimate and the 1983 number of crimes known to the police in Chicago, for each index crime except murder, is given below:¹⁰⁵

		1982-1983 Percentage Change	
			United States
Inc	<u>lex Crime</u>	Chicago	except Chicago
Inc	dex forcible rape	-0.04%	+0.03%
	lex robbery	-8.40%	-8.42%
Inc	iex aggravated assault	-2.40%	-2.42%
Inc	fex burglary	-9.20%	-9.20%
Inc	dex larceny/theft	-6.00%	-6.02%
Inc	lex motor vehicle theft	-5.10%	-5.12%

The FBI's assumption, of course, does not take into account the possibility that crime trends in a city with the characteristics of Chicago may not be the same as crime trends in the country as a whole. This problem has been noted by researchers such as Schneider and Wiersema (1985:22):

[I]mputation based on crimes known to police on other jurisdictions depends on the number and type of comparable agencies that submit complete reports.

The President's Commission on Law Enforcement and Administration of Justice reached the same conclusion in 1967. The Commission's report, *The Challenge of Crime in a Free Society*, reviewed the method of estimating crime totals in cases in which a city had changed its crime reporting procedures, using Chicago and New York City as specific examples. The conclusion of the Commission was the following:

Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

¹⁰⁵Because Index murder figures were assumed to be accurate, the FBI did not estimate them.

This system is perhaps as good as can be devised. It is obviously very hard, however, to estimate how much crime would have been reported in a major city in the year prior to that in which the system of reporting was changed, and even harder to say what the crime rate was five years earlier... The real question is not the method of estimation, but whether the yardstick at the present time is too changeable to all a significant trend comparisons to be made at the national level.

In this report (see "Estimated Actual Change in Robbery and Assault," page 139), a method that does not depend on this yardstick assumption is used to estimate change in Index robbery and Index aggravated assault in Chicago. These estimates for individual types of crime were quite different from the estimates made by the FBI.

Bibliography

Bates, Samuel

1987 Users Manual for Descriptive Time Series Analysis Programs. Statistical Analysis Center, Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority.

Block, Carolyn Rebecca

- 1983 Guide to Pattern Description. Statistical Analysis Center, Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority.
- 1984a *Is Crime Seasonal?* Statistical Analysis Center, Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority.
- 1984b How to Handle Seasonality. Statistical Analysis Center, Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority.

Block, Carolyn Rebecca and Richard L. Block

1984 Crime definition, crime measurement, and victim surveys. *Journal of Social Issues* 40(1):137-159.

Block, Richard and Carolyn R. Block

1980 Decisions and Data: The Transformation of Robbery Incidents into Official Robbery Statistics. Statistical Analysis Center, Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority. Also published in Journal of Criminal Law & Criminology 71(1980):622-630.

Box, George E.P. and Gwilym M. Jenkins 1970 *Time Series Analysis: Forecasting and Control*. San Francisco: Holden-Day.

Box, George E.P. and David A. Pierce

1970 Distribution of residual autocorrelations in auto-regressive integrated moving average time series models. *Journal of the American Statistical Association* 65(332):509-526.

Campbell, Donald T. and J.C. Stanley

1966 Experimental and Quasi-Experimental Designs for Research. Chicago: Rand McNally.

Chicago Police Department

1983 Detective: Division Crime Reporting Practices. Auditing and Internal Control Division, Bureau of Administrative Services.

Coldren, James R.

1980 Aggregation Problems in the Analysis of Illinois Statewide Criminal Justice Data. Statistical Analysis Center, Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority.

Cook, Philip J.

1985 Is robbery becoming more violent? An analysis of robbery murder trends since 1968. The Journal of Criminal Law & Criminology 76(2):480-489.

Cook, T.D. and Donald T. Campbell

1979 **Quasi-Experimentation:** Design and Analysis Issues for Field Settings. Chicago: Rand McNally.

Cooprider, Keith

1984 A Descriptive Analysis of Crime in Quincy, Illinois. Statistical Analysis Center, IIlinois Criminal Justice Information Authority.

Dagum, Estela Bee

- 1979 The X-11-ARIMA Seasonal Adjustment Method--Outline of the Methodology. Statistics Canada #12-564E.
- 1981 Diagnostic checks for the ARIMA models of the X-11/ARIMA seasonal adjustment method. Pages 133-145 in O.D. Anderson & M.R. Perryman, editors, *Time Series Analysis*. North-Holland Publishing Company.

Durbin, James

1960 The fitting of time-series models. International Review of Statistics 28(3):233-243.

Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI)

1983 Crime in the United States. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Justice, Federal Bureau of Investigation.

Fox, James Alan and Glenn L. Pierce

1986 Supplementary Homicide Reports, 1976-1983. Final Report to the Bureau of Justice Statistics, Part II. Grant Number 84-BJ-CX-00(3).

Hoff, John C.

1983 Practical Guide to Box-Jenkins Forecasting. Belmont, California: Lifetime Learning Publications.

Kallek, Shirley

1978 An overview of the objectives and framework of seasonal adjustment. Pages 3-25 in Arnold Zellner, editor, Seasonal Analysis of Economic Time Series. U.S. Bureau of the Census.

Makridakis, S., A Anderson, R. Carbone, R. Fildes, M. Hibon, R. Lewandowski, J. Newton, E. Parzen, and R. Winkler

1984 The Forecasting Accuracy of Major Time Series Methods. New York: John Wiley & Sons.

McCleary, Richard, Barbara C. Nienstedt, and James M. Erven

1982 Uniform crime reports as organizational outcomes: three time series experiments. Social Problems 29(4):361-372.

McCleary, Richard, and Richard A. Hay, Jr.

1980 Applied Time Series Analysis for the Social Sciences. Beverly Hills, California: Sage.

Miller, Louise S., Carolyn Rebecca Block, and Larry V. Dykstra

1982 Illinois Crime Trends: 1972-1981. Statistical Analysis Center, Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority.

Miller, Louise S. and Carolyn Rebecca Block

1985 Introduction to Illinois Uniform Crime Reports. Statistical Analysis Center, Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority.

SC.

Nelson, Charles R.

1973 Applied Time Series Analysis. San Francisco: Holden-Day, Inc.

Pierce, David A.

1980 A survey of recent developments in seasonal adjustment. The American Statistician 34(August,3):125-134.

Plewes, Tom

1977 Criteria for Judging the Accuracy of a Seasonal Adjustment. Technical paper, U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, Washington, D.C.

Roberts, Harry V.

1984 Time Series and Forecasting with IDA. New York: The Scientific Press/McGraw-Hill.

Schneider, Vicki and Brian Wiersema.

1985 Estimating crime: the impact of imputation in the uniform crime reports. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Society of Criminology.

Shiskin, Julius, Allan H. Young, and John C. Musgrave

1967 The X-11 Variant of the Census Method II Seasonal Adjustment Program. U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census. Reprinted 1976.

Zimring, Franklin E. and Richard S. Frase

1980 The Criminal Justice System: Materials on the Administration and Reform of the Criminal Law. Boston and Toronto: Little, Brown and Company.

Zolbe, Paul A.

1984 Letter to Fred Rice, Superintendent of Police, Chicago Police Department, July 6, 1984.